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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Board of Directors
Cinbank, N A

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets of Citibank, N A and subsidiaries (the Company) as of
December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the related consohidated
statements of Income, changes in stockholder’s equity, and
cash flows for the years then ended These consolidated
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management Our responsibility is to express an opinien on
these consolidated financial statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financtal
statements are free of material misstatement An audnt
includes examiming, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
sigmficant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opmion

1

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred
to above present fairly, 1n all material respects, the financial
posiuon of Citibank, N A and subsicharies as of December 31,
2011 and 2010, and the results of their operations and their
cash flows for the years then ended 1n conformity with U 8
generally accepted accounting principles

As discussed 1n Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, 1n 2010 the Company changed tts method of
accounting for quahfying special purpose entities, variable
interest entities and embedded credit derivatives

We also have examined 1n accordance with attestation
standards established by the American Insutute of Certified
Public Accountants, management’s assertion that the
Company mamtaned effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2011, based on critena
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework i1ssued
by the Commuttee of Sponsoring Orgamzations of the
Treadway Commuission (COSO) and our report dated March
23, 2012 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s
assertion that the Company maintained effective internal
control over financial reporting

KPMe LIP

New York, New York
March 23, 2012
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME
Year ended December 31

In millions of doitars 2011 2010
Revenues
Interest revenue §54,294 $58,135
Interest expense 12,529 13,212
Net interest revenue §41,765 $44,923
Commussions and fees $11,341 $11,564
Principal transactions 5,777 4,815
Realized gains (losses) on sales of investments (500) 1,862
Other than temporary impairment losses on mnvestments

Gross impairment losses (1,913) (1,282)

Less Impairments recognized in AQCI 154 70

Net impairment losses recogmzed in earnings § (1,759) $(1,212)
Other revenue 229 810
Total non-interest revenues §$15,088 $17.839
Total revenues, net of tnterest expense $56,853 $62,762
Provisions for credit losses and for benefits and claims
Provision for loan losses $ 9,623 $21,225
Policyholder benefits and claims 95 77
Provision (release) for unfunded lending commitments 93 (101)
Total provisions for credit losses and for benefits and claims § 9,811 $21,201
QOperating expenses
Compensation and benefits 15,065 §13,612
Premuses and equipment 2,304 2,226
Other operating 16,368 14,643
T'otal operating expenses $33,737 $30,481
Income from continuing operanons before Income taxes $13,305 $11,080
Provision for income taxes 2,914 2,285
Income from continuing operations $10,391 $ 8,795
Discontinued operations
Income from discentinued eperations § 23 $ 79
Gain (loss) on sale 294 (810)
Proviston (benefit) for income laxes 11§ (395)
Income {loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes $ 202 3 (336)
Net income before attribution of noncontrolling wnterests $10,593 $ 8459
Net income atiributable to noncontrolling interests 84 35
Net income attnibutable to Cittbank $10,509 § 8424

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Siatements
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

December 31,

In nultions of dollars, except shares and per share amounts 2011 2010
Assets
Cash and due from banks § 24,498 $ 22,872
Deposits with banks 143,524 145,287
Federal funds sold and secunities borrowed or purchased under agreements to resell 74,737 43,306
Trading account assets (including $861 and 31,006 pledged to crediors at December 31,2011 and 2010,

respectively} 157,962 149,359
Investments (including $5,475 and $5,275 pledged to creditors at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respecuvely, and

$201,254 and $220,998 at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, at fair value) 215,289 253,477
Loans, net of uncamed income (including $5,156 and $4,209 at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively,

at fair value) 581,676 567,200
Allowance for loan losses _{24,695) (33,036)
Total loans, net § 556,981 $ 534,164
Goodwll 11,485 11,642
Intangible assets 7,909 10,663
Interest and fees receivable 4,877 5,263
Other assets (including $7,483 and $10,537 at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, at fair value) 91,396 99,086
Total assets $1,288,658 51,275,119

The following table presents certain assets of consolidated variable interest entities (VI1Es), which are included in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet above The assets in the table below inciude only those assets that can be used to settle obliganions of
consohdated VIEs on the following page and are 1n excess of those obligations Additionally, the assets in the table below include
third-party assets of consclidated VIEs only, and exclude intercompany balances that eliminate in conselidation

December 31,

In milhons of doilars 2011 2010
Assets of consohidated VIEs that can only be used to settle obligations of consolidated VIEs
Cash and due from banks § 185 $ 557
Trading account assets 298 926
Investments 10,498 7,984
Loans, net of unearned income

Consumer (including $1,292 and $1,718 at December 31, 2011 and 2019, respecuvely, at fair value) 96,847 111,997

Corporate {inctuding $118 and $290 at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, at fair value) 23,131 22 666
Loans, net of unearned income $119,978 $134,663

Allowance for loan losses (7,7132) (12,102
Total loans, net $112,246 $122 561
Other assets 364 468
Total assets of consolidated VIEs that can only be used to settle obhgations of consolidated VIEs $123 591 $132,496

Statement continues on the next page
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

{Continued)

December 31,
In ruillions of dollars, except shares and per share amounts 2011 2010
Liabilities
Non-interest-bearing deposits in U § offices $ 129,106 3 86,686
interest-bearing deposis in U S offices 223,948 219,793
Non-interest-bearing deposits 1n ofTices outside the U S 51,346 48,873
Interest-beaning deposits n offices outside the U § 475,264 488,510
Total deposits (including $1,327 and 51,264 as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, at fair value) $ 879,664 3 843,862
Trading account habilities 64,941 55,593
Federal funds purchased and secunities loaned or sold under agreements to repurchase 28,017 12,785
Short-term borrewings (including $92 and $117 at December 31, 201 1 and 2010, respectively, at fair value) 34,119 40,239
Long-term debt (including $3,145 and $4,598 as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, at fair value) 78,581 117,179
Accrued taxes and other expenses 8,362 10,018
Other habilities (including $2,530 and $7,016 as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, at fair value) 42,625 43,794
Total habilities $1,136,309 51,123,470
Ciibank stockholder's equity
Caputal stock ($20 par value, 1ssued and outstanding shares 37,534,553 in each peniod) ] 751§ 751
Surplus 131,579 137,287
Retained earnings 22,635 22,929
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (9,210) (10,188)
Total Citibank stockholder’s equity $ 151,755 § 150,779
Noncentrolling nterest 594 870
Total equity § 152,349 $ 151,649
Total habihties and equity 51,288,658 §1,275,119

The following table presents certain liabthties of consolidated VIEs, which are included in the Consolidated Balance Sheet above

The liabihities in the table below include third-party habilities of consolidated VIEs only, and exclude intercompany balances that
eliminate 1n consolidation The liabilities also exclude amounts where creditors or beneficial interest holders have recourse 1o the

general credit of Citibank

December 31,

In mullions of dollars 2011 2010
Liabilities of consolidated VIEs for which ereditors or beneficial interest holders

do not have recourse to the general credit of Citibank
Short-term borrowings $20,273 $21,153
Long-term debt (including $1,342 and $1,870 at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, at fair valug) 46,511 62,902
Other Liabilities 345 229
Total habilities of consolidated VIEs for which creditors or beneficial interest holders do not

have recourse to the general credit of Citibank $67,129 $84,284

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDER’S EQUITY

Year ended December 31

In milhions of doflars_except shares 2011 2010
Common stock ($20 par value)
Balance, beginning of year—shares 37,534,553 1n 2011 and 2010 b 751 S 751
Balance, end of year—shares

37,534,553 1n 2011 and 2010 $ 751 $ 751
Surplus
Balance, beginning of year $137,287 $127,959
Capual conmbution from parent company — 8,658
Employee benefit plans 316 679
Other " (24) (9
Balance, end of year $137,579 $137,287
Retained earnmings
Balance, beginning of year $ 22,929 $ 22,820
Adjustment 1o opening balance, net of taxes @ — (8,322)
Adjusted balance, beginming of year § 22,929 $ 14,498
Citibank’s net income 10,509 8,424
Dhividends paid (10,900) —
Othert® 97 7
Balance, end of year $ 22,635 $ 22929
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Balance, beginning of year $(10,188) $(11,603)
Net change 1n unreahized gains on investment securities, net of taxes 3,560 1,162
Net change in foreign currency translation adjustment, net of taxes (2,175) 29
Net change in cash flow hedges, net of taxes (266) 518
Pension hiability adjustment, net of taxes (141) (294)
Net change in Accumulated other comprehensive income 5 978 $ 1415
Balance, end of vear $ (9,210 $(10,188)
Total Citibank stockholder's equuty $151,755 $150,779
Noncontrolling interests
Balance, beginning of year s 870 $ 1,294
Ongnation of a noncentrolling interest 1 (73)
Transactions between Citibank and the noncontrolling interest shareholder — (n
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest shareholders 84 35
Dividends paid to noncontrolling interest shareholders (67) (40)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss}—Net change in unrealized gams and losses on

mvestment securnties, net of tax (5) 1
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)—Net change in FX translation adjustment, net of tax (87) 27N
All other (202) 319
Net change in noncontrolling interest 5 (276) § (424
Balance, end of year 5 594 $ 870
Total equity $152,349 $151,649
Comprehensive income
Net tncome before attribution of noncontrolling interest $ 10,593 $ 8459
Net change 1n Accumulated other comprehensive income before attnbution of noncontrolling nterest 886 1,189
Total comprehensive income $ 11,479 $ 9848
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to the noncontrolling interest (8) 9
Comprehensive income attributable to Citibank $ 11,487 $ 9839

{1} Pnmarnly represents the accounting for the transfers of assets and habilities between Citibank, N A and other affihates under the commen control of Citrgroup

{2} The adjustment to the opening balance for Retamned earnngs tn 2010 represents the cumulative effect of imnally adopting ASC 810, Consolidanion (SFAS 167)
and ASU 2010-11, Scope Exception Related to Embedded Credit Denivatives See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

{3} Balance in 2010 pnimanly represents a reversal of dividends accrued on forfeitutes of previously 1ssued but unvested employee awards of Citigroup common

stock related to employees who have left Citibank

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended December 31,

in multions of dollars 2011 2010
Cash flows from operating activiies of continuing operations
Net income before attribution of nencontrolhing interests $ 10,593 £ 8459
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 84 35
Citibank’s net income $ 10,509 $ 8424
Income from discontinued operations, net of taxes 18 71
Gamn (loss) on sale, net of taxes 184 (407
income from continuing operations — excluding noncontrolling interests $ 10,307 § 8760
Ad)justments to reconcile net income to net cash used in
operating activities of continuing operations— excluding noncontrolling interests
Depreciation and amortization $ 1,606 $ 1,959
Deferred tax benefit 416 s
Provision for credit losses 9,716 21,124
Change 1n trading account assets (8,603) 6,649
Change 1n trading account Labilities 9,348 6,000
Change in federal funds sold and secunities borrowed
or purchased under agreements to resell (31,431) (1,184)
Purchased funds and other borrowtngs 9,112 (44,004)
Realized (gauwns) losses from sales of investments 500 (1,862)
Change mn loans held-for-sale 595 3,265
Other, net (15,599) (9,872)
Total adjustments $ (24,340) $ (17,982)
Net cash used 1n operating activities of continuing operations— excluding noncontrolling interests $ (14,033) 3 (5,222
Cash flows from investing activities of continuing operations
Change 1n deposits with banks § 1,763 $ 83823
Change n loans (22,371) 15,819
Proceeds from sales and secuntizations of loans 9,452 9,135
Purchases of investments (229,912) (356,894)
Proceeds from sales of investments 136,674 154,507
Proceeds from maturities of investments 114,937 170,203
Capital expenditures on premises and equipment and capitalized sefiware (2,286) (1,493)
Proceeds from sales of premuses and equipment, subsidiaries and affihates,
and repossessed assels 574 872
Net cash provided by investing activities of continuing operations S 8,831 ) 972
Cash flows from financing activities of continuing operations
Caprtal contributions from parent company s — $ 8658
Net change i long-term debt (33,323) (21,675)
Change in deposits 38,692 21,922
Net cash provided financing activities of continuing operations § 5369 $ 8905
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents § (1,210) 3 614
Net cash provided by discontinued operations $2,669 $163
Change in cash and due from banks §1,626 § 14312
Cash and due from banks at beginning of vear 22,872 21,440
Cash and due from banks at end of year § 24,498 § 22872
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information for continuing operations
Cash paid during the peniod for income taxes § 2,256 $ 1427
Cash paid dunng the pentod for interest $ 8,480 § 10,250
Non-cash investing activities
Transfers to repossessed assets 5§ 510 $ 954
Transfers to trading account assets from investments $ 8,200 $ 6,964

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 ORGANIZATION
Citibank, N A (Citibank, N A and, together with its
consolidated subsidiaries, Citibank or the Company) 1s a
direct, wholly owned subsidiary of Citicorp, which 1s a direct,
wholly owned subsidiary of Citigroup Inc, a Delaware
corporation and a financial holding company under the Bank
Holding Company Act {(Citigroup) Citibank was originally
organized on June 16, 1812, and 1s currently a national
banking asscciation orgamzed under the National Bank Act of
1864 Citibank’s principal offerings include consumer finance,
mortgage lending, retail banking products and services, credit
cards, subsidianies and affihates, mvestment banking,
commercial banking, cash management, trade finance and e-
commerce products and services, and private banking products
and services throughout the world

The Company 1s subject to regulation and examination
primarily by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency
(OCC) and also by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
(FDIC) and the Federal Reserve Board (FRB) The foreign
branch representative offices and subsidianes of Citibank are
subject to regulation and examination by-their respective
foreign financial regulators as well as by the OCC and the
FRB

These financial statements and footnotes have been
prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP) in the Unuted States

Additional information about Citibank and Citigroup 1s
available in Citigroup’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2011, filed with the U 8§ Secunties
and Exchange Commuission on February 24, 2012

Merger of Citibank, N A. and Citibank (South Dakota),
N A.
On July 1, 2011, Ciubank, N A completed 1ts merger with
Citibank {(South Dakota) N A , wath Citibank N A as the
surviving entity  The primary reasons for the merger inciude
streamlining management and governance of legal entities,
more efficiently managing hiquidity and capital, streamhining
of costs and simplifying operations and technology Citibank,
N A accounted for the merger in a manner similar to the
“pooling of interests” method  As such, all periods have been
restated to include Citibank (South Dakota) N A 1n all
disclosures

Ciubank (South Dakota) constituted approximately $2 0
billion of Total Citibank consolidated net income for the year
ended December 31, 2010 and approximately $126 billion of
Total Crtibank consolhidated assets at December 31, 2010

?
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SELECTED PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Citibank, N A

Department Steres Citthaok (Chuna) Cwibank Overseas Citicorp USA, lnc. CinMortgage, lac
National Bank Co, Ltd Investment
Corporation
Citibank Berhad Bank Handlowy w Citibank Korea Citibank Japan, Citibank Europe Citibank
(Malaysia) Warszawie Inc — Lud plc — Investments  |—
(Poland} (Ireland) Limted (UK )
Citibank Canada Citigroup Pty Cititbank Citigroup Global Citibank Tarwan Citibank
Limited Singapore Limited |— Markets Ltd — International ple |—
(Australia) Deutschland {UK.)
Citibank Espafa Citibank- Banco Citibank Cittbank Hong Citibank Anomim Future Mortgages
Colombia S.A. SA — Kaong Limted Surket: — Limited ]
(Brazil) (Turkey) (UK.}
Bance Citibank ZAO Citibank Citibank Belgium Banco Citicard
de El Salvador, {Russia} SA — SA
SA {Brazil)

Some mtermediate helding companies are not shown above
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation
The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of
Citibank, N A and 1ts subsidiaries The Company consolidates
subsidiaries in which it holds, directly or indirectly, more than
50% of the voting nghts or where 1t exercises control Entities
where the Company holds 20% to 50% of the voting rights
and/or has the ability to exercise significant influence are
accounted for under the equity method, and the pre rata share of
their income (loss) 15 included in Other revenue Income from
mvestments in less than 20%-owned companies 1s recogmzed
when dividends are received As discussed below, Citibank
consolidates entities deemed to be variable interest entities when
Citibank 1s determined to be the primary beneficiary Gamns and
losses on the disposition of branches, subsidiaries, affiliates,
bu:ldings, and other investments are included in Qther revenue
Certamn reclassificanons have been made to the prior-year’s
financial statements and notes to conform to the current year’s
presentation

Variable Interest Entities
An entity 1s referred to as a vanable interest entity (VIE) 1f 1t
meets the criteria outlined 1n ASC 810, Consoltdation (formerly
SFAS No 167, Amendments to FASB Interpretation No 46(R))
(SFAS 167), which are (1) the entity has equity that 15
insufficient to permit the entity to finance its activities without
additional subordinated financial support from other parues, or
(2) the entity has equity investors that cannot make significant
decisions about the entity’s operations or that do not absorb
their proportionate share of the entity’s expected losses or
expected returns

As of January 1, 2010, when the Company adopted SFAS
167’s amendments to the VIE consolidation guidance, the
Company consolidates a VIE when 1t has both the power to
direct the activaties that most significantly impact the VIE’s
economic success and a right to recerve benefits or absorb losses
of the entity that could be potentially significant to the VIE (that
15, 1t 15 the pnimary beneficiary)

Along with the VIEs that are consolidated in accordance
with these gurdelines, the Company has variable interests in
other VIEs that are not consolidated because the Company 1s not
the primary beneficiary These include multi-seller finance
companies, certain collateralized debt obligations (CDOs) and
many structured finance transactions

However, these VIEs as well as all other unconsclidated
VIEs are continually momitored by the Company to determine 1f
any events have occurred that could cause its primary
beneficiary status to change These events tnclude

¢ additional purchases or sales of variable interests by
Citibank or an unrelated third party, which cause Citibank’s
overall vanable imterest ownership to change,

e changes in contractual arrangements 1n a manner that
reallocates expected losses and residual returns among the
variable interest holders,

s changes in the party that has power to direct activities of a
VIE that most significantly impact the entity’s economic
performance, and

¢ providing support to an entity that results in an imphcit
varrable interest

All other entities not deemed to be VIEs with which the
Company has involvement are evaluated for consolidation under
other subtopics of ASC 810 (formerly Accounting Research
Bulletin (ARB) No 51, Consolidated Financial Statements,
SFAS No 94, Consolidation of All Majority-Owned
Substdiaries, and EITF [ssue No 04-5, “Determining Whether a
General Pariner, or the General Partners as a Group, Controls a
Limuted Partnership or Similar Entity When the Limuted
Partners Have Certain Rights™)

Foreign Currency Translation
Assets and habilities of foreign operations are translated from
thewr respective functional currencies into U 8 dollars using
pericd-end spot foreign-exchange rates The effects of those
translation adjustments are reported 1n a separate component of
stockholder’s equity, along with related hedge and tax effects,
until realized upon sale or hquidation of the foreign operation
Revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated
monthly from therr respective functional currencies into U S
dollars at amounts that approximate weighted average exchange
rates

For transactions whose terms are denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency, including transactions
denominated in the local currencies of foreign operations with
the U S dollar as their functional currency, the effects of
changes in exchange rates are primarity included in Principal
transactions, along with the related hedge effects Instruments
used 1o hedge foreign currency exposures include foreign
currency forward, option and swap contracts and designated
1ssues of non-U S dollar debt Foreign operations in countries
with hughly inflationary economies designate the U § dollar as
their functional currency, with the effects of changes in
exchange rates primarily included in Other revenue
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Investment Securities
Investments include fixed income and equity securities Fixed
income instruments 1nclude bonds, notes and redeemable
preferred stocks, as well as certain loan-backed and structured
securities that are subject to prepayment nsk Equity securities
include common and nonredeemable preferred stock
Investment securities are classified and accounted for as
follows

*  Fixed income secunities classified as “held-to-maturity”
represent securtties that the Company has both the ability
and the 1ntent to hold unul matunty, and are carmed at
amortized cost Interest income on such securities is
included in Interest revenue

¢ Fixed income securities and marketable equity secunities
classified as “available-for-sale” are carnied at fair value
with changes in fair value reported in a separate component
of Stockholder 's equity, net of applicable income taxes As
described in more detall in Note 12 1o the Consolidated
Fimancial Statements, credit-related dechines in fair value
that are determined to be other-than-temporary are
recorded 1in earnings :immediately Realized gains and
losses on sales are mcluded in income primarily on a
spectfic identification cost basis Interest and dividend
income on such secunities 1s included 1n /nterest revenue

e  Certain non-marketable equity securities are carried at cost
and periodically assessed for other-than-temporary
impairment, as set out in Note 12 to the Consolidated
Financial Statemenis

For investments in fixed income securities classtfied as
held-to-maturity or avaniable-for-sale, acerual of interest income
1s suspended for Investments that are wn default or on which 1t 15
hkely that future interest payments will not be made as
scheduled

The Company uses a number of valuation techniques for
investments carried at fair value, which are described in Note 22
to the Consohdated Financial Statements Realized gains and
losses on sales of investments are included in income
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Trading Account Assets and Liabilities

Trading account assets include debt and marketable equity
securilies, derivatives in a receivable position, residual interests
n securitizattons and physical commodities inventory In
addition (as described 1n Note 23 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements), certain assets that Citibank has elected to carry at
fair value under the fair value option, such as loans and
purchased guarantees, are also included 1n Trading account
assels

Trading account labilities include securities sold, not yet
purchased (short positions), and derivatives in a net payable
posttion, as well as certain halhlities that Citibank has elected to
carry at fair value (as described 1in Note 23 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements)

Other than physical commodities inventory, all trading
account assets and lLiabilities are carried at fair value Revenues
generated from trading assets and trading hiabilities are
generally reported in Principal transactions and inctude realized
gamns and losses as well as unrealized gains and losses resulting
from changes 1n the fair value of such instruments Interest
income on trading assets 1s recorded 1n [nterest revenue,
reduced by interest expense on trading liabilities

Physical commodities inventory 1s carred at the lower of
cost or market with related losses reported in Principal
transactions Realized gains and losses on sales of commodities
inventory are included in Principal transactions

Dervatives used for trading purposes include interest rate,
currency, equity, credit, and commodity swap agreements,
options, caps and floors, warrants, and financial and commodity
futures and forward contracts Derivative asset and hability
positions are presented net by counterparty on the Consolidated
Balance Sheet when a valid master netting agreement exists and
the other conditions set out tn ASC 210-20, Balance Sheet—
Offsetiing are met

The Company uses a number of techniques to determ:ne the
fair value of trading assets and liabihities, which are described 1n
Note 22 to the Consolidated Financtal Statements

Secunities Borrowed and Securities Loaned
Securities borrowing and lending transactions generally do not
constitute a sale of the underlying securities for accounting
purposes, and so are treated as collaterahized financing
transactions when the transaction involves the exchange of cash
Such iransactions are recorded at the amount of cash advanced
or recerved plus accrued interest Fees paid or received for all
securities lending and borrowing transactions are recorded in
Interest expense or Interest revenue at the contractually
specified rate

With respect to securities borrowed or loaned, the Company
monitors the market value of securities borrowed or loaned on a
daily basis and obtains or posts additional collateral 1n order to
maintain contractual margin protection
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Repurchase and Resale Agreements
Secunittes sold under agreements to repurchase (repos) and
securities purchased under agreements to resell (reverse repos)
generally do not constitute a sale for accounting purposes of the
underlying securities and so are treated as coilaterahized
financing transactions These transactions are recorded at the
amount of cash advanced or received plus accrued mterest
Interest paid or received on all repo and reverse repo
transactions 15 recorded in [nterest expense or Interest revenue
at the contractually specified rate

Where the conditions of ASC 210-20-45-11, Balance
Sheet—Offsetting Repurchase and Reverse Repurchase
Agreements, are met, repos and reverse repos are presented net
on the Consolidated Balance Sheet

The Company’s policy 1s to take possession of securities
purchased under reverse repurchase agreements The Company
monitors the market value of securities subject to repurchase or
resale on a daily basis and obtains or posts additional collateral
in order to maintain contractual margin protection

See related discussion of the assessment of effective control
for repurchase agreements in “Future Application of Accounting
Standards” below

Repurchase and Resale Agreements, and Securities Lending
and Borrowing Agreements, Accounted for as Sales

Where certain conditions are met under ASC 860-10, Transfers
and Servicing (formerly FASB Statement No 166, Accounting
Jor Transfers of Financial Assets), the Company accounts for
certain repurchase agreements and secunties lending agreements
as sales The key distinction resulting 1n these agreements being
accounted for as sales 15 a reduction 1n 1mtial margin or
restriction 1n daily maintenance margin At December 31, 2011
and December 31, 2010, a nominal amount of these transactions
was accounted for as sales that reduced Trading account assels

Loans
Loans are reported at their cutstanding principal balances net of
any unearmned income and unamortized deferred fees and costs
except that credit card receivable balances also include accrued
mterest and fees Loan ongination fees and certan direct
origination costs are generally deferred and recogmized as
adjustments 1o income over the hives of the related loans

As described 1n Note 23 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements, Citibank has elected fair value accounting for
certain loans Such loans are carried at fair value with changes
in fair value reported 1n earnings Interest income on such loans
1s recorded 1n [aterest revenue at the contractually specified
rate

Loans for which the fair value option has not been elected
are classified upon origination or acquisition as either held-for-
investment or held-for-sale Ths classification 1s based on
management’s imial intent and ability with regard to those
loans
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Loans that are held-for-investment are classified as Loans,
net of unearned income on the Consolidated Balance Sheet, and
the related cash flows are included within the cash flows from
investing activities category in the Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows on the line Change in loans However, when the
mitial intent for holding a loan has changed from held-for-
mvestment to held-for-sale, the loan 1s reclassified to held-for-
sale, but the related cash flows continue to be reported in cash
flows from investing activities in the Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows on the line Proceeds from sales and securitizations
of loans

Consumer loans
Consumer loans represent loans and leases managed primarily
by the Company’s Consumer businesses

Non-accrual and re-aging policies
As a general rule, interest accrual ceases for installment and real
estate (both open- and closed-end) loans when payments are 90
days contractually past due For credit cards and unsecured
revolving loans, however, Ciibank generally accrues interest
until payments are 180 days past due Loans that have been
modified to grant a short-term or long-term concession to a
borrower who 1s 1n financial difficulty may not be accruing
interest at the time of the modification The policy for returming
such modified loans to accrual status varies by product and/or
region In most cases, a mimmum number of payments (ranging
from one to s1x) are required, while 1n other cases the loan 1s
never returned to accrual status

For US$ Consumer loans, one of the conditions to qualify
for modification 1s that a minimum number of payments
(typically ranging from one to three) must be made Upon
modification, the loan 15 re-aged to current status However, re-
aging practices for certain open-ended Consumer loans, such as
credit cards, are governed by Federal Financial Institutions
Examination Council (FFIEC) guidelines For open-ended
Consumer loans subject to FFIEC gwidelines, one of the
condittons for the loan to be re-aged to current status 1s that at
least three consecutive mimmum monthly payments, or the
equivalent amount, must be received In addition, under FFIEC
guidehines, the number of times that such a loan can be re-aged
15 subject to limitations (generally once in twelve months and
twice n five years} Furthermore, Federal Housing
Admimistration (FHA} and Department of Veterans Affairs
(VA) loans are modified under those respective agencies’
gmidehnes and payments are not always required in order to re-
age a modified loan to current

Charge-off policies
Cribank s charge-off policies follow the general guidelines
below

+  Unsecured installment loans are charged off at 120 days
past due

¢  Unsecured revolving loans and credit card loans are
charged off at 180 days contractually past due

* Loans secured with non-real estate collateral are written
down to the estimated value of the collateral, less costs to
sell, at 120 days past due

+ Real estate-secured loans are written down to the estimated
value of the property, less costs to sell, at 180 days
contractualty past due
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s Unsecured loans in bankruptcy are charged off within 60
days of notification of filing by the bankruptcy court or in
accordance with Citibank’s charge-off policy, whichever
occurs earlier

s Real estate-secured loans n bankruptcy are written down to
the estimated value of the property, less costs 10 sell, at the
later of 60 days after notification or 60 days contractually
past due

+ Commercial market loans are wnitten down to the extent
that principal 15 Judged to be uncollectable

Corporate loans
Corporate loans represent loans and leases primarily managed
by Institutional Client businesses Corporate loans are 1denti fied
as impaired and placed on a cash {(non-accrual) basis when 1t 15
determined, based on actual experience and a forward-looking
assessment of the collectability of the loan in full, that the
payment of interest or principal 1s doubtful or when interest or
principal 15 90 days past due, except when the loan 1s well
collateralized and w the process of collection Any nterest
accrued on impaired Corporate loans and leases 1s reversed at 80
days past due and charged against current earnings, and interest
i1s thereafier included in earnings only to the extent actually
received tn cash When there 1s doubt regarding the ultimate
collectability of principal, all cash receipts are thereafter apphed
to reduce the recorded tnvestment 1n the loan

Impaired Corporate loans and leases are written down to the
extent that principal 1s judged to be uncollectable Impaired
collateral-dependent loans and leases, where repayment 15
expected to be provided solely by the sale of the undetlying
collateral and there are no other available and reliable sources of
repayment, are writien down to the lower of cost or collateral
value Cash-basis loans are returned to an accrual status when
all contractual principal and interest amounts are reasonably
assured of repayment and there 15 a sustamned peniod of
repayment performance in accordance with the contractual
terms
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Loans Held-for-Sale

Corporate and Consumer loans that have been idenufied for sale
are classified as loans held-for-sale included 1n Other assets
The practice of the U § prime mortgage business has been to
sell substantially all of its conforming loans As such, U S
prime mortgage conforming loans are classified as held-for-sale
and the fair value option 15 elected at the time of origination
With the exception of these loans for which the fair value option
has been elected, held-for-sale loans are accounted for at the
lower of cost or market value, with any write-downs or
subsequent recoveries charged to Other revenue The related
cash flows are classified in the Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows in the cash flows from operating activities category on
the line Change in loans held-for-sale

Allowance for Loan Losses

Allowance for loan losses represents management’s best
estimate of probable losses inherent in the portfolio, as well as
probable losses related to large individually evaluated impaired
loans and troubled debt restructurings Attribution of the
allowance 15 made for analytical purposes only, and the entire
allowance 15 available to absorb probable loan losses inherent in
the overali portfolio Additions to the allowance are made
through the Provision for loan losses Loan losses are deducted
from the allowance, and subsequent recoveries are added
Assets recerved in exchange for loan claims 1n a restructuring
are imtially recorded at fair value, with any gain or loss
reflected as a recovery or charge-off to the allowance

Corporate loans
In the corporate portfolios, the Allowance for loan losses
includes an asset-specific component and a statistically based
component The asset-specific component 1s calculated under
ASC 310-10-33, Receivables—Subsequent Measurement
(formerly SFAS 114) on an individual basis for larger-balance,
non-homogeneous loans, which are considered impaired An
asset-specific allowance 15 established when the discounted cash
flows, collateral value (less disposal costs), or observable
market price of the impaired loan 1s lower than its carrying
value This allowance considers the borrower’s overall financial
condition, resources, and payment record, the prospects for
support from any financially responsible guarantors (discussed
further below) and, 1f appropriate, the realizable value of any
collateral The asset-specific component of the allowance for
smaller balance imparred loans is calculated on a pool basis
considering historical loss experience

The allowance for the remainder of the loan portfolio 1s
calculated under ASC 450, Contingencies (formerly SFAS 5)
using a statisucal methodology, supplemented by management
Judgment The stausucal analysis considers the portfolio’s size,
remaining tenor, and credit quality as measured by internal risk
ratings assigned to individual credit facilities, which reflect
probability of default and loss given default The statistical
analysis considers historical default rates and historical loss
severity in the event of default, including historical average
levels and historical variability The result 15 an estimated range
for inherent losses The best estumate within the range 1s then
determined by management’s quantitative and quahtative
assessment of current conditions, including general economic
conditions, specific industry and geographuc trends, and internal
factors including portfolio concentrations, trends 1n internal
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credit quality indicators, and current and past underwniting
standards

For both the asset-specific and the statistically based
components of the Allowance for loan losses, management may
incorporate guarantor support The financial wherewithal of the
guarantor 1s evaluated, as applicable, based on net worth, cash
flow statements and personal or company financial statements
which are updated and reviewed at least annually Citibank
seeks performance on guarantee arrangements in the normal
course of business Seeking performance entails obtaining
satisfactory cooperation from the guarantor or botrower to
achieve Citibank’s strategy in the specific situation This regular
cooperation 15 indicative of pursuit and successful enforcement
of the guarantee, the exposure 1s reduced without the expense
and burden of pursuing a legal remedy Enforcing a guarantee
via legal action against the guarantor 1s not the primary means
of resolving a troubled loan situation and rarely occurs A
guarantor’s reputation and willingness to work with Citibank 1s
evaluated based on the historical experience with the guarantor
and the knowledge of the marketplace In the rare event that the
guarantor 18 unwilling or unable to perform or facihtate
borrower cooperation, Citibank pursues a legal remedy If
Cittbank does not pursue a legal remedy, 1t 1s because Cittbank
does not believe that the guarantor has the financial wherewithal
to perform regardless of legal action or because there are legal
Irmitations on stmultaneously pursuing guarantors and
foreclosure A guarantor’s reputation does not tmpact our
decision or ability to seek performance under the guarantee

In cases where a guarantee 1s a factor in the assessment of
loan losses, 1t 15 included via adjustment to the loan’s internal
risk rating, which 1n turn is the basis for the adjustment to the
statistically based component of the AHfowance for loan losses
To date, 1t 15 only 1n rare circumstances that an impaired
commercial or commercial real estate (CRE) loan 1s carried at a
value 1n excess of the appraised value due to a guarantee

When Citibank’s monitoring of the loan indicates that the
guarantor’s wherewithal to pay 1s uncertain or has deteriorated,
there 15 either no change in the risk rating, because the
guarantot’s credit support was never initially factored in, or the
risk rating 1s adjusted to reflect that uncertainty or detertoration
Accordingly, a guarantor’s ultimate failure to perform or a lack
of legal enforcement of the guarantee does not materially impact
the allowance for loan losses, as there 15 typically no further
significant adjustment of the loan's risk rating at that time
Where Citibank 1s not seeking performance urnder the guarantee
contract, 1t provides for loans lesses as 1f the loans were non-
performing and not guaranteed

Consumer loans

For Consumer loans, each portfolio of non-modified smaller-
balance, homogeneous loans 1s independently evaluated by
product type (e g , residential mortgage, credit card, etc ) for
impairment 1n accerdance with ASC 450-20 The allowance for
loan losses attributed to these loans 15 established via a process
that estimates the probable losses inherent 1n the specific
portfolio This process includes migration analysis, in which
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historical delinquency and credit loss experience 1s applied to
the current aging of the portfolio, together with analyses that
reflect current and anticipated economic conditions, including
changes in housing prices and unemployment trends Citibank’s
allowance for loan losses under ASC 450-20 only considers
contractual principal amounts due, except for credit card loans
where estimated loss amounts related to accrued interest
receivable are also included

Management also constders overall portfolio indicators,
mcluding historical credit losses, delinquent, non-performing,
and classified loans, trends 1n volumes and terms of loans, an
evaluation of overall credit quality, the credit process, mncluding
lending policies and procedures, and economic, geographical,
product and other environmental factors

Separate valuation allowances are determined for impaired
smaller-balance homogeneous loans whose terms have been
modified in a troubled debt restructuring (TDR) Long-term
modification programs as well as short-term (less than 12
months) modifications enginated from January 1, 2011 that
provide concessions (such as 1nterest rate reductions) to
borrowers tn financial difficulty are reported as TDRs In
addition, loans included in the U S Treasury’s Home
Affordable Modification Program (HAMP) tnal period at
December 31, 2011 are reported as TDRs The allowance for
loan losses for TDRs 15 determtned in accordance with ASC
310-10-35 considering all available evidence, including, as
appropnate, the present value of the expected future cash flows
discounted at the loan’s oniginal contractual effective rate, the
secondary market value of the loan and the fair value of
collateral less disposal costs These expected cash flows
ncorporate modification program default rate assumptions The
original contractual effective rate for credit card loans 1s the pre-
modtfication rate, which may include interest rate increases
under the original contractual agreement with the borrower

Where short-term concessions have been granted prior Lo
January 1, 2011, the allowance for loan losses ts matenally
conststent with the requirements of ASC 310-10-35

Valuauon allowances for commercial market loans, which
are classifiably managed Consumer loans, are determined 1n the
same manner as for Corporate loans and are described in more
detail 1n the following section Generally, an asset-specific
component 15 calculated under ASC 310-10-35 on an individual
basis for larger-balance, non-homogeneous loans that are
considered impaired and the altowance for the remainder of the
classifiably managed Consumer loan portfolio 1s calculated
under ASC 450 using a statistical methodology, supplemented
by management adjustment

Reserve Estimates and Policies

Management provides reserves for an estimate of probable
losses inherent 1n the funded loan portfolio on the balance sheet
in the form of an atlowance for loan losses These reserves are
established in accordance with Citibank’s credit reserve
policies, as approved by Citibank’s Audit Commuttee of the
Board of Directors Citibank’s Chief Risk Officer and Chief
Financial Officer review the adequacy of the credit loss reserves
each quarter with representatives from the risk management and
finance staffs for each applicable business area Applicable
business areas include those having classifiably managed
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portfolios, where internal credit-risk ratings are assigned
(primanty lnstitutional Clients Group and Global Consumer
Banking) or modified Consumer loans, where concessions were
granted due to the borrowers’ financial difficulties

The above-mentioned representatives covering these
respective business areas present recommended reserve balances
for their funded and unfunded lending portfolios along with
supporting quantitative and qualitative data The quantitative
data include

s Estnmated probable losses for non-performing, non-
hamogeneous exposures within a business line’s
classifiably managed portfelio and impaired smaller-
balance homogeneous loans whose terms have been
modified due to the borrowers’ financial difficudtres, and it
was determined that a concession was granted to the
borrower Conswderation may be given to the following, as
appropriate, when determining this estimate (1) the present
value of expected future cash flows discounted at the loan’s
oniginal effective rate, (11) the borrower’s overall financial
condition, resources and payment record, and (111} the
prospects for support from financially responsible
guarantors or the realizable value of any collateral In the
determination of the allowance for loan losses for TDRs,
management considers a combination of historical re-
default rates, the current economic environment and the
nature of the mod:fication program when forecasting
expected cash flows When impairment 1s measured based
on the present value of expected future cash flows, the
entire change in present value 1s recorded m the Provision
Sfor loan losses

s Staustically calculated losses inherent 1n the classifiably
managed portfolio for performing and de minimus non-
performing exposures The calculation 1s based upon (1)
Citibank’s internal system of credit-risk ratings, which are
analogous to the risk ratings of the major rating agencies,
and (1) historical default and loss data, including rating
agency information regarding default rates from 1983 to
2010 and internal data dating to the early 1970s on severity
of losses 1n the event of default

o Addmonal adjustments iiclude (1) statisttcally calculated
estimates to cover the historical fluctuation of the default
rates over the credit cycle, the histonical varability of loss
severity among defaulted loans, and the degree to which
there are large obligor concentrations in the global
portfolio, and (1) adjusiments made for specific known
items, such as current environmental factors and credit
trends

In addition, representatives from each of the nsk
management and finance staffs that cover business areas with
delinquency-managed portfolios containing smaller-balance
homogeneous loans present their recommended reserve balances
based upon leading credit indicators, including loan
delinquencies and changes in portfolio size as well as economic
trends, including housing prices, unemployment and GDP This
methodology 1s applied separately for each individual product
within each geographic region in which these portfolios exist
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This evaluation process 1s subject to numerous estimates
and judgments The frequency of default, risk ratings, loss
recovery rates, the size and diversity of individual large credits,
and the ability of borrowers with foreign currency obligations to
obtain the foreign currency necessary for orderly debt servicing,
among other things, are all taken into account during this
review Changes in these estimates could have a direct impact
on the credit costs 1n any pertod and could result 1n a change in
the allowance Changes to the Allowance for loan fosses are
recorded 1n the Provision for loan losses

Allowance for Unfunded Lending Commitments

A similar approach to the allowance for loan losses 15 used for
calculating a reserve for the expected losses related to unfunded
loan commitments and standby letters of credit This reserve 1s
classified on the balance sheet in Other labifities Changes to
the allowance for unfunded lending commitments are recorded
in the Provision for unfunded lending commitments

Mortgage Servicing Rights
Mortgage servicing rights (MSRs) are recognized as intangible
assets when purchased or when the Company sells or securitizes
loans acquired through purchase or origination and retains the
right to service the loans Mortgage servicing rights are
accounted for at fair value, with changes 1n value recorded in
Other revenue 1n the Company’s Consolidated Statement of
Income

Additional information on the Company’s MSRs can be
found 1n Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Consumer Mortgage—Representations and Warranties
The majority of Citibank's exposure to representation and
warranty claims relates to 1ts U S Consumer mortgage business

When selling a loan, Citibank makes various
representations and warranties relating to, among other things,
the following

+  Cmibank’s ownership of the loan,

o the validity of the lien securing the loan,

e the absence of delinquent taxes or liens against the property
securing the loan,

e the effectiveness of title insurance on the property securing
the loan,

* the process used in selecting the loans for inclusionin a
transaction,

e the loan’s comphiance with any applicable loan critena
established by the buyer, and

e the loan’s comphance with applicable local, state and
federal laws

The specific representations and warranties made by Citibank
depend on the nature of the transaction and the requirements of
the buyer Market conditions and credit rating agency
requirements may also affect representations and warranties and
the other provisions to which Ciubank may agree m loan sales
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In the event of a breach of these representations and
warranties, Citibank may be required to either repurchase the
mortgage loans with the 1denuified defects (generally at unpaid
princtpal balance plus accrued interest) or indemnify (“make-
whole”) the investors for their losses Citibank’s representations
and warranties are generally not subject to stated imus in
amount or time of coverage

In the case of a repurchase, Citibank will bear any
subsequent credit loss on the mortgage loan and the loan 15
typically considered a credit-impaired loan and accounted for
under SOP 03-3, “Accounting for Certain Loans and Debt
Secunties Acquired in a Transfer” (now incorporated into ASC
310-30, Recevables—Loans and Debt Securities Acquired with
Deteriorated Credit Qualtty} (SOP 03-3) These repurchases
have not had a material impact on Citibank’s non-performing
loan statistics because credit-impaired purchased SOP 03-3
loans are not included in non-accrual loans, since they generally
continue to accrue interest until write-off Citibank’s
repurchases have primarnily been from the U § government
sponsored entities (GSEs)

Cittbank has recorded a reserve for its exposure to losses
from the obligation to repurchase previously sold loans (referred
to as the repurchase reserve) that 1s included in Other Liabtiities
m the Consolidated Balance Sheet In estimating the repurchase
reserve, Citibank considers reimbursements estimated to be
received from third-party correspondent lenders and
indemnification agreements relating to prevtous acquisitions of
morigage servicing rights The estimated reimbursements are
based on Citibank’s analysis of its most recent collection trends
and the financial solvency of the correspondents

In the case of a repurchase of a credit-impaired SOP 03-3
loan, the difference between the loan’s fair value and unpaid
principal balance at the time of the repurchase 1s recorded as a
utilization of the repurchase reserve Make-whole payments to
the investor are also treated as utilizations and charged directly
against the reserve The repurchase reserve 1s estimated when
Citibank sells loans {recorded as an adjustment to the gain on
sale, which 1s included in Other revenue in the Consohdated
Statement of Income) and 15 updated quarterly Any change in
estimate 15 recorded n Other revenue

The repurchase reserve 1s calculated by individual sales
vintage (1 e, the year the loans were sold) and 1s based on
various assumptions These assumptions contain a level of
uncertainty and risk that, (f different from actual results, could
have a material impact on the reserve amount The most
significant assumptions used to calculate the reserve levels are
as follows

» loan documentation requesits,

+ repurchase claims as a percentage of loan documentation
requests,
claims appeal success rate, and
estimated loss per repurchase or make-whole

15

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition cost over the fair
value of net tangible and intangible assets acquired Goodwill 1s
subject to annual impairment tests, whereby Goodwiltl is
allocated to the Company’s reporting units and an impairment 15
deemed to exist 1f the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds
1ts esumated fair value Furthermore, on any business
dispositions, Goodwill 1s allocated to the business disposed of
based on the ratio of the fair value of the business disposed of to
the fair value of the reporting umit

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets—including core deposit intangibles, present
value of future profits, purchased credit card relationships, other
customer relationships, and other intangible assets, but
excluding MSRs—are amortized over thetr estimated useful
lives Intangible assets deemed Lo have indefinite useful lives,
primarily certain asset management contracts and trade names,
are not amortized and are subject to annual impatrment tests An
impairment exists if the carrying value of the indefinne-hived
intangible asset exceeds its fair value For other Intangible
assets subject to amoruzation, an Lmpairment 18 recognized 1f
the carrying amount 1s not recoverable and exceeds the farr
value of the Intangible asset

Other Assets and Other Liabihties

Other assets include, among other items, loans held-for-sale,
deferred tax assets, equity-method investments, interest and fees
recervable, premises and equipment, repossessed assets, and
other receivables Other habiiities include, among other items,
accrued expenses and other payables, deferred tax habihities,
and reserves for legal claims, taxes, unfunded lending
commitments, repositioning reserves, and other matters

Other Real Estate Owned and Repossessed Assets

Real estate or other assets received through foreclosure or
repossession are generally reported in Other asseis, net of a
valuation allowance for selling costs and for subsequent
dechines 1n fair value

Debt

Short-term borrowings and long-term debt are accounted for at
amortized cost, except where the Company has elected to report
the debt instruments, including certain structured notes, at fair
value or the debt 1s 1n a fair value hedging relationship

Securitizations
The Company primarily securitizes credit card receivables and
mortgages Other types of securiized assets include corporate
debt instruments (in cash and synthetic form) and student loans

There are two key accounting determinations that must be
made relating to securitizations Citibank first makes a
determination as to whether the securitization entity would be
consolidated Second, it determines whether the transfer of
financial assets 1o the entity 1s considered a sale under GAAP If
the secuntization entity 1s a VIE, the Company consolidates the
VIE 1f 1t 1s the primary beneficiary

The Company consoiidates VIEs when 1t has both (1}
power to direct activities of the VIE that most sigmificantly
impact the entity’s economic performance and (2) an obligation
to absorb losses or right to receive benefits from the enuty that
could potentially be significant to the VIE
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For all other securitization entities determined not to be
VIEs 1n which Citibank participates, a consolidation decision 15
based on who has voting control of the entity, giving
consideration to removal and liquidation rights in certain
partnership structures Only securitization entities controlled by
Citibank are consohdated

Interests in the securiized and sold assets may be retained
in the form of subordinated or sentor interest-only strips,
subordinated tranches, spread accounts, and servicing nights In
credit card securitizations, the Company retains a seller’s
interest in the credit card receivables transferred to the trusts,
which 15 not 1n securttized form 1n the case of consolidated
securiiization entities, including the credit card trusts, these
retained interests are not reported on Citibank’s Consolidated
Balance Sheet, rather, the securitized loans remain on the
balance sheet Substantially all of the Consumer loans sold or
securitized through non-consohdated trusts by Citibank are U §
prime residential mortgage loans Retained interests in non-
consolhidated mortgage securitization trusts are classified as
Trading account assets, except for MSRs which are included in
Intangible assets on Citibank’s Consolidated Balance Sheet

See Note 19 to the Consohdated Financial Statements for
further discussion

Transfers of Financial Assets
For a transfer of financial assets to be considered a sale the
assets must have been isolated from the Company, even in
bankruptey or other receivership, the purchaser must have the
right to pledge or sell the assets transferred or, if the purchaser 15
an entity whose sole purpose 1s to engage 1n securitization and
asset-backed financing activities and that entity 15 constrained
from pledging the assets 1t receives, each beneficial interest
holder must have the night to sell the beneficial interests, and the
Company may not have an option or obligation to reacquire the
assets [fthese sale requirements are met, the assets are removed
from the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet If the
conditions for sale are not met, the transfer 1s considered to be a
secured borrowing, the assets remain on the Consclidated
Balance Sheet, and the sale proceeds are recognized as the
Company’s hability A legal opinton on a sale 1s generally
obtained for complex transactions or where the Company has
continuing tnvolvement with assets transferred or with the
secunitization entity For a transfer to be eligible for sale
accounting, those opinions must state that the asset transfer 1s
considered a sale and that the assets transferred would not be
consolidated with the Company’s other assets in the event of the
Company’s insolvency

For a transfer of a portion of a financial asset to be
considered a sale, the portion transferred must meet the
defimtion of a participating interest A participating interest
must represent a pro rata ownership in an enuire financial asset,
all cash flows must be divided proportionally, with the same
priority of payment, no partictpating interest in the transferred
asset may be subordinated to the interest of another participating
nterest holder, and no party may have the right to pledge or
exchange the entire financial asset unless all participating
interest holders agree Otherwise, the transfer 1s accounted for as
a secured borrowing

See Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
further discussion

Risk Management Activities—Derivatives Used for Hedging
Purposes
The Company manages 1ts exposures to market rate movements
outside 1ts trading activities by modifying the asset and liabihity
mix, either directly or through the use of derivative financial
products, including interest-rate swaps, futures, forwards, and
purchased options, as well as foreign-exchange contracts These
end-user derivatives are carried at fair value in Other assets,
Other habiliies, Trading account assets and Trading account
habiities

To quahify as an accounting hedge under the hedge
accounting rules (versus a management hedge where hedge
accounting 1s not sought), a denvative must be highly effective
in offsetting the risk designated as being hedged The hedge
relationship must be formally documented at inception, detailing
the particular risk management objective and strategy for the
hedge, which includes the 1tem and risk that 1s being hedged and
the derivative that 15 being used, as well as how effectiveness
will be assessed and ineffectiveness measured The
effectiveness of these hedging relationships 1s evaluated on a
retrospective and prospective basis, typically using quantitative
measures of correlation with hedge ineffectiveness measured
and recorded n current earnings

If a hedge relationship 1s found to be ineffective, 1t no
longer qualifies as an accounting hedge and hedge accounting
would not be applied Any gains or losses attributable to the
derivatives, as well as subsequent changes in fair value, are
recognized in Other revenue or Principal transactions with no
offset on the hedged item, simlar to trading derivatives

The foregoing criteria are apphied on a decentralized basis,
consistent with the level at which market risk 1s managed, but
are subject 1o various hmits and controls The underlying asset,
hability or forecasted transaction may be an individual 1item or a
portfohio of similar items

For fair value hedges, in which denivatives hedge the fair
value of assets or habilities, changes in the fair value of
derivatives are reflected in Other revenue or Principal
transactions, together with changes 1n the fair value of the
hedged 1tem related to the hedged risk These are expected to,
and generally do, offset each other Any net amount,
representing hedge ineffectiveness, 1s reflected in current
earmings Ciubank’s fair value hedges are pnmarnly hedges of
fixed-rate long-term debt and available-for-sale securities

For cash flow hedges, in which derivatives hedge the
variability of cash flows related to floating and fixed-rate assets,
liabihities or forecasted transactions, the accounting treatment
depends on the effectiveness of the hedge To the extent these
derwvatives are effective in offsetting the variability of the
hedged cash flows, the effective portion of the changes 1n the
derivatives’ fair values will not be included 1n current earnings,
but 1s reported in Accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss) These changes n fair value will be included 1n earnings
of future periods when the hedged cash flows impact earnings
To the extent these derivatives are not effective, changes in therr
fair values are immediately included in Other revenue
Citibank's cash flow hedges primarily include hedges of
floating-rate debt, as well as rollovers of short-term fixed-rate
liabilities and floating-rate liabilities and forecasted debt
1ssuances
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For net investment hedges 1n which derivatives hedge the
foreign currency exposure of a net investment 1n a foreign
operation, the accounting treatment wilt similarly depend on the
effectiveness of the hedge The effective portion of the change
in fair value of the denvative; including any forward premium
or discount, 15 reflected in Accumulated other comprehensive
tncome (loss) as part of the foreign currency translation
adjustment

End-user derivatives that are management hedges, rather
than qualifying for hedge accounting, are also carried at fair
value, with changes in value included 1n Principal transactions
or Other revenue Citibank often uses management hedges when
qualifying for hedge accounting would be too complex or
operationally burdensome, examples are hedges of the credit
risk component of commercial loans and loan commitments
Citibank penodically evaluates its hedging strategies m other
areas and may designate either a qualifying hedge or a
management hedge, after constdering the relative cost and
benefits Management hedges are also employed when the
hedged 1tem itself 1s marked to market through current earnings,
such as hedges of commitments to originate one-to-four-famly
mortgage loans to be held for sale and MSRs

For those accounting hedge relationships that are
terminated or when hedge designations are removed, the hedge
accounting treatment described in the paragraphs above 1s no
longer apphied Instead, the end-user derivative 1s terminated or
transferred to the trading account For fair value hedges, any
changes i the fair value of the hedged item remain as part of
the basis of the asset or hability and are ultimately reflected as
an element of the yield For cash flow hedges, any changes in
fair value of the end-user derivative remain in Accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss) and are included 1n earmings
of future periods when the hedged cash flows impact earnings
However, 1f 1t becomes probable that the hedged forecasted
transaction will not occur, any amounts that remain in
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) are
immediately reflected 1n Other revenue

Employee Benefits Expense

Employee benefits expense includes current service costs of
pension and other postretirement benefit plans, which are
accrued on a current basis, contributions and unrestricted awards
under other employee plans, the amortization of restricted stock
awards and costs of other employee benefits

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes compensation expense related to stock
and option awards over the requisite service period, generally
based on the instrument’s grant date fair value, reduced by
expected forfeitures Compensation cost related to awards
granted to employees who meet certain age plus years-of-
service requirements (retirement ehgible employees) 1s accrued
in the year prior to the grant date, in the same manner as the
accrual for cash incentive compensation Certain stock awards
with performance conditions or certain clawback provisions are
subject to vartable accounting, pursuant to which the associated
charges fluctuate with changes in Citigroup’s stock price
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Income Taxes
The Company 1s subject to the income tax laws of the U § | 1ts
states and municipalities and those of the foreign jurisdictions 1n
which the Company operates These tax laws are complex and
subject to different interpretations by the taxpayer and the
relevant governmental taxing authorities In establishing a
provision for income tax expense, the Company must make
Judgments and interpretations about the application of these
inherently complex tax laws The Company must also make
estimates about when 1n the future certain items will affect
taxable income 1n the various tax junsdictions, both domestic
and foreign

As discussed in Note 9, the Company 15 included in the
Citigroup consolidated federal tax return and 1s a party to a tax-
sharing agreement with Citigroup Under such agreement, the
Company 1s entitled to a tax benefit for its losses and credits that
are recognized in Citigroup's Consohdated Financial
Statements Settlements between the Company and Citigroup of
current taxes occur throughout the year The Company also files
its consolidated and combined state income tax returns with
Citigroup and/or other of its subsidiaries

Disputes over interpretations of the tax laws may be subject
to review/adjudication by the court systems of the various tax
jurisdictions or may be settled with the taxang authornity upon
examination or audit The Company treats interest and penalties
on tncome laxes as a component of Income tax expense

Deferred taxes are recorded for the future consequences of
events that have been recognized for financial statements or tax
returns, based upon enacted tax laws and rates Deferred tax
assets are recognized subject to management’s judgment that
realization 1s more hikely than not FASB Interpretation No 48,
“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes” (FIN 48) (now
incorporated into ASC 740, Income Taxes), sets oul a consistent
framework to determine the appropriate level of tax reserves to
maintain for uncertain tax positions This interpretation uses a
two-step approach wherein a tax benefit is recognized if a
posttion is more hikely than not to be sustained The amount of
the benefit 1s then measured to be the highest tax benefit that 1s
greater than 50% likely to be realized FIN 48 also sets out
disclosure requirements to enhance transparency of an entity’s
tax reserves

See Note 9 to the Consohidated Financial Statements for a
further description of the Company’s provision and related
income tax assets and habilities

Commissions, Underwriting and Principal Transactions
Commissions revenues are generally recognized 1n income
when earned Underwriting revenues are typically recogmzed in
income at the closing of the transaction Principal transactions
revenues are recognized in tncome on a trade-date basis See
Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a
description of the Company’s revenue recogmtion policies for
commissions and fees

Use of Estimates

Management must make estimates and assumptions that affect
the Consohdated Financial Statements and the related footnote
disclosures Such estimates are used 1n connection with certain
fair value measurements See Note 22 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for further discusstons on esiimates used in
the determination of fair value The Company also uses
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estimates in determining consolidation decisions for special-
purpose entities as discussed in Note 19 Moreover, estimates
are significant in determining the amounts of other-than-
temporary impairments, impairments of goodwill and other
intangible assets, provisions for probable losses that may arise
from credit-related exposures and probable and estimable losses
related to itigation and regulatory proceedings, and tax
reserves While management makes 1ts best judgment, actual
amounts or results could differ from those estimates Current
market conditions 1ncrease the risk and complexity of the
Judgments n these estimates

Cash Flows

Cash equivalents are defined as those amounts included 1n cash
and due from banks Cash flows from risk management
activities are classified in the same category as the related assets
and habilities

Related Party Transactions

The Company has related party transactions with certamn of its
subsicharies and affihates These transactions, which are
primarily short-term tn nature, include cash accounts,
collateralized financing transactions, margin accounts,
denivative trading, charges for operational support and the
borrowing and lending of funds, and are entered into 1n the
ordinary course of business See Note 27 to the Consehdated
Financial Statements

CITIBANK, N A 2010-2011 FINANCIALS

18




ACCOUNTING CHANGES

Credit Quahty and Allowance for Cred:t Losses
Disclosures

In July 2010, the FASB 1ssued ASU No 2010-20, Receivables
(Topic 310) Disclosures abour Credir Quality of Financing
Recewables and Allowance for Credit Losses The ASU
required a greater level of disaggregated information about the
allowance for credit losses and the credit quality of financing
receivables The period-end balance disclosure requirements
for loans and the allowance for loan losses were effective for
reporting pertods ending on or after December 15, 2010 and
were included in the Company’s 2010 Consolidated Financtal
Statements, while disclosures for activity during a reporting
period 1n the loan and allowance for loan losses accounts were
effective for reporting periods beginning on or after December
15, 2010 (see Notes 13 and 14 to the Consohidated Finaneal
Statements) The troubled debt restructuning disclosure
requirements that were part of this ASU became effective in
the third quarter of 2011 (sce below)

Troubled Debt Restructurings (TDRs)

In April 2011, the FASB 1ssued ASU No 2011-02,
Recervables (Topic 310) A Creditor’s Determination of
whether a Restructuring 1s a Troubled Debt Restructuring, to
clarify the guidance for accounting for troubled debt
restructurings The ASU clanfied the guidance on a creditor’s
evaluation of whether 1t has granted a concession and whether
a debtor 1s expenencing financial difficulties, such as

¢ Any shortfall in contractual loan payments 1s considered a
concession

«  Creditors cannot assume that debt extensions at or above
a borrower’s original contractual rate do not constitute
troubled debt restructurings because the new contractual
rate could still be below the market rate

+  If a borrower doesn’t have access to funds at a market rate
for debt with charactenstics similar to the restructured
debt, that may indicate that the creditor has granted a
concesswon

¢ A borrower that 15 not currently in default may stiil be
considered to be experiencing financial difficulty when
payment default 1s considered “probable in the
foreseeable future

Effective in the third quarter of 2011, as a result of adopung
ASU 2011-02, certain loans modified under short-term
programs since January 1, 2011 that were previously measured
for impairment under ASC 450 are now measured for
impairment under ASC 310-10-35 At September 30, 2011,
the recorded investment in receivables previously measured
under ASC 450 was $490 million and the allowance for credit
losses associated with those loans was $270 million The
effect of adopting the ASU was approximately $60 million

Change in Accounting for Embedded Credit Derivatives
In March 2010, the FASB 1ssued ASU 2010-11, Scope
Exception Related to Embedded Credit Dervatrves The ASU
clartfies that certain embedded derivatives, such as those
contained 1n certain securttizations, CDOs and structured notes,
should be considered embedded credit derivatives subject to
potential bifurcation and separate fair value accounting The
ASU allows any beneficial interest 1ssued by a securitization
vehicle to be accounted for under the fair value option at
transition on Jjuly 1, 2010

The Company has elected to account for certain beneficial
interests issued by secunitization vehicles under the faur value
option that are included 1n the table below Beneficial interests
previcusly classified as held-to-maturity (HTM) were
reclassified to available-for-sale (AFS) on June 30, 2010,
because as of that reporting date, the Company did not have the
intent to hold the beneficial interests until matunty

The following table also shows the gross gains and gross losses that make up the pretax cumulative-effect adjustment to Retatned

earnings for reclassified beneficial interests, recorded on July 1, 2010

July 1, 2010

Pretax cumulative effect adjustment to Retained earmings

Gross unrealized losses Gross unreahzed gains

In mihions of dollars at June 30 2010 Amortized cost recogmzed in AQCI' recogmized in AOCI Fair value
Mortgage-backed secunities
Prime $ 97 $— 51 $ 98
Alt-A 250 —_ 24 274
Non-U S residential 2,249 — 38 2,287
Total mortgage-backed securities $2,596 $— $ 63 $2,659
Asset-backed securities $4,162 $19 $162 $4,305
Total reclassified debt securiies $6,758 $19 $225 $6,964

(1) All reclassified debt secunities with gross unrealized lesses were assessed for other-than-temporary-tmpairment as of June 30, 2010, including an assessment
of whether the Company tntends to sell the secunity For secunties that the Company ntends 10 sell, inpairment charges of $158 million were recorded 1n

earnings i 201¢
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Beginming July 1, 2010, the Company elected to account
for these beneficial interests under the fair value option for
various reasons, including

(1) to reduce the operational burden of assessing beneficial
interests for bifurcation under the guidance in the ASU,

(2) where bifurcation would otherwise be required under the
ASU, to avoid the complicated operational requirements
of bifurcating the embedded derivatives from the host
contracts and accounting for each separately The
Company reclassified substantially all beneficial interests
where bifurcation would otherwise be required under the
ASU, and

(3) to permit more economic hedging strategies without
generating volatilty in reported earnings

Additional Disclosures Regarding Fair Value
Measurements

In January 2010, the FASB 1ssued ASU 2010-06, improving
Disclosures about Fawr Value Measurements The ASU
requires disclosure of the amounts of significant transfers 1n
and out of Levels | and 2 of the fair value hierarchy and the
reasons for the transfers The disclosures are effective for
reporting penods beginming afier December 15, 2009
Additionally, disclosures of the gross purchases, sales,
1ssuances and settlements activity in Level 3 of the fair value
measurement hierarchy are required for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2010 The Company adopted ASU 2010-
06 as of January 1, 2010 The required disclosures are
mcluded 1n Note 22 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Eliminatton of Quahfying Special Purpose Entities
(QSPEs) and Changes 1n the Consohdation Model for
VIiEs
In June 2009, the FASB 1ssued SFAS No 166, Accounting for
Transfers of Financial Assets, an amendment of FASB
Statement No 40 (SFAS 166, now incorporated into ASC
Topic 860) and SFAS No 167, Amendments to FASB
Interpretation No 46(R) (SFAS 167, now incorporated into
ASC Topic 810) Ciubank adopted both standards on January
1, 2010 Crtibank has elected to apply SFAS 166 and SFAS
167 prospectively

SFAS 166 eliminates the concept of QSPEs from U S
GAAP and amends the guidance on accounting for transfers of
financial assets SFAS 167 details three key changes to the
consolidation model First, former QSPEs are now included 1n
the scope of SFAS 167 Second, the FASB has changed the
method of analyzing which party to a VIE should consolidate
the VIE (known as the primary beneficiary) to a qualitative
determination of which party to the VIE has “power,”
combimed with potentially significant benefits or losses,
mstead of the previous quantitative risks and rewards model
The party that has “power” has the ability to direct the
activities of the VIE that most significantly impact the VIE’s
economic performance Thurd, the new standard requires that
the pnmary beneficiary analysis be re-evaluated whenever
circumstances change The previous rules required
reconsideration of the pnimary beneficiary only when speaified
reconsideration events occurred

As a result of implementing these new accounting
standards, Citibank consolidated certain of the VIEs and
former QSPEs with which it had involvement on January 1,
2010 Further, certain asset transfers, including transfers of
portions of assets, that would have been considered sales
under SFAS 140 are considered secured borrowings under the
new standards

In accordance with SFAS 167, Cittbank employed three
approaches for newly conselidating certain VIEs and former
QSPEs as of January 1, 2010 The first approach requires
initially measuring the assets, habilities, and noncontrolling
interests of the VIEs and former QSPEs at their carrying
values (the amounts at which the assets, liabilities, and
noncontrolling interests would have been carried 1n the
Consohdated Financial Statements, 1f Citibank had always
consolidated these VIEs and former QSPEs) The second
approach measures assets at their unpaid principal amount,
and 1s applied when determiming carrying values 1s not
practicable The third approach s to elect the fair value option,
in which all of the financial assets and hiabihiies of certain
designated V1Es and former QSPEs are recorded at fair value
upon adoption of SFAS 167 and continue 10 be marked to
market thereafter, with changes in fair value reported in
earnings

Citibank consolidated all required VIEs and former
QSPEs, as of January 1, 2010, at carrying values or unpaid
principal amounts, except for certain private label residential
mortgage and mutual fund deferred sales commissions VIEs,
for which the fair value option was elected

The impact from those VIEs and former QSPEs that were
consolidated or deconsolidated for accounting purposes as of
January 1, 2010 was an tncremental increase in GAAP assets
of approximately $133 billion and a net increase (after
reflecting a partial offset for additional loan loss reserves) in
risk-weighted assets of approximately $9 bilhon, which
primarily related to the consolidation of credst card trusts,
commercial paper conduits and student loan securitization
enlities

The cumulative effect of adopting these accounting
standards as of January 1, 2010 resulted 1n an aggregate after-
tax charge to Retained earnings of $8 4 lillion

Multiple Foreign Exchange Rates

In May 2010, the FASB 1ssued ASU 2010-19, Foreign
Currency Issues Muluple Foreign Currency Exchange Rates
The ASU requires certain disclosure 1n situations when an
entity’s reported balances in U 8 dollar monetary assets held
by uts foreign entities differ from the actual U § dollar-
denominated balances due to different foreign exchange rates
used 1n remeasurement and translation The ASU also clarifies
the reporting for the difference between the reported balances
and the U § dollar-denominated balances upon the nitial
adoption of hughly inflationary accounting The ASU does not
have a material impact on the Cempany’s accounting

Effect of a Loan Modfication When the Loan Is Part of a
Pool Accounted for as a Single Asset (ASU No 2010-18)

In April 2010, the FASB 1ssued ASU No 2010-18, Effect of a
Loan Modification When the Loan 1s Part of a Pool Accounted
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Jfor as a Single Asset As aresult of the amendments 1n this
ASU, modifications of loans that are accounted for within a
pool do not result 1n the removal of those loans from the pool,
even 1if the modification of those loans would otherwise be
considered a troubled debt restructuring An enuity will
continue to be required to consider whether the pool of assets
in which the lean 1s included 1s impaired 1f expected cash
flows for the pool change The ASU was effective for
reporting periods ending on or after July 15, 2010 The ASU
had no matenal effect on the Company’s financial statements
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FUTURE APPLICATION OF ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS

Repurchase Agreements — Assessment of Effective Control
In Apnl 2011, the FASB 1ssued ASU No 2011-03, Transfers
and Servicing (Topic 868) — Reconsideration of Effective
Control for Repurchase Agreements The amendments in the
ASU remove from the assessment of effective control (1) the
critenion requiring the transferor to have the abihty to
repurchase or redeem the financial assets on substantally the
agreed terms, even 1n the event of default by the transferee,
and (2) the collateral maintenance implementation guidance
related to that criterion Other critena applicable to the
assessment of effective control are not changed by the
amendments 111 the ASU

The ASU became effective for Citibank on January 1,
2012 The guidance 15 to be applied prospectively to
transactions or modifications of existing transactions that
occur on or after the effective date The ASU did not have a
material effect on the Company’s financial statements A
nominal amount of the Company’s repurchase transactions are
currently accounted for as sales, because of a reduction 1n
initial margin or restriction 1n daily maintenance margin Such
transactions will be accounted for as financing transactions 1f
executed on or after January 1, 2012

Fair Value Measurement

In May 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB)1ssued ASU No 2011-04, Fair Value Measurement
(Topic 820) Amendments to Achueve Common Fawr Value
Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in US GAAP and
IFRS The amendment creates a common definition of fair
value for US GAAP and International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) and aligns the measurement and disclosure
requirements Tt requires significant additional disclosures
both of a qualitative and quantitative nature, particularly on
those 1nstruments measured at fair value that are classified n
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy Additionally, the
amendment provides guidance on when 1t 15 appropriate to
measure fair value on a portfolio basis and expands the
prohibition on valuation adjustments from Level | to all levels
of the fair value ierarchy where the size of the Company’s
position 1s a characteristic of the adjustment The amendment
became effective for Citibank on January 1, 2012 As a result
of implementing the prohibition on valuation adjustments
where the size of the Company’s position 1s a characteristic,
the Company will release reserves of approximately $4
million, increasing pretax ncome n the first quarter of 2012

Offsetting

In December 2011, the FASB 1ssued Accounting Standards
Update No 2011-1t—Balance Sheet (Topic 210) Disclosures
about Offsetting Assets and Liabihiies The standard requires
new disclosures about certain financial instruments and
derivative instruments that are either offset in the balance
sheel (presented on a net basis) or subject to an enforceable
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master netting arrangement or similar arrangement The
standard requires disclosures that provide both gross and net
information 1n the notes to the financial statements for relevant
assets and liabihties This ASU does not change the existing
offseting eligibility critena or the permitted balance sheet
presentation for those instruments that meet the eligibility
criterta The new disclosure requirements should enhance
comparability between those companies that prepare their
financial statements on the basis of U S GAAP and those that
prepare their financial statements in accordance with IFRS
For many financial institutions, the differences in the
offsetting requirements between U § GAAP and [FRS result
in a significant difference 1n the amounts presented 1n the
balance sheets prepared 1n accordance with U S GAAP and
IFRS The disclosure standard will become effective for
annual periods beginning January 1, 2013 The disclosures are
required retrospectively for all comparative periods presented

Potential Amendments to Current Accounting Standards
The FASB and International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB), etther jointly or separately, are currently working on
several major projects, including amendments to existing
accounting standards governing financial instruments, lease
accounting, conselidation and investment companies As part
of the joint financial instruments project, the FASB 15
proposing sweeping changes to the classification and
measurement of financial instruments, hedging and
imparrment guidance The FASB 15 also working on a joint
project that would require all leases to be capitalized on the
balance sheet Additionally, the FASB has 1ssued a proposal
on principal-agent considerations that would change the way
the Company needs to evaluate whether te consolidate VIEs
and non-VIE partnerships Furthermore, the FASB has 1ssued
a proposed Accounting Standards Update that would change
the criteria used to determine whether an entity 1s subject to
the accounting and reporting requirements of an investment
company The principal-agent consolidation proposal would
require all VIEs, including those that are investment
companies, to be evaluated for conschdation under the same
requirements

In addition to the major projects, the FASB has also
proposed changes regarding the Company’s release of any
cumulative translation adjustment into earnings when 1t ceases
to have a controlling financial interest in certain groups of
assets that constitule a business within a consolidated foreign
subsidiary All these projects may have significant impacts for
the Company Upon completion of the standards, the
Company will need to re-evaluate 1ts accounting and
disclosures However, due to ongoing deliberations of the
standard-setters, the Company 15 currently unable to determine
the effect of future amendments or proposals
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3 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Sale of Egg Banking PLC Credit Card Business
On March 1, 2011, the Company announced that Egg Banking
plc (Egg), an indirect subsidiary, entered into a defimtive
agreement to sell 1ts credit card business to Barclays PLC The
sale closed on Apnil 28, 2011

Thas sale 1s reported as discontinued operations for the
full year of 2011 only Prior periods were not reclassified due
to the immateriality of the impact in those periods An after-
tax gain on sale of $219 million was recogmzed upon closing
Egg operations had total assets and total liabilittes of
approximately $2 7 billion and $39 million, respectively, at
the time of sale

Summarized financial information for Discontinued
operations, including cash flows, for the credit card operations
related 1o Egg follows

In mulhions of dotlars 2011
Total revenues, net of interest expense ‘) 5483
Income from discontinued operations 24
Gam on sale 286
Provision for income taxes 108
Income from discontinued operations, net of taxes $202

In mllions of dollars

Cash flows from operating activities % (146)
Cash flows from investing activities 2,827
Cash flows from financing activities (12)
Net cash provided by discontinued operations $2,669

(1) Total revenues include gain or loss on sale, 1f applicable

Sale of The Student Loan Corporation
On September 17, 2010, the Company announced that The
Student Loan Corporation (SLC), a direct subsidiary that was
80% owned by Cittbank and 20% owned by public
shareholders, entered into defimtive agreements that resulted
in the divestiture of Cit1”s private student loan business and
approxtmately $31 billion of 1ts approximate $40 billion 1n
assets to Discover Financial Services (Discover) and SLM
Corporation (Sallic Mae) The transaction closed on December
31,2010 As part of the transaction, Cit1 provided Sallie Mae
with $1 1 bilhon of seller-financing Additionally, as part of
the transactions, Citibank, N A purchased approximately $8 6
billion of assets from SLC pnior to the sale of SLC

This sale was reported as discontinued operations for the
second half of 2010 only Prior periods were not reclassified
due to the immateriality of the impact in those periods The
total 2010 impact from the sale of SLC resulted 1n an after-tax
loss of $427 million SLC operations had total assets and total
liabilines of approximately $31 bilhion and $29 billion,
respectively, at the time of sale
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Summarized financial information for discontinued
operations, mcluding cash flows, related to the sale of SLC
follows

in millions of dollars 2011 2010
Total revenues, net of interest expense $— $(577)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations $— § ¢

Loss on sale - (825)
Benefit for income taxes — (339)
Loss from discontinued operations, net of taxes $— 5389
In puitions of dollars 2011 2010
Cash flows from operating activities $— 35,106
Cash flows from investing activities — 1,532

Cash flows from financing activities — (6,483}
Net cash provided by discontinued operations $— 3155

(1} Amounts reflect activity from July 1, 2010 through December 31, 2010
only
(2) Total revenues include gain or loss on sale, 1f applicable

Combined Results for Discontinued Operations

The following 1s summarized financial information for the
Egg credit card, SLC, German retail banking and CitiCapital
businesses The German retail banking operation, which was
sold on December 5, 2008, and the CitiCaprtal business, which
was sold on July 31, 2008, continue to have mimuimal residual
costs associated with the sales Additionally, during 2010, the
Company completed an income tax audit in Germany related
to the business sold 1n 2008 As a result of completing this
audit, the Company released reserves of approximately $68
million

In millions of dollars 2011 2010
Total revenues, net of interest

expense $ 491 $ (517
Income from discontinued

operations 23 5 79
Garn (loss) on sale 294 (810)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 115 (395)
Income (loss) from discontinued

operations, net of taxes $ 202 $ (336)
In millions of dollars 2011 2010
Cash flows from operating activities $ (146) $5,108
Cash flows from investing activities 2,827 1,541
Cash flows from financing acuvities (12) (6,486}
Net cash provided by discontinued

operafions $2,669 § 163

(1} Total revenues include gain or loss on sale, 1f apphicable
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4 INTEREST REVENUE AND EXPENSE

For the years ended December 31, 2011, and 2010,
respectively, interest revenue and expense consisted of the

5 COMMISSIONS AND FEES

The table below sets forth Citibank’s Commissions and fees
revenue for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011 and

following 2010, respectively The primary components of Commussions
and fees revenue for the year ended December 31, 2011 were
In millions of doliars 2011 2019 credit card and bank card fees, and asset management and
Interest revenue other fiduciary fees
Loan interest, including fees 341,353 344,646 Credit card and bank card fees are primarily composed of
Deposits with banks 1,428 986 interchange revenue and certain card fees, including annual
Federal funds sold, secunties borrowed or fees, reduced by reward program costs Interchange revenue
purchased under agreements fo resell 1,355 862 and fees are recogmzed when earned, except for annual card
Investments, 1nclud|ng(::l)w|dends 6,531 8,346 fees which are deferred and amortized on a straight-hne basis
Trading account assets 3,299 2,934 ) d d wh
Other mierest 328 361 over a 12-month period Reward costs are recognized when
Total interest revenue $54,294 $58,135 points are earned by the customers
Interest expense Asset management and other fiduciary fees include fees
Deposits? $ 7,950 $ 7.830 carned for securities safekeeping and processing services,
Federal funds purchased and securities loaned performing transfer, paying agent, or dividend reinvestment
or sold under agreements to repurchase 409 387 services, fees from ciean or documentary letters of credit, and
Trading account liabilities") 302 322 endorsements or other guarantee arrangements that facilitate
Short-term borrowmgs 433 465 customer financing or performance
Long-term debt 3,435 4,208 The following table presents commissions and fees
Total interest expense $12,529 $13,212 revenue for the years ended December 31
Net interest revenue $41,765 $44.923
Provision for loan losses 9,623 21,225 In millions of dollars 2011 2010
Net interest revenue after Asset management and other fiduciary fees $ 3279 $ 3,236
provision for loan losses $32,142 $23,698 Credit cards and bank cards 3112 3,373
Transaction services 1,289 1,215
(1) Certain interest expense on Trading account hhabiities 1s reported as a Insurance related commissions 816 747
reduction of 1nterest revenue from Trading account assets
(2) Includes deposit snsurance fees and chargis of $1 2 bithion and $851 Checlung:-related 743 833
muthon for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively Corporate finance 473 363
Loan servicing 266 319
Other 1,352 1,278
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Total commissions and fees 511,341

$11,564
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6 PRINCIPAL TRANSACTIONS

Principal transactions revenue consists of realized and
unrealized gains and losses from trading activities Trading
activities include revenues from fixed income, equities, credit
and commodities products, as well as foreign exchange
transactions Not included in the table below 1s the impact of
net interest revenue related to trading activities, which 1s an
itegral part of trading activities’ profitability See Note 4 1o
the Consolidated Financial Statements for information about
net interest revenue related to trading activity The following
table presents principal transactions revenue for the years
ended December 31

In millions of dollars 2011 2010

Interest rate contracts | $3,603 $3.,096
Foreign exchange contracts @ 1,871 1,667
Equity contracts ® 118 153
Commodity and other contracts (20) (267)
Credit derpvatves 208 166
Total §5,777 $4.815

(1)  Includes revenues from government securities and corporate debt,
municipal secunties, preferred stock, mortgage securities, and other debt
instruments Also includes spot and forward trading of curmrencies and
exchange-traded and over-the-counter (OTC) cumrency options, options
on fixed income securities, interest rate swaps, CUITENCy SWaps, swap
options, caps and fleors, financal futures, OTC options, and forward
contracts on fixed income securities

(2) Includes revenues from foreign exchange spot, forward, option and swap
contracts, as well as translation gains and losses

(3) Includes revenues frem common, preferred and convertible prefemred
stock, convertible corporate debt, equity-linked notes, and exchange-
traded and OTC equity options and warrants

(4) Includes revenues from cominodity swaps, options, futures and forward
contracts and various commodity trades

(5) Includes revenues from structured credit products

25

7 INCENTIVE PLANS

Stock Award Programs
The Company participates in various Citigroup stock-based
compensation programs under which Citigroup administers
award programs involving grants of stock options, restricted or
deferred stock awards, and stock payments for employees of
Citigroup and its subsidiaries, including Citibank The awards
are denominated in (and, 1n most cases, are payable in) shares
of Citigroup common stock The award programs are used to
attract, retain and motivate officers, employees and non-
employee directors of Citigroup and 1ts subsidianes, to
provide incentives for their contributtons to the long-term
performance and growth of Citigroup and 1ts subsidiarnies, and
to align their interests with those of Ciigroup’s stockholders
The plans are admimistered by the Personnel and
Compensation Commuttee (the Commuittee) of the Citigroup
Board of Directors, which 1s composed entirely of independent
non-employee directors Executives and employees of the
Company participate i the Ciugroup programs described
below to the extent they meet the eligibility criteria established
by Citigroup The Company makes cash payments to
reimburse Citigroup for the cost of the awards when shares are
delivered to partictpants (the payments are based on the
market value of the vested stock awards at such time, or the
spread realized by the employee on an option exercise), but
the Company recogmizes compensation expense for the awards
as described below

For all stock award programs, during the apphcable
vesting period, the shares awarded are not i1ssued to
parucipants (1n the case of a deferred stock award) or cannot
be sold or transferred by the participants (in the case of a
restricted stock award), until after the vesting conditions have
been sausfied Recipients of deferred stock awards do not
have any stockholder rights unt:l shares are delivered to them,
but they generally are entitled to receive dividend-equivalent
payments during the vesung period Recipients of restncted
stock awards are entitled to a hmited voting night and to
recerve dividend-equivalent payments during the vesting
period {Dividend equivalents are paid through payroll and
recorded as an offset to retained earnings on those shares
expected to vest ) Once a stock award vests, the shares may
become freely transferable, but in the case of certain
executives, may be subject to transfer restrictions by their
terms or a stock ownership commutment Dividend equivalents
and any other cash payments to participants who are employed
by the Company are pard directly by the Company

The total expense to be recogmzed for the stock awards
represents the fair value of Citigroup common stock at the
date of grant The expense 15 recognized as a charge ratably
over the vesting period, except for those awards granted to
retirement-eligible employees, and salary stock and other
immediately vested awards For awards of deferred stock
expected to be made to retirement-ehigible employees, the
charge to income 15 accelerated based on the dates the
retirement rules are or will be met If the retirement rules will
have been met on or prior to the expected award date, the
entire esiimated expense 1s recogmzed n the year prior to
grant (n the same manner as cash incentive compensation 1s
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accrued, rather than amortized over the applicable vesting
period of the award Salary stock and other immediately
vested awards generally were granted 1n lieu of cash
compensation and are also recognized 1 the year prior to the
grant in the same manner as cash compensation 1s accrued
Certain stock awards with performance conditions or certain
clawback provisions may be subject to variable accounting,
pursuant to which the assocrated charges fluctuate with
changes in Crigroup’s stock price over the applicable vesting
periods The total amount that will be recognized as expense
cannot be determined in full until the awards vest

Ciugroup’s primary stock award program 1s the Capnal
Accumulation Program (CAP) Generally, CAP awards of
restricted or deferred stock constitute a percentage of annual
discretionary incentive compensation and vest ratably over
three- or four-year periods, beginning on the first anniversary
of the award date

In January 2010, the percentages of total annual
meentives awarded pursuant to CAP were reduced and instead
awarded as deferred cash awards primarily in the U S and the
U K The deferred cash awards are subject to two-year and
four-year vesting schedules, but the other terms and conditions
are the same as CAP awards made in those years The deferred
cash awards earn a return during the vesting period based on
LIBOR, 1n 2010 only, a portion of the award was denominated
as a stock umit, the value of which will fluctuate based on the
price of Citigroup common stock In both cases, only cash s
delivered at vesting

Stock Option Programs

While Citigroup no longer grants options as part of its annual
incentive award programs, Citigroup may grant stock options
to employees on a one-time basis, as sign-on awards or as
retention awards All stock options are granted en Ciigroup
common stock with exercise prices that are no less than the
fair market value at the time of grant (which 1s defined under
Citigroup’s 2009 Stock Incentive Plan to be the NYSE closing
price on the trading day immediately preceding the grant date
or on the grant date for grants to executive officers)

On Apnil 20, 2010, Citigroup made an option grant to a
group of employees (including employees of the Company)
who were not ehigible for the October 29, 2009, broad-based
grant described below The options were awarded with an
exercise price equal to the NY SE closing price on the trading
day immediately preceding the date of grant (348 80) The
options vest in three annual installments beginning on October
29,2010 The options have a six-year term

On October 29, 2009, Citigroup made a one-time broad-
based option grant to employees worldwide, including
employees of the Company The options have a six-year term,
generally vest in three equal instaliments over three years,
beginning on the first anmiversary of the grant date, and have
an exercise price of $40 80
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Profit Sharing Plan
In October 2010, the Commuttee approved awards under the
2010 Key Employee Profit Sharing Plan (KEPSP) to certain
executtves (including executives of the Company), which may
entitle participants te profit-sharing payments based on an
mutial performance measurement period of January 1, 2010
through December 31, 2012 Generally, if a participant
remains employed and all other conditions to vesting and
payment are satisfied, the participant will be entitled to an
imtial payment in 2013, as well as a holdback payment in
2014 that may be reduced based on performance during the
subsequent holdback period (generally, January 1, 2013
through December 31, 2013) If the vesting and performance
conditions are satisfied, a participant’s initial payment will
equal two-thirds of the product of the cumulative pretax
income of Citicorp (as defined in the KEPSP) for the initial
performance period and the participant’s applicable
percentage The imitial payment will be paid after January 20,
2013, but no later than March 15, 2013

The participant’s holdback payment, 1f any, will equal the
product of (a) the lesser of cumulative pretax income of
Citicorp for the iniial performance period and cumulative
pretax income of Citicorp for the imtial performance period
and the holdback period combined (generally, January 1, 2010
through December 31, 2013), and (b) the participant’s
applicable percentage, less the initial payment, provided that
the holdback payment may not be less than zero The holdback
payment, 1f any, witl be paid after January 20, 2014, but no
later than March 15, 2014

On February 14, 2011, the Committee approved grants of
awards under the 2011 KEPSP to certain other executive
officers of Citigroup (including the Company) These awards
have a performance period of January t, 2011 to December
31, 2012 and other terms of the awards are similar to the 2010
KEPSP

Additionally, the Company operates and may from time
to time introduce other incentive plans for certain employees
that have an incentive-based award component Individually,
these plans are not deemed matertal

Compensation Expense

The Company recogmized compensation expense of $218
million 1n 2011, relating to 1ts stock-based compensation
programs
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8 RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Pension and Postretirement Benefits
The Company’s employees participate in several non-
contributory defined benefit pension plans sponsored by
Citigroup covering certain U S employees The Company also
participates in various defined benefit pension and termination
indemnuty plans covering employees outside the United States
Effective January 1, 2008, Citigroup’s U S qualified pension
plan was frozen for most employees Accordingly, no
additional compensation-based contributions were credited to
the cash balance formula for existing plan participants after
2007 However, certain employees covered under the prior
final pay formula continue to accrue benefits The Company
also participates in postretirement health care and hfe
insurance benefits offered by Citsgroup to certain eligible U S
retired employees, as well as to certain ehigible employees
outside the United States

The Company’s allocated share of the related net funded
status of the plans 1s recognized in the Company’s Balance
Sheet Forthe U S pension plans, the Company recognized a
funded status of $(660) million and ${494) million for the
years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively For
the non-U § pension plans, the Company recognized a funded
status of $(262) million and $(226) million for the years ended
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively For the U §
postretirement plans, the Company recogmzed a funded status
of $(469) million and $(502) mullhion for the years ended
December 31, 2011 and 2019, respectively For the non-U 8§
postretirement plans, the Company recogmzed a funded status
of $(264) muillion and $(269) million for the years ended
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively

The Company’s allocated share of the related net
amount recogmzed 1n equity 1in the Company’s Consolidated
Balance Sheet For the U 5 pension plans, the Company
recognized a net amount in equity of $2,118 milhien and
$1,860 milhon for the years ended December 31, 2011 and
2010, respectively For the non-U S pension plans, the
Company recognized a net amount in equity of $(1,162)
million and $(1,219) mullion for the years ended December
31, 201 land 2010, respectively For the U S postretirement
plans, the Company recognized a net amount 1n equity of
$71 million and $124 million for the years ended
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively For the
non-U S postretirement plans, the Company recognized
a net amount 1n equity of $70 million and $92 mullion for
the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively

The Company’s allocated share of the related (benefit)
expense for the plans 15 recognized 1n the Company’s
Statement of Income For the 1J § pension plans, the
Company recogmzed a net benefit af $60 milhion and 351
mullion for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively Forthe non-U S pension plans, the Company
recognized a net expense of $186 million and $132 muilhon for
the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively
For the U S postretirement plans, the Company recognzed a
net expense of $19 million and $31 million for the years ended
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively For the non-U S
postretirement plans, the Company recogmzed a net expense

27

of $31 million and $34 million for the years ended December
31,2011 and 2010, respectively

Plan Assumptions -

Cingroup utilizes a number of assumptions, which are set by
the plans' management, to determing plan obligations and
expense Changes in one or a combination of these
assumptions will have an impact on the Company’s pension
and postreurement PBO, funded status and benefit expense
Changes in the plans’ funded status resulting from changes 1n
the PBO and fair value of plan assets will have a
corresponding impact on Accumulated other comprehensive
incame (foss) A discussion of certain assumptions follows

Discount Rate
The discount rates for the U S pension and postretrement
plans were selected by reference to a Citigroup-specific
analysis ustng each plan’s specific cash flows and compared
with high qualhity corperate bond indices for reasonableness
Crtigroup’s policy 1s to round to the nearest five hundredths of
a percent Accordingly, at December 31, 2011, the discount
rate was set at 4.70% for the pension plans and 4 30% for the
postretirement plans At December 31, 2010, the discount rate
was set at 5 45% for the pension plans and 5 10% for the
postretirement plans

The discount rates for the non-U S pension and
postretirement plans are selected by reference to high quality
corporate bond rates in countries that have developed
corporate bond markets However, where developed corporate
bond markets do not exist, the discount rates are selected by
reference to local government bond rates with a premium
added to reflect the additional risk for corporate bonds

Expected Rate of Return
Citigroup determines 1ts assumptions for the expected rate of
return on plan assets for 1ts U S pension and postretirement
plans using a “building block™ approach, which focuses on
ranges of anticipated rates of return for each asset class A
welghted range of nominal rates 15 then determined based on
target allocations to each asset class Market performance over
a number of earher years 1s evaluated covering a wide range of
economic conditions to determine whether there are sound
reasons for projecting any past trends

Citigroup considers the expected rate of return to be a
long-term assessment of return expectations and does not
anticipate changing this assumption annually unless there are
significant changes 1n iInvestment strategy or economic
conditions This contrasts with the selection of the discount
rate, future compensation increase rate, and certain other
assumptions, which are reconsidered annually 1n accordance
with generally accepted accounting principies

The expected rate of return for the U S pension and
postretirement plans was 7 50% at December 31, 2011 and
2010 Actual returns in 2011 and 2010 were greater than the
expected retums This expected amount reflects the expected
annual appreciation of the plan assets and reduces the annual
pension expense of Citigroup It 1s deducted from the sum of
service cost, interest and other components of pension expense
to arrive at the net pension (benefit) expense
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Third-party investment managers and advisors provide
their services to Citigroup’s U § pension plans Assets are
rebalanced as the Pension Plan Investment Commtttee deems
appropriate Citigroup’s mvestment strategy, with respect to
its pension assets, 1S to maintain a globally diversified
investment portfolio across several asset classes that, when
combined with Citigroup’s contributions to the plans, will
maintain the plans’ ability to meet all required benefit
obligations

Investment Strategy

Citigroup’s global pension and postretirement funds’
mnvestment strategies are (o invest in a prudent manner for the
exclusive purpose of providing benefits to participants The
investment strategies are targeted to produce a total return
that, when combined with Crtigroup’s contributions to the
funds, will maintain the funds’ ability to meet all required
benefit obligations Rusk 1s controlled through diversification
of asset types and investments 1n domestic and international
equities, fixed-imcome securities and cash and short-term
nvestments The target asset allocation 1n most locations
outside the U S 1s to have the majority of the assets in equity
and debt securities These allocations may vary by geographic
region and country depending on the nature of applicable
obligations and various other regional considerations The
wide vaniation 1n the actual range of plan asset allocations for
the funded non-U S plans 15 a result of differing local
statutory requirements and economic conditions For example,
1n certain countries local law requires that all pension plan
assets must be invested in fixed-income investments,
government funds, or local-country securities

Stgnificant Concentrations of Risk in Plan Assets

The assets of Crtigroup’s pension plans are diversified to limut
the impact of any individual investment The U S pension
plan 1s diversified across multiple asset classes, with publicly
traded fixed income, hedge funds and private equity
representing the most sigmficant asset allocations Investments
in these three asset classes are further diversified across funds,
managers, strategtes, vintages, sectors and geographies,
depending on the specific charactenstics of cach asset class
The pension assets for Citigroup’s largest non-U S plans are
primarily invested 1n publicly traded fixed income and
publicly traded equity secunties

Oversight and Risk Management Practices

The framework for Citigroup’s pensions oversight process
includes monitoring of retirement plans by plan fiduciaries
and/or management at the global, regional or country level, as
appropriate Independent risk management contributes to the
risk oversight and monitoring for Citigroup’s U S pension
plans and largest non-U S pension plans Although the
specific components of the oversight process are tailored to
the requirements of each region, country and Plan, the
following elements are common to Citigroup’s menitoring and
risk management process

*  Periodic asset/habihty management studies and strategic
asset allocation reviews

e Periodic monitoring of funding levels and funding ratios

¢ Periodic momtoring of compliance with asset allocation
guidelines

+ Periodic momtoring of asset class and/or investment
manager performance against benchmarks

+ Penodic nsk capital analysis and stress testing

Defined Contribution Plans
Citigroup admimsters defined contribution plans in the U §
and 1n certain non-U S locations, all of which are
admimustered tn accordance with local laws The Company
participates tn many of these plans The most significant of
these plans 1s the Citigroup 401 (k) Plan in the U §
The Company participates tn the Citigroup 401(k) Plan,

a defined contribution plan, under which ehgible U S
employees recerve matching contributions of up to 6% and 4%
of their pay 1n 2011 and 2010, respectively, subject to
statutory limits Effective January 1, 2011, the maximum
amount of matching contributions on employee deferral
contributions made tnto this plan was increased from 4% to
6% of eligible pay, subject to statutory limits The matching
contribution 15 1nvested according to participants’ individual
elecuons Additionally, for eligible employees whose
compensation 1s $100,000 or less, a fixed contribution of up to
2% of compensation is provided

The Company’s pretax expense assoclated with the
Citigroup 401(k) Plan amounted to approximately $206
milhion and $158 million for the years ended December 31,
2011 and 2010, respectively

The Company sponsors the Critbuilder 401(k) Plan for
Puerto Rico, a defined contribution plan, under which eligible
employees receive a two for one matching contribution up to
the lesser of 3% and 2% of eligible pay or the first $8,000 and
$5,000 in employee deferrals 1n 2011 and 2010, respectively,
for all employees in Puerto Rico at all compensation levels
The matching contribution 1s invested according to
participants’ individual electtons Additionally, for ehgible
employees whose compensation 1s $100,000 or less, a fixed
contribution of up to 2% of compensation 1s provided

The Company’s pretax expense associated with the
Cittbuilder 401(k) Plan for Puerto Rico amounted to
approximately $2 million for the years ended December 31,
2011 and 2010

Postemployment Plans

Citigroup sponsors U S postemployment plans that provide
income contmuation and health and welfare benefits to certain
ehgible U S employees on long term disability For the years
ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company’s allocated
share of the plans’ funded status recognized in the Company’s
Balance Sheet was $(321) mitlion and $(278) mllion,
respectively The Company’s allocated share of the related net
amount recogmzed 1n equity i the Company’s Consohdated
Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 was $157
million and $125 million, respectively The Company’s
allocated share of the net expense recogmized 1n the Statement
of Income during 2011 and 2010 were $55 milhion and $48
million, respectively
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9. INCOME TAXES

The Company 15 included in the Citigroup consolidated
federal tax return and 1s party to a tax sharing agreement with

Deferred income taxes for the years ended December 31
related to the following

Citigroup Under such agreement, the Company 15 entitled to In millions of doliars 2011 2010
a tax benefit for 1ts losses and credits that are recognized 1n Deferred tax assets
Ciugroup's Consolidated Financial Statements Settlements Credit loss deduction $ 9839 $12,317
between the Company and Citigroup of current taxes occur Deferred compensation and employee benefits 2,155 1,080
throughout the year The Company also files in consolidated Restructuring and settlement reserves 682 262
and combined state income tax returns with Citigroup and/or Unremtted foreign earnings 3,752 2,886
other of 1ts subsidiaries, and files other separate state income Cash flow hedges 1,339 963
tax returns Investments and loan basis differences 1,887 4,792
Credit valuation adjustment on Company-1ssued
In miions of dollars 2011 2010 debt 21 116
Current Tax credit and net operating loss carryforwards 10,784 10,950
Federal 3 16 $ (303) Intangibles 256 (162)
Foreign 2,473 2,268 Other 772 592
State 9 377 Gross deferred tax assets $31,445 $33,796
Total current income taxes $2,498 $2,342 Valuation allowance — —
Deferred Deferred tax assets after valuation allowance  $31,445  $33,796
Federal $ (133 § (204 Deferred tax habilitics
Foreign 465 378 Fixed assets and leases- § (736) § (634)
State 84 (231) Other deferred tax Labil 421
Total deferred income taxes 5 416 3 (57 ther delerred tax Labilities (1,089) (421)
Interest-related items (159 (370)
Provision for income tax on confinuing Gross deferred tax habilities $ (1,984) $(1,425)
operations before noncontrolling Net deferred tax asset $29.461 $32.371
nterests™ $2,914 $2,285
Provision (benefit) for income taxes on
discontinued operations 115 {395)
Provision (benefit) for mcome taxes on
cumulative effect of accounting changes — (4,788)

Income tax expense (benefit) reported in
stockhelder’s equity related to

Foreign currency translation (360) {111)
Secunttics available-for-sale 2,291 907
Employee stock plans — (7)
Cash flow hedges (148) 341
Citibank’s portion of Citigroup’s
pension hiability adjustments (115) {152)
Income taxes before noncontrolling
interests 34,697 $(1,9200

(1) Inctudes the effect of secunities transactions and OTTI losses resulting
a provision (benefit) of $(175) million and $(616) mllion n 2011, and
$652 muliton and $(424) mullion wn 2010, respectively

The reconciliation of the federal statutory income tax rate
to the Company's effective income tax rate applicable to
mcome from continuing operations {before noncontrolling
interests) for the years ended December 31 was as follows

2011 2010
Federal statutory rate 350% 35 0%
State income taxes, net of federal benefit 03 06
Foreign income tax rate differential (74) (84)
Tax advantaged investments (55) (63)
Other, net {05) (03
Effective income tax rate 21 9% 20 6%
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The following 1s a roll-forward of the Company’s
unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended December 31

In mullions of dollars 2011 2010
Total unrecognized tax benefits at January 1, $1,813  §$1.661
Net amount of increases for current year’s tax
positicns 41 60
Gross amount of increases for prior years’ tax
positions 121 363
Gross amount of decreases for prior years’ tax
positions (344) (253)
Amounts of decreases relating to settlements (1 (11
Reductions due to lapse of statutes of lunitation (18) (n
Foreign exchange, acquisitions and dispositions (N 4

Total unrecogmzed tax benefits at December 31  $1,595 31,813

The total amount of unrecogmzed tax benefits at December
31,2011 and 2010 that, 1f recogmzed, would affect the
Company’s effective tax rate was $1,042 million and $973
million, respectively The remainder of the uncertatn tax
positions has offsetting amounts in other jurisdictions or these
positions are temporary differences

CITIBANK, N A 2010-2011 FINANCIALS



Interest and penalties (not included 1n "total unrecognized tax benefits” 1n the 1able above) are a component of the Prowvision for

thcome taxes

In millions of dollars

Total interest and penalties in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at January 1,

Total interest and penalties in the Consolidated Statement of Income

Total interest and penalties in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31

201 2010
Pretax Net of tax Pretax Net of tax
$226 $150 $277 $165
28 17 40) (24)
262 171 226 150

The Company 1s currently under audit by the Internal
Revenue Service and other major taxing jursidictions around the
world Thus, 1t 15 reasonably possible that significant changes n
the gross balance of unrecogmzed tax benefits may occur within
the next 12 months, however, the Company does not expect
such audits to result 1n amounts that would cause a significant
change to s effective tax rate

Citigroup expects to conclude the IRS audit of its U S
federal consohdated income tax returns for the years 2006-2008
and may resolve certain 1ssues with the IRS Appeals for the
years 2003-2005 within the next 12 months The gross uncertain
tax posittons of the Company at December 31, 2011 for the
items that may be resolved for 2003-2008 are as much as $775
mtllion plus gross interest of $70 milhon Because of the
number of 1ssues remammg to be resolved, the potential tax
benefit to continuing operations could be anywhere 1n a range
between $0 and $430 mithon

The following are the major tax jurisdictions 1n which the
Company and 1ts affiliates operate and the earliest tax year
subject to examination

Jurisdiction Tax year

United States 2006
New York Siate and City 2005
United Kingdom 2010
Ireland 2007
Japan 2009
Hong Kong 2006
Singapore 2005
Brazi! 2007
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Foreign pretax earnings approximated $11 8 billion in 2011
and $10 9 billion 1n 2010 Asa U S corporation, Citibank and
its U S subsidiaries are subject to U § taxation currently on all
foreign pretax earnings earned by a foreign branch  Pretax
earnings of a foreign subsidiary or affiliate are subjectto U §
taxation when effectively repatriated The Company provides
income taxes on the undistributed earnings of non-U S
subsidiaries, except to the extent that such earnings are
indefinitely invested outside the United States At December
31,2011 and 2010, respectively, $28 9 billion and $25 6 billion
of accumulated undistributed earnings of non-U S subsidiaries
were (ndefinitely invested At the existing U S federal income
tax rate, additional taxes (net of U S foreign tax credits) of $7 3
billion and $6 5 billion would have to be provided (f such
earnings were remitted currently The current year's effect on
the iIncome tax expense from continuing operations is included
in the “Foreign income tax rate differential” line in the
reconciliation of the federal statutory rate to the Company’s
effecive income tax rate

Income taxes are not provided on the Company’s “savings
bank base year bad debt reserves” that arose before 1988,
because, under current U S tax rules, such taxes will become
payable only to the extent such amounts are distributed 1n
excess of lmits prescribed by federal law At both December
31,2011 and 2010, the amount of the base year reserves totaled
approximately $358 mullion (subject to a tax of $125 million)

Foreign tax credit carryforwards expire between 2016
through 2021 and the state and local net operating loss
carryforwards between 2012 and 2031

The Company had no valuation allowance on deferred tax
assels at December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010
Although 1t 1s not assured, the Company believes that the
realization of the recogmzed net deferred tax asset of § 29
billien at December 31, 2011 1s more likely than not based on
the recognition of 1ts federal and certain state deferred tax assets
in Citigroup’s financial statements and expectations as to future
taxable income 1n junisdictions in which the other deferred tax
assets arise and available tax planning strategies, as defined in
ASC 740, Income Taxes (formerly SFAS 109), that could be
implemented 1f necessary to prevent a carryforward from
expiring
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10 FEDERAL FUNDS/SECURITIES BORROWED,
LOANED, AND SUBJECT TO REPURCHASE/RESALE
AGREEMENTS

Federal funds sold and securities borrowed or purchased under
agreements to resell, at their respective carrying values,

consisted of the following at December 31

In militons of doliars 2011 2010

Federal funds sold s 37§ 227

Secunties purchased under agreements to resell 63,278 38,874
Deposits paid for secunties borrowed 11,422 4,205
Total $ 74,737 $43,306

Federal funds purchased and securities loaned or sold under
agreements to repurchase, at their respective carrying values,
consisted of the following at December 31

In millions of dollars 2011 2010

Federal funds purchased $§ 688 § 478

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase 26,206 12,307
Deposits received for secunties loaned 1,123 —
Total - 5 28,017 $12,785

The resale and repurchase agreements represent
collateralized financing transactions The Company executes
these transactions primanly to facilitate customer financing
activity

It 1s the Company’s policy to take possession of the
underlying collateral, momtor its market value relative to the
amounts due under the agreements and, when necessary, require
prompt transfer of additional collateral in order to maintain
contractual margin protection Collateral typically consists of
government and government-agency securities, corporate and
municipal bonds, and mortgage-backed and other asset-backed
secunities In the event of counterparty default, the financing
agreement provides the Company with the night to liquidate the
collateral held

Resale and repurchase agreements are carned at the amount
of cash initially advanced or received, plus accrued interest, as
specified in the respective agreements

Securities borrowing and lending agreements are recorded
at the amount of cash advanced or received and are
collateralized principally by government and government-
agency securities and corporate debt and equity securities With
respect to securities loaned, the Company receives cash
collateral in an amount generally 1n excess of the market value
of the securities loaned The Company monitors the market
value of securities borrowed and securities loaned on a daily
basis and obtains or posts additional cellateral 1n order 1o
maintain contractual margin protection
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11 TRADING ACCOUNT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Trading account assets and Trading account liabiliies, at fair

value, consisted of the following at December 31

In muillions of dollars 2011 2010
Trading account assets
Mortgage-backed secunties

U S government-sponsored

agency guaranteed § 3322 § 3,028

Prime 12 146

Alt-A —_ 27

Subprime — 17

Non-U § residential 16 42

Commercal — 141
Total mortgage-backed secunties § 3,850 $ 3,401
U 8 Treasury and federal agencies

U S Treasuries $ 1,853 $ 7,507

Agency obligations — 132
Total U S Treasury and federal

agencies 5 1853 $ 7639
State and mumicipal securities $ 1,292 $ 1,185
Foreign government securities 36,142 34,118
Corporate 18,471 20,245
Dervatives @ 71,684 57,451
Equity securities 10,144 10,346
Asset-backed securitiest" 47 750
Other debt secunties 14,479 14,224
Total trading account assets $157,962 $149,359
Trading account habilities
Secunties sold, not yet purchased $8,553 $ 87225
Denvatives @ 56,388 47,368
Total trading account hiabihities § 64,941 $ 55,593

(1} The Company invests in mongage-backed and asset-backed securities
These secunitizations are generally considered VIEs The Company's
maxtmurm exposure to loss from these VIEs 15 equal to the carrying

amount of the secunties, which 1s reflected tn the table above For

mortgage-backed and asset-backed secunittzations 1 which the Company

has other tnvolvement, informatien s provided in Note 19 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements

(2) Presented net, pursuant (o master netting agreements See Note 20 to the

Consolidated Financial Staternents for a discussion regarding the

accounting and reporting for derivatives
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12 INVESTMENTS

Overview

In millions of dollars 2011 2010
Securnities available-for-sale §201,204 $220,809
Debt secunties held-to-matunty 6,497 24,903
Non-marketable equity securities carned at farr value & 50 189
Non-marketabie equity securities carried at cost 7,538 7,576
Total investments $215,289 $253.477

(1) Recorded at amortized cost less impairment on securittes that have credit related impairment

(2) Unrealized pains and losses for non-marketable equity secunities carried at fair value are recogmzed tn eamngs

(3) Non-marketable equity securities carmed at cost primaniy consist of shares 1ssued by the Federal Reserve Bank, the Federal Home Loan Banks, foreigh central
banks and various cleanng houses of which Citigroup 15 a member

Secunities Available-for-Sale
The amortized cost and fair value of securities available-for-sale at December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 were as follows

2011 2010
Gross Gross Gross Gross
Amortized unreahzed unrealized Amortized unrealized unrealized
In nullions of dollars cost gamns losses Fair value cost gains losses Fair value
Debt secunties available-for-sale
Montgage-backed securines!"
US government-agency
guaranteed $ 42,401 $1,370 $ 36 $ 43,735 | § 22,723 $ 402 $ 235 $ 22,390
Prime 6 —_ —_ 6 1,660 —_ 172 1,488
Alt-A — —_ — — I — — 1
Non-U S residenual 4,670 11 2 4,659 315 1 — 36
Commercial —_ _ —_— —_ 106 i 29 78
Total mortgage-backed secunities  § 47,077 §1,381 5 58 $ 48,400 | $ 24,805 $§ 404 § 436 $ 24,773
U S Treasury and federal
agency securities
US Treasury § 27,290 $1,342 5 - $ 28,632 | $ 45,667 § 431 § 45 $ 46,053
Agency obligations 21,436 553 2 21,987 35,194 360 40 35,714
Total U S Treasury and federal
agency securities § 48,726 $1,895 5 2 § 50,619 : S 81,061 5 791 $ 85 $ 81,767
State and mumcipal® 16,185 122 2,432 13,875 14,836 16 2,383 12,465
Foreign government 69,054 327 336 69,045 80,926 566 363 81,129
Corporate 5,333 28 9 5,352 10,626 53 18 10,663
Asset-backed securities'"! 9,801 2 68 9,735 7.657 4 34 7,627
Other debt secunties 647 12 — 659 1,358 25 60 1,323
Total debt securities available-
for-sale $196,823 $3,767 §2,905 $197,685 | $221,269 $1.861 $3,379 $219,751
Marketable equity securities
avallable-fot-sale 2,919 602 2 3519 t 8§ 373 $ 683 $ — $ 1,058
Total secunties available-for-sale $199,742 $4,369 $2,907 $201,204 ! $221.642 $2,546 $3,379 $220,809

(1) The Cempany invests in mortgage-backed and asset-backed secunities These secuntizations are generally considered VIEs The Company’s maximum exposure (o
loss from these VIEs 15 equal to the carrying amount of the secunties, which 1s reflected 1n the table above For morigage-backed and asset-backed securitizations
in which the Company has other imvolvement, see Note 19 to the Conselidated Financial Statements

(2) The gross unrealized losses on state and municipal debt secunities are pnmanly atinbutable to the result of yields on taxable fixed ncome nstruments decreasing
relauvely faster than the general tax-exempt mumicipal yields and the effects of fair value hedge accounting

At December 31, 2011, the amortized cost of The AFS mortgage-backed secunities portfolio fair value
approximately 2,000 investments in equity and fixed-income balance of $48 400 billion consists of $43 735 billion of
securities exceeded their fair value by $2 907 billion Of the government-sponsored agency secunities, and $4 665 billion of
$2 907 ithon, the gross unrealized loss on equity securities privately sponsored securities, of which the majority 1s backed
was $2 million Of the remainder, $289 million represents by mortgages that are not Alt-A or subprime
fixed-income investments that have been in a gross- As discussed in more detail below, the Company conducts
unrealized-loss position for less than a year and, of these, 99% and documents periodic reviews of all securities with
are rated investment grade, $2 616 billion represents fixed- unrealized losses to evaluate whether the impairment 1s other
income investments that have been 1n a gross-unrealized-loss than temporary Any credit-related impairment related to debt
position for a year or more and, of these, 98% are rated securities the Company does not plan to sell and 15 not hikely
investment grade to be required to sell 15 recognized tn the Consolidated

iz
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Statement of Income, with the non-credit-related impairment
recognized in AOCI For other impaired debt secunues, the
entire iImpairment 1s recognized n the Consolidated Statement

of Income

The table below shows the fair value of investments in available-for-sale securities that have been tn an unrealized loss position
for less than 12 months, or for 12 months or longer, each as of December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010

Less than 12 months 12 months or longer Total
Gross Gross Gross
unrealized unrealized unreahzed

In millions of dollars Fair value losses Fair value losses Fair value losses
December 31, 2011
Securities available-for-sale
Morigage-backed secunties

U S govemment-agency guaranteed § 5392 $3 § 36 s 3 § 5,428 § 36

Prime —_ —_ f— —_ — —_

Alt-A —_ — — — —_ —_

Non-U S residential 3,418 22 57 — 3,475 22

Commercial — — — — _— —
Total mortgage-backed securities $ 8,810 § 55 s 93 $ 3 § 8,903 5§ 58
U S Treasury and federal agency secunities

U S Treasury 51 — — —_ 51 —_

Agency obligations 1,516 2 — — 1,516 2
Total U S Treasury and federal agency secunities § 1,567 $ 2 5 - 5 — 5 1,567 5 2
State and mumicipal 56 2 11,226 2,430 11,282 2,432
Foreign government 23,947 156 10,937 180 34,884 336
Corporate 1,459 9 3 — 1,462 9
Asset-backed secunities 4,176 65 347 3 4,523 638
Other debt securities 164 — — — 164 —_
Marketable equity secunties available-for-sale 3 2 — — 3 2
Total securities available-for-sale £40,182 $291 $22,606 $2,616 $62,788 $2,907
December 31, 2010
Securities available-for-sale
Morgage-backed secunties

U S government-agency guaranteed $ 8,291 $214 $ 29 $ 21 $8320 § 235

Prime —_— —_— 1,484 172 1,484 172

Alt-A 1 — — _— 1 —

Non-U § residennial — — 135 — 135 —_

Commercial — — 49 29 49 29
Tetal mortgage-backed securities $ 8,292 $214 $ 1,697 § 222 § 9,989 $ 436
U S Treasury and federal agency secunties

U S Treasury 4,446 10 725 35 5,171 45

Agency obligations 53,514 40 — — 5514 40
Total US Treasury and federal agency securities $ 9,960 $ 50 $ 725 $ 35 $10,685 £ 85
State and municipal 577 59 10,842 2,324 11,419 2,383
Foreign government 31,522 246 5,473 117 36,995 363
Corporate 506 4 461 4 967 18
Asset-backed secunties 1,877 33 5 1 1,882 34
Cther debt securities — — 559 60 559 60
Marketable equity securities available-for-sale — — 31 — 31 —
Total securities avallable-for-sale $52,734 $616 $19,793 $2,763 $72,527 $£3,379
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The following table presents the amortized cost and fair value of debt securities available-for-sale by contractual maturity dates,
each as of December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010

2011 2010

Amortized Amortized
In mullions of dollars cost Fair value cost Fair value
Mortgage-backed securities
Due within | year S —_ $ — 3 — $ —
After 1 but within 5 years 412 412 399 372
After 5 but within 10 years 1,957 2,025 303 318
After 10 years @ 44,708 45,963 24,103 24,083
Total $ 47,077 S 48,400 $ 24,805 $ 24773
US Treasury and federal agenctes
Due wathin | year § 4,788 § 4,808 $ 24,476 § 24,505
Afler | but within 5 years 38,0583 39,504 45,150 45,735
Afier 5 but within 10 years 5,508 5,874 10,150 10,187
After 10 years‘® 377 433 1,285 1,340
Total $ 48,726 S 50,619 $ 81,061 $ 81,767
State and munmcipal
Due within | year $ 134 5 135 b} 2 by 2
After | but within 3 years 431 432 87 89
After 5 but within 10 years 131 133 186 187
After 10 years 15,489 13,175 14,561 12,151
Total 8 16,185 $ 13,875 § 14,836 § 12,469
Foreign government
Due within | year § 32,046 $ 31,99 $ 34,036 § 33,509
After 1 but within 5 years 31,090 31,162 41,661 42,326
After 5 but within 10 years 5,668 5,647 4,759 4,832
After 10 vears @ 250 246 470 462
Total $ 69,054 $ 69,045 $ 80,926 $ 81,129
All other @
Due within | year $ 3145 3 3,156 § 1,002 $§ 998
After 1 but withun 3 years 7,431 7,453 14,884 14,897
After 5 but within 10 years 1444 1,439 1,053 1,046
After 10 years @ 3,761 3,698 2,700 2,672
Total $ 15,781 § 15,746 § 19,641 $ 19613
‘Total debt securities available-for-sale 5196,823 $197,685 $221,269 $219,751

{1) Includes mortgage-backed securtttes of U S government-sponsored agencies
(2) investmenis with no stated maturities are included as contractual matunties of greater than 10 years Actual maturities may differ due to call or prepayment rights
(3) Includes corporate, asset-backed and other debt secunities

The following table presents interest and dividends on

investments

In milhons of dollars 2011 2010

Taxable interest $5,773 $7,648
Interest exempt from U S federal income tax 507 423
Dividends 251 275

Total interest and dividends

36,531 38,346
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The following table presents realized gans and losses on all
investments The gross realized investment losses exclude losses
from other-than-temporary-1impairment

In millrons of doilars 2011 2010
Gross realized investment gains $1,799 $2,208
Gross realized investment losses (2,299 (346}

Net realized gains (losses)

5 (500) $1.862

During 2010 and 2011, Ciubank sold several corporate debt
securities and various mortgage-backed and asset-backed
securities that were classified as held-to-matunty These sales
were Ln response to a significant deterioration in the
creditworthiness of the 1ssuers or securities The corporate debt
securities sold during 2010 had a carrying value of $413 mulhon
and Citibank recorded a realized loss of $45 mullion The
mortgage-backed and asset-backed secunities sold during 2011
had a carrying value of $623 milhion and Citibank recorded a

realized loss of $64 million
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Debt Securnities Held-to-Maturity
The carrying value and fair value of debt securities held-to-maturity (HTM) at December 31, 2011 and December 31, 20¢0 were as
follows

Net unrealized

loss Gross Gross
Amortized recogmizedin  Carrying unrealized unreahzed Fair
In nullions of dotlars cost V AOCI value gains losses value
December 31, 2011
Debt secunities held-to-matunty
Mortgage-backed securiies ¥
Prime s 109 $25 $ 84 g 10 § — s§ %
Alt-A 139 13 126 5 12 119
Subprime 3 1 2 — — 2
Non-U § residential 3,487 518 2,969 59 292 2,736
Commercial 513 1 512 4 52 464
Total mortgage-backed secunues 3 4,251 $558 §$ 3,693 § 78 §356 $ 3415
State and municipal 5 112 S 15 s 9 5 11 § — § 108
Corporate 1,862 113 1,749 — 254 1,495
Asset-backed secunities 981 23 958 9 87 880
Total debt securities held-to-maturity § 7,206 $709 § 6,497 § 98 $697 § 5,898
December 31, 2010
Debt securities held-to-matunty
Mortgage-backed secunties
Prime % 4,550 $ 775 $ 3,775 $ 377 5 — $ 4,152
Alt-A 10,835 2,943 7,892 433 62 8,263
Subprime 261 51 210 4 _ 214
Non-U S residential 5,012 794 4218 260 72 4,406
Commercial 793 2 791 — 97 694
Total mortgage-backed securities $21 451 $4,565 $16,886 31,074 $231 £17,729
State and municipal 121 3 118 — — 118
Corporate 6,283 RO 6,203 249 268 6,184
Asset-backed secunities & 1,764 68 1,696 53 54 1,695
Total debt securities held-to-maturity $29,619 $4.716 $24,903 $1,376 $553 $25,726

(1) For secunties transferred to HTM from Trading account assets in 2008, amortized cost 15 defined as the fair value of the securities at the date of ransfer plus any
acecretion income and less any impairments recogmzed in earmings subsequent to transfer For secunties transferred to HTM from AFS in 2008, amortized cost 15
defined as the original purchase cost, plus or munus any accretion or amortization of a purchase discount or premium, less any impairment recognized 1n eamungs

(2y HTM secunties are camed on the Consoltdated Balance Sheet at amortized cost tess any unrealized gams and losses recognized in AOCI The changes in the
values of these securities are not reported 1n the financial statements, except for other-than-temporary impairments For HTM securities, only the credit loss
component of the impatrment 1s recognized 1n earmings, while the remainder of the impatrment is recognized in AOCI

(3) The Company invests tn mortgage-backed and asset-backed secunties These securiizations are generalty considered VIEs The Company’s maxtmunm exposure
to loss from these VIEs 15 equal to the carrytng amount of the securities, which 15 reflected in the table above For morigage-backed and asset-backed
secutihizations in which the Company has other involvement, see Note 19 to the Consohdated Financiai Statements

Citibank has the positive intent and abihity to hold these compared to $4 7 bilhon as of December 31, 2010 The AOCI
securities to maturity absent any unforeseen sigmficant changes balance for HTM securities 1s amortized over the remaining hfe
In circumstances, including detenioration in credit or changes n of the related securities as an adjustment of yield 1n a manner
regulatory capntal requirements consistent with the accretion of discount on the same debt

The net unrealized losses classified in AOCI relate to debt securtties This wiil have no impact on Citibank’s net income
securities reclassified from AFS investments to HTM because the amortization of the unrealized holding loss reported
investmenits (n a prior year Addimonally, for HTM securities in equity will offset the effect on interest income of the
that have suffered credit impairment, dechnes in fair value for accretion of the discount on these securities
reasons other than credit losses are recorded in AOCI The For any credit-related impairment on HTM secunities, the
AOQCI balance was $¢ 7 bilhon as of December 31, 2011, credit loss component 1s recognized 1n earnings
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During the first half of 201 1, Citibank determined that it no
longer had the intent to hold $15 1 bilhion carrying value of
HTM securities to matunty As a result, Citibank reclassified
$8 2 billion carrying value of mortgage-backed, other asset-
backed, state and municipal, and corporate debt securities from
Investments held-to-maturity to Trading account assets
Through December 31, 2011, Citibank has sold to unrelated
third parties substanually all of those HTM securities that were
reclassified 1o Trading account assets earhier in 2011 Citibank
also sold an additional $7 0 billion carrying value of HTM
securities (composed of sales of $2 4 billion to unrelated third
parties and $4 6 billion to a related party, Citicorp Funding
Inc ) As aresult of these actions, a net pretax loss of $2,963
million was recognized 1n the Consolidated Statement of
Income for the year ended December 31, 2011, composed of
gross unrealized gains of $185 million included in Other
revenue, gross unrealized losses of $1,277 million included in
Other-than-temporary impairment losses on investments, and
net realized losses of $1,871 million included in Realized gains
(losses) on sales of investments

Citibank reclassified and sold the securities as part of its
overall efforts to mitigate 1ts nisk-weighted assets (RWA) in
order to comply with significant new regulatory capital
requirements which, although not yet implemented or formally
adopted, are nonetheless currently being used to assess the
forecasted capnal adequacy of Citibank and other large U §
banking orgamzations These regulatory capital changes, which
were largely unforeseen when Citibank imtially reclassified the
debt securiiies from Trading account assets and fnvestments
avaitable-for-sale to fnvestments held-to-maturity in the fourth
quarter of 2008, include (1) the U S Basel I credit and
operational rnisk capital standards, (1) the Basel Commuttee’s
agreed-upon, and the U 8 -proposed, revisions to the market nsk
capital rules, which significantly tncreased the risk weightings
for certain trading book positions, (1n) the Basel Commuittee’s
substantial 1ssuance of Basel 11, which raised the quantty and
quality of required regulatory capital and matenally increased
RWA for secuntization exposures, and (1v) certain regulatory
capital-related provisions in The Dodd-Frank Wall Street
Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010

The table below shows the fair value of debt secunities in HTM that have been 1n an unrecogmzed loss position for less than 12
months or for 12 months or longer as of December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010

Less than 12 months 12 months or longer Total
Gross Gross Gross

Fair unrecogmzed Fair unrecognzed Far unrecogmized
In millions of dollars value losses value losses value losses
December 31, 2011
Debt secunities held-to-maturity
Mortgage-backed secunues § 735 $ 63 31,571 5293 $2,306 $356
Corporate — — 1,427 254 1,427 254
Asset-backed securities 480 71 300 16 780 87
Total debt securities held-to-matunty §$1,215 $134 53,298 $563 $4,513 $697
December 31, 2010
Debt securities held-to-maturity
Meortgage-backed securities $ 339 $30 $13,512 $201 $13,851 231
Corporate 1,584 144 1,579 124 3,183 268
Asset-backed securities 159 11 494 43 653 54
Total debt securities held-to-maturity $2,082 $185 $15,585 $368 $17.667 $553

Excluded from the gross unrecognized losses presented in
the above table are the $0 7 billion and $4 7 billion of gross
unrealized losses recorded 1n AOCI as of December 31, 2011
and December 31, 2010, respectively, maimly related to the
HTM securities that were reclassified from AFS investments
Virtually all of these unrealized losses relate to securities that
have been in a loss position for 12 months or longer at both
December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010

CITIBANK N A 2010-2011 FINANCIALS




The following table presents the carrying value and fair value of HTM debt securities by contractual maturity dates as of December
31, 2011 and December 31, 2010

December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
In mtllrons of doilars Carrying value Fair value Carrying value Fair value
Mortgage-backed secunities
Due within 1 year s — 3 —_ | J— $ —
After | but within 5 years 275 239 245 218
After 5 but within 10 years 238 224 492 433
After 10 years ! 3,180 2,952 16,149 17,078
Total £3,693 §3,415 $16,886 $17,729
State and municipal
Due within 1 year $ 1 $ 1 i — 5 -
Afler 1 but within 5 years 7 7 — —
Afler 5 but within 10 years 3 3 — -
After 10 years " 86 97 118 118
Totzal $ 97 $ 108 $ 118 § 118
All other @
Due withun 1 year $ 8 $ 8 § 259 § 261
After 1 but within 5 years 470 438 1,122 1,201
After 5 but within 10 years 1,404 1,183 4,886 4,765
After 10 years (" 815 746 1,632 1,652
Total § 2,707 §$2375 § 7,809 $ 7.879
Total debt securities held-to-maturity $ 6,497 $ 5,898 $24,903 $25,726

(1) Investments with no stated matunties are included as contractual maturities of greater than 10 years Actual maturities may differ due to call or prepayment nghts
{2) Includes corporate and asset-backed securnies
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Evaluating Investments for Other-Than-Temporary
Impairments
The Company conducts and documents periodic reviews of all
securities with unrealized losses to evaluate whether the
impairment 1s other than temporary

Under the guidance for debt securities, other-than-
temporary impairment (OTTI) 1s recognized in earnings for debt
secunities that the Company has an intent to sett or that the
Company believes it 1s more-likely-than-not that it will be
required te sell prior to recovery of the amortized cost basis For
those securities that the Company does not intend to sell or
expect to be required to sell, credit-related impairment 1s
recognized Iin earnings, with the non-credit-related impairment
recorded 1n AOCI

An unreahzed loss exists when the current fair value of an
individual security 15 less than 1ts amortized cost basis
Unrealized losses that are determined to be temporary 1n nature
are recorded, net of tax, in AQCI for AFS securiues, while such
losses related to HTM secunities are not recorded, as these
investments are carried at their amortized cost For securities
transferred 10 HTM from Trading account assets, amortized cost
1s defined as the fair value of the securities at the date of
transfer, plus any accretion income and less any impairment
recogmzed in earnings subsequent to transfer For securities
transferred to HTM from AFS, amortized cost 1s defined as the
original purchase cost, plus or minus any accretion or
amortization of a purchase discount or premium, less any
impairment recogmized 1n earnings

Regardless of the classification of the securnities as AFS or
HTM, the Company has assessed each position with an
unrealized loss for OTTI Factors considered 1n determining
whether a loss 1s temporary include

» the length of ume and the extent to which fair value has
been below cost,

* the severity of the impairment,

¢ the cause of the impairment and the financial condition and
near-term prospects of the issuer,

+ activity 1n the market of the 1ssuer that may indicate adverse
credit conditions, and

+ the Company’s ability and intent to hold the investment for
a penod of ume sufficient to allow for any anticipated
recovery

The Company’s review for impairment generally entails

¢ dentification and evaluation of investments that have
indications of possible impairment,

¢ analysis of individual investments that have fair values less
than amortized cost, including consideration of the length
of time the investment has been 1n an unreal:zed loss
position and the expected recovery period,

¢ discusston of evidential matter, including an evaluation of
factors or triggers that could cause individual investments
to qualify as having other-than-temporary impairment and
those that would not support other-than-temporary
impatrment, and

¢ documentation of the results of these analyses, as required
under business policies
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For equity securities, management considers the various
factors described above, :ncluding 1ts intent and abihity to hold
the equity security for a period of time sufficient for recovery to
cost or whether 1t 1s more-likely-than-not that the Company will
be required to sell the secunty prior to recovery of its cost basis
Where management lacks that intent or ability, the security’s
decline 1n fair value 1s deemed to be other-than-temporary and 1s
recorded in earnings AFS equity securities deemed other-than-
temporarily impaired are written down to fair value, with the
full difference between fair value and cost recognized in
earnings

Management assesses equity method investments with fair
value less than carrying value for OTTI Fair value 1s measured
as price multiplied by quantity 1f the investee has publicly listed
secunties If the investee 1s not publicly listed, other methods
are used (see Note 22 to the Consolidated Financial Statements)

For impaired equity method investments that the Company
plans to sell prior to recovery of value, or would likely be
required to sell and there 1s no expectation that the fair value
will recover prior (o the expected sale date, the full impairment
1s recogmzed 1n the Consohdated Statement of Income as OTTI
regardless of severity and duration The measurement of the
OTTI does not include parual projected recovenes subsequent
to the balance sheet date

For impaired equity method investments that management
does not plan to sell prior to recovery of value and 15 not hkely
to be required 10 sell, the evaluation of whether an impairment 1s
other than temporary 1s based on (1) whether and when an equity
method investment will recover 1in value and (11) whether the
investor has the intent and ability to hold that tnvestment for a
period of ime sufficient to recover the value The determination
of whether the impairment 1s considered other-than-temporary 15
based on all of the following indicators, regardless of the time
and extent of impairment

¢ Cause of the impairment and the financial condition and
near-term prospects of the 1ssuer, including any specific
events that may influence the operations of the 1ssuer

s [ntent and ability to hold the investment for a period of time
sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in market
value

» Length of ime and extent to which fair value has been less
than the carrying value

At December 31, 2011, Citibank had an equity method
investment 1n Akbank T A § {a Turkish financial institution} as
discussed further below

Excluding the impact of foreign currency translation and
related hedges, the fair value of Citibank’s equity method
investment 1in Akbank had exceeded its carrying value During
the fourth quarter of 2011, however, the fair value of Citibank’s
equity method mvestment 1in Akbank declined, resulting in a
temporary impairment During 2012 to date, Akbank's share
price has recovered significantly and, as of March 23, 2012, the
temporary impairment was approximately $0 2 bullion As of
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December 31, 2011, foreign currency translation and related
hedges on this equity method 1nvestment totaled an additional
cumulative pretax loss of approximately $0 9 billion

On March 23, 2012, Citigroup announced that as part of
Cit1’s ongoing capital planning efforts and in light of general
imprevement 1n equity capital markets globally, Citibank plans
to reduce 1ts ownershup nterest in Akbank T A 8 (Akbank) to
below 10%, subject to appropnate market conditions and
required approvals Citibank currentty holds a 20% equity
interest in Akbank, which it purchased in January 2007 The
current carrying value of the equity method investment 1s $3 4
billion, in addition, hedging costs and translation losses
reflected 1in other comprehensive income (OCI), a component of
equity, total approximately $1 0 billion

As aresult of this decision, 1n the first quarter of 2012
Citibank expects to record an impairment charge related to its
total investment 1n Akbank amounting to approximately 51 1
billion pre-tax ($0 7 bilion afier-tax) This impatrment charge
1s primanly driven by the recognition of all respective net
investment foreign currency hedging and translation losses
previously reflected in OCI as well as a reduction 1n carrying
value of the total investment to reflect closing market price as of
March 23, 2012

For debt securities that are not deemed to be credit
impaired, management assesses whether it intends to sell or
whether 1t 1s more-likely-than-not that 1t would be required to
sell the investment before the expected recovery of the
amortized cost basis In most cases, management has asserted
that 1t has no intent to sell and that it believes 1t 15 not likely to
be required to sell the investment before recovery of its
amotrtized cost basts Where such an assertion cannot be made,
the security’s decline 1n fair value 15 deemed to be other than
temporary and 1s recorded 1n earnings

For debt securities, a critical component of the evaluation
for OTTI 1s the identification of credit impaired securities,
where management does not expect to receive cash flows
sufficient to recover the entire amortized cost basis of the
security For securities purchased and classified as AFS with the
expectation of receiving full principal and interest cash flows as
of the date of purchase, this analysis considers the likelihood of
recetving all contractual principal and interest For securities
reclassified out of the trading category 1n the fourth quarter of
2008, the analysis considers the hikelihood of receving the
expected principal and interest cash flows anticipated as of the
date of reclassification n the fourth quarter of 2008 The extent
of the Company’s analysis regarding credit quality and the stress
on assumptions used 1n the analysis have been refined for
securities where the current fair value or other charactenistics of
the security warrant The paragraphs below descnibe the
Company’s process for identifying credit-related impairments 1n
security types with the most significant unreahzed losses as of
December 31, 2011

Mortgage-backed securittes

For U S mortgage-backed securities (and n particular for Alt-A
and other mongage-backed securities that have significant
unrealized losses as a percentage of amortized cost), credit
impatrment 15 assessed using a cash flow model that esumates
the cash flows on the underlying mortgages, using the security-
specific collateral and transaction structure The model
estimates cash flows from the underlying mortgage loans and
distributes those cash flows to vanious tranches of securities,
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considering the transaction structure and any subordination and
credit enhancements that exist in that structure The cash flow
model incorporates actual cash flows on the mortgage-backed
securities through the current period and then projects the
remaining cash flows using a number of assumptions, tncluding
default rates, prepayment rates and recovery rates {on foreclosed
properties)

Management develops specific assumptions using as much
market data as posstble and includes internal estimates as well
as estimates published by rating agencies and other third-party
sources Default rates are projected by considering current
underlying mortgage loan performance, generally assuming the
default of (1) 10% of current loans, (2) 25% of 30-59 day
dehnquent loans, {3) 70% of 60-90 day delinquent loans and (4)
100% of 91+ day delinquent loans These estimates are
extrapolated along a default timing curve to estimate the total
lifetime pool default rate Other assumpttons used contemplate
the actual collateral attributes, including geographic
concentrations, rating agency loss projections, rating actions and
current market prices

The key assumptions for mortgage-backed securities as of
December 31, 2011 are in the table below

December 31, 2011
Prepayment rate ¢ 1%—8% CRR
Loss severiy 9 45%—95%

(1) Condimional Repayment Rate {CRR) represents the annualized expected
rate of voluntary prepayment of principal for mortgage-backed secunties
over a certatn pertod of tume

Loss severity rates are estimated considering collateral characteristics and
generally range from 45%—60% for prime bonds, 50%—%5% for All-A

bonds and 65%—90% for subpnme bonds

2)

The valuation as of December 31, 2011 assumes that U S
housing prices will decrease 4% 1n 2012, decrease 1% 1n 2013,
remain flat 1n 2014 and increase 3% per year from 2015
onwards, while unemployment 15 8 9% for 2012

In addition, cash flow projections are developed using more
stressful parameters Management assesses the resuits of those
stress tests (including the severity of any cash shortfall indicated
and the likehihood of the stress scenarios actually occurming
based on the underlying pool’s characteristics and performance)
to assess whether management expects to recover the amortized
cost basis of the secunity If cash flow projections indicate that
the Company does not expect to recover its amortized cost basis,
the Company recognizes the estimated credit loss in earnings

State and municipal securities
Citibank’s AFS state and municipal bonds consist mainly of
vonds that are financed through Tender Option Bond programs
or were previously financed 1n this program The process for
identifying credit impairments for these bonds 15 largely based
on third-party credit ratings Individual bond positions are
required to meet minimum ratings requirements, which vary
based on the sector of the bond 1ssuer

Ciubank monitors the bond 1ssuer and tnsurer ratings on a
daily basis The average pertfolio rating, ignoring any insurance,
15 Aal/AA- In the event of a downgrade of the bond below
Aa3/AA- the subject bond 1s specifically reviewed for potential
shortfall in contractual principal and interest The remainder of
Citibank’s AFS and HTM state and mumcipal bonds are
specifically reviewed for credit impairment based on
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imstrument-specific estimates of cash flows, probability of
default and loss given default

For impaired AFS state and municipal bonds that Citibank
plans to sell, or would likely be required to sell and there 1s no
expectation that the fair value will recover prior to the expected
sale date, the full tmpairment 1s recognized in earnings

Recogmition and Measurement of OTTI
The following table presents the total OTTT recognized 1n earnings for the vear ended December 31, 2011

OTTI on Investments Year ended December 31, 2011

In millions of doliars AFS

HTM

Total

Impairment losses related to secunities that the Company does not intend to sell nor will
likely be required to sell

Total OTTI losses recognized during the year ended December 31, 2011 353 § 336 § 389

Less portion of OTTI loss recognized in AOCI {before taxes) 44 110 154
Net impairment losses recognized in earmngs for securities that the Company does not intend

to sell nor will likely be required to sell $§ 9 5 226 $ 235
OTTI losses recogmzed 1n earmings for secunties that the Company mntends to sell

or more-likely-than-not will be required to sell before recovery 247 1,277 1,524
Total impairment losses recognized in earmings §$256 $1,503 $1,759

The following table presents activity during the 12 months of 2011 of the credit-related impairments recogmzed 1n earnings for AFS
and HTM debt securities held as of December 31, 2011 that the Company does not intend to sell nor will hikely be required to sell

OTTI Credit Losses Recogmzed 1n Earnings

Credit impairments

recogmized in earnmngs Credit impairments recogmzed in
on securities not earnings on securities that have

In mullions of dollars previously impared been previously impaired

AFS debt secunties

Mortgage-backed secunities
Prime $— S
Alt-A —
Commercial real estate —_

Total mortgage-backed securities $— $
State and municipal —_
U S Treasury

Corporate —
Asset-backed secunities —_
Other debt securities —

Foreign government 6 ]
K]

Total OTTI credit losses recogmzed for AFS debt securifies 3 6 3

HTM debt secunities

Morntgage-backed secunties
Prime §— § 2
Alt-A 2 161
Subprime — 21
Non-U § restdential —_ —
Commercial real estate — —

Total mortgage-backed securities $2 $184
State and municipal — -
Corporate 40 —
Asset-backed securities — —
Qther debt securities — —

Total OTTI credit losses recognized for HTM debt securities § 42 5184
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13. LOANS

Citibank loans are reported 1n two categories—Consumer and
Corporate These categories are classified according to the

business that manages the loans

Consumer Loans

The following table provides information by Consumer loan

type
In millions of dellars at year end 2011 2010
Consumer loans
InU S offices
Mortgage and real estate $112,163 $120,451
Installment, revolving credit, and other 4,550 10,913
Cards 117,796 122,335
Commereial and industrial 4,765 5,018
Lease financing 1 2
$239,275  $238.719%
In offices outside the U §
Mortgage and real estate " $ 44018 § 43,338
[nstallment, revolving credit, and other 24,440 28,162
Cards 33,476 35,432
Commercial and industnal 15,346 12,213
Lease financing 611 357
$117,891  $119,702
Total Consumer loans $357,166 $378,421
Net unearned income 1,094 1,510
Consumer loans, net of unearned income $358,260 $379,931

(1) Loans secured primanly by real estate

During the year ended December 31, 2011, Citibank sold
and/or reclassified (to held for sale) $17 billion of Consumer

loans Citibank did not have significant purchases of

Consumer loans during the 12 months ended December 31,

2011

Cuibank has a comprehensive risk management process
to monutor, evaluate and manage the principal risks associated
with 1ts Consumer loan portfoiio Included in the loan table
above are lending products whose terms may give rise to
additional credit 1ssues Credit cards with below-market
intraductory nterest rates and 1nterest only loans are examples

of such products However, these products are closely

managed via credit controls that mitigate their additional

inherent risk
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Credit quality indicators that are actively monitored
include

Delinquency Status

Delinquency status 1s carefully monitored and considered a
key indicator of credit quality Substantially ail of the U S

first mortgage loans use the Mortgage Brokers Association
(MBA) methed of reporting delinquencies, which considers a
loan delinquent if a monthly payment has not been received by
the end of the day immediately preceding the loan’s next due
date All other loans use the Office of Thnft Supervision
{OTS) method of reporting delinquencies, which considers a
loan dehinquent 1f a monthly payment has not been recerved by
the close of business on the loan’s next due date As a general
rule, first and second mortgages and installment loans are
classified as non-accrual when loan payments are 90 days
contractually past due Credit cards and unsecured revolving
loans generally accrue interest until payments are 180 days
past due Commercial market loans are placed on a cash (non-
accrual} basis when 1115 determined, based on actual
experience and a forward-looking assessment of the
collectability of the loan 1n full, that the payment of interest or
principal 1s doubtful or when interest or principal 15 90 days
past due
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The following tables provide details on Citibank’s Consumer loan delinquency and non-accrual loans as of December 31, 2011 and

December 31, 2010

Consumer Loan Delinquency and Non-Accrual Details at December 31, 2011

Past due
Total 3089 days > 90 days Government Total Total 90 days past due

In milhons of doilars current % past due o past due i puaranteed Y loans ¢ non-accrual and accruing
In North America offices

Residennial first mortgages $ 59,494 $ 2,597 § 2,540 $6,686 $ 317 $ 2,587 §5,054

Home equity loans & 37,691 714 834 — 39,239 842 —

Credit cards 114,097 2,250 2,056 - 118,403 — 2,056

Installment, commercial market

loans and other 12,199 315 108 — 12,622 341 14
Total §223,481 $5,876 $5,538 $ 6,686 $241,581 $ 3,770 $ 7,124
in offices outside North America

Residenual first mortgages § 38,903 5 451 s 379 s — $ 39,733 § 492 s —

Home equity loans 6 — 2 —_ 8 2 —

Credit cards 32,902 801 636 — 34339 283 487

Instaliment, commercial market

loans and other 41,847 487 265 — 42,599 408 —
Total §113,658 $1,739 $ 1,282 5 — $116,679 $1,185 $ 487
Total Citibank $337,139 $ 7,615 $ 6,820 $ 6,686 $358,260 $4,955 $7,611

(1) Loans less than 30 days past due are presented as current
{2) Includes $1 3 bullion of residential first morigages recorded at far value
(3) Excludes loans guaranteed by U § govemment agencies
{4) Consisis of residenual first morigages that are guaranteed by U S governmenmt agencies that are 30-89 days past due of $1 6 billion and = 90 days past due of §5 1

billion

(5) Fixed rate home equity loans and loans extended under home equity lines of credit which are typically in junior lien positions

Consumer Loan Delinquency and Non-Accrual Details at December 31,2010

Past due
Total 30-89days >90days Government Total Total 90 days past due

In millions of dollars current ™) past due ™ past due ™ puaranteed ™  loans”  non-accrual  and accruing
[n North America offices

Residential first mortgages $ 58,677 $3,579 $3,797 $7,003 $ 73,056 $3,940 $5,405

Home equity loans ¥ 41,830 639 1,010 — 43479 972 —

Credit cards 116,069 3,158 3,107 —_— 122,334 — 3,107

[nstallment, commercial market loans

and other 21,633 386 270 — 22,289 535 430
Total $2138,209 $7,762 $8,184 $7,003 $261,158 $5,447 $8.,942
In offices outside North America

Residential first mortgages $ 36,622 £ 498 $ 376 5 — $ 37,496 § 406 5§ —

Home equity loans 8 — 1 — 9 1 —

Credit cards 35,383 949 780 — 37,112 265 409

[nstallment, commercial market loans

and other 42,906 789 461 — 44,156 767 42
Total $114,919 $2,236 $1,618 5 — $118,773 $1,439 $ 451
Total Citibank $353,128 $9,998 $9,802 $7,003 $379,931 $6,886 $9,393

(1) Loans less than 30 days past due are presented as current
(2) Includes $1 7 bilhion of residenual first mortgages recorded at fawr value
(3) Excludes loans guaranieed by U S government agencies
(4) Consists of residential first mortgages that are guaranteed by U S government agencies that are 30-89 days past due of $1 6 billion and > 90 days past due of $5 4

ballion

(5) Fixed rate home equuty loans and loans extended under home equity lines of credit which are typically in jumior lien positions
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Consumer Credit Scores (FICOs)

Inthe U § , independent credit agencies tate an individual
risk {or assuming debt based on the individual s eredit hustory
and assign every consumer a credit score These scores are
olten called “FICO scores’ because most credit burcau scores
used inthe U S are produced from software developed by I'air
Isaac Corporation Scores range from a high of 900 (which
indicates high credit quality) to 300 | hese scores are
continualty updated by the agencies based upon an
individual’s credit actions (e g, taking out a loan, missed or
late payments, etc )

The following tables provide detatls on the FICO scores
attributable to Cittbank’s U § Consumer foan portfolio as of
December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 (note that
commercial market loans are not included since they are
business based and FICO scores are not a primary driver in
therr credit evaluation) FICO scores are updated monthly for
substanually all of the portfolio, or, otherwise, on a quarterly
basis

During the first quarter of 2011, the cards businesses in
the U S began using a more updated FICO mode! version 1o
score customer accounts for substantially all of their loans
The change was made to incorporate a more recent version of
FICO 1n order to improve the predictive strength of the score
and to enhance Cit1’s ability to manage risk In the first
quarter, this change resulted in an increase in the percentage of
balances with FICO scores equal to or greater than 660
and conversely lowered the percentage of balances with FICO
scores lower than 620

FICO Score Distnbution in

FICO Score Distribution in

U S Portfoho® December 31, 2010
In miihons of dollars FICO
Equal to or
Less than > 620 but less greater

620 than 660  than 660
Residenual first mongages $12,351 $ 5043 $ 39,172
Home equity loans 5,892 2,964 32,523
Credit Cards 18,339 12,590 88,318
Installment and other 1,558 719 6,398
Total $38,140 $21,316  $167,011

(1) Excludes loans guaranteed by U S government agencies, loans subject
to long-term standby commtments (LTSCs), and loans recorded at fair
value

(2)  Excludes balances where FICQ was not available Such amounts are not
material

Residennal Mortgage Loan 1o Value Ratios

Loan to value (LTV) ratios are important credit indicators for
U S mortgage loans These rauos (loan balance divided by
appraised value) are calculated at origination and updated by
applying market price data The following table provides
details on the LTV ratios attributable to Ciiibank’s U S
mortgage portfelios as of December 31, 2011 and December
31,2010 LTVs are updated monthly using the most recent
Core Logic HPI data available for substantially all of the
portfolio apphed at the Metropolitan Statistical Area level, 1f
avatlable, otherwise, at the state level The remainder of the
portfolio 1s updated 1n @ similar manner using the Office of
Federal Housing Enterprise Oversight indices

LTV Distributionmin U S

US Portfolio™® December 31,2011 Portfolio!"® December 31, 2011
In mlitons of dotiars FICO In millions of dollars LTV
Equal to or > 80% but less Greater
Less than > 620 but less greater Less than or thanor equal  than

620 than 660 than 660 equal 10 §0% 10 100% 100%
Residential first mortgages § 9,457 S 4,885 § 44,126 Residential first mortgages £25,450 $14,707 $18.424
Home equity loans 5,048 3,092 30,045 Home equity loans 11,887 8,823 17,391
Credit Cards 9,614 10,901 93,219 Total $37,337 $23,530 $35,815
Installment and other 438 343 3,275
Total $24,557 $19,221 $170,665 (1) Excludes loans guaranteed by U § government agencies, loans subject

{1}  Excludes loans guaranteed by U S5 government agencies, loans subject
to long-term standby commuiments (LTSCs), and loans recorded at fair
value

(2)  Excludes balances where FICO was not avarlable Such amounts are not
material

to LTSCs, and loans recorded at fair value
{2) Excludes balances where LTV was not available Such amounts are not
materia)

LTV Distributionin U S
Portfeho"'? December 31, 2010

In miliions of doflars LTV

> 80% but less Greater
Less than or than or equal  than
equal 1o 80%  to 100% 100%

Residenual first mortgages $19,280 $17,587 $20,412
Home equity loans 11,762 9,966 19,521

Total $31,042 $27,553 $39,933

(1}  Excludes loans guaranteed by U § government agencies, loans subject
to LTSCs, 2nd loans recorded at fair value

(2) Excludes balances where LTV was not available Such amounts are not
matenal
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Impaired Consumer Loans

Impaired loans are those where Citibank believes it 1s probable
that 1t will not collect all amounts due according to the original
contractual terms of the loan Impaired Consumer loans
include non-accrual commercial market loans as well as
smaller-balance homogeneous loans whose terms have been
modtfied due to the borrower’s financial difficulties and
Cruibank has granted a concession te the borrower These
modifications may include interest rate reductions and/or
principal forgiveness Impaired Consumer loans exclude
smaller-balance homogeneous loans that have not been
modified and are carned on a non-accrual basis In addition,
[mpaired Consumer loans exclude substantially all loans
modified pursuant to Citibank’s short-term loan modification
programs (1 ¢ , for periods of 12 months or less) that were
modified prior to January 1, 2011 At December 31, 2011,

Impaired Consumer Loans

loans included in these short-term programs amounted to
approximately $600 million

Effective 1n the third quarter of 2011, as a result of
adopting ASU 2011-02, certatn loans modified under short-
term programs since January 1, 2011 that were previously
measured for impairment under ASC 450 are now measured
for impairment under ASC 310-10-35 At the end of
September 30, 2011 the recorded invesiment in receivables
previously measured under ASC 450 was $490 mtllion and the
allowance for credit losses associated with those loans was
$270 million See Note 2 to the Consohdated Finanaial
Statements for a discussion of this change

The following table presents information about total
impaired Consumer loans at and for the penods ending
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively

At and for the pernod ended Dec 31,2011

Recorded Unpaxd Principal  Related specific Average Interest income
In mitlions of dollars investment!'"? balance allowance® carrymng value®  recogmzed™®
Mortgage and real estate
First mortgages $13,602 $14,589 $2,829 $13,093 § 507
Home equity loans 1,253 1,304 562 1,129 21
Credit cards 6,631 6,679 3,122 6,438 364
Installment and other®
Individual installment and other 740 743 502 869 38
Commercial market loans 397 662 21 528 20
Total $22,623 $23,977 $7,036 §22,057 $1,000

(1) Recorded investment in a loan includes net deferred loan fees and costs, unamortized premium or discount and direct wnite-downs and includes accrued interest

only on credit card loans

(2} $759 million of first mortgages, $16 million of home equity loans and $175 riilion of commercial market loans do not have a specific allowance

(3) Intluded 1n the Alfowance for loan losses

(4) Average carrying value represents the average recorded investiment ending balance for last four quarters and does not include related specific allowance

(5} Includes amounts recognized on both an accrual and cash basis

(6) Cash interest receipts on smaller-balance homogeneous loans are generally recorded as revenue The interest recognition policy for commercial market loans 1s

identical to that for Corporate loans, as described below

At and for the period ended Dec 31,2010

Recorded Unpaid Principal  Related specific Average Interest income
In nuthons of doliars nvestment!V® balance allowance® carrying value™  recogmzed®™®
Mortgage and real estate
First mortgages $£10,957 $11,849 $1,899 $ 9,728 $508
Home equity loans 747 798 340 663 9
Credit cards 5,716 5,716 2,840 5,075 84
Installment and other™ 801
Individual installment and other 1,109 1,170 1,358 170
Commercial market loans 687 925 855 21
Total $19.216 $20,458 5,880 $17,67% $792

(1) Recorded nvestment 1n a loan includes net deferred loan fees and costs, unamortized premium or discount and direct wnte-downs and includes accrued interest
only on credst card loans

(2) 3901 mulhen of first mortgages, $6 million of home equity loans and $317 million of commercial market loans do not have a specific allowance

(3) Included in the Allowance for foan losses

(4) Avemage camying value represents the average recorded investment ending batance for last four quarters and does not include related specific allowance

(%) Includes amounts recognized on both an accrual and cash basts

(6) Cash interest receipts on smaller-balance homogeneous loans are generally recorded as revenue The interest recognition pohicy for commercial market loans 1s
identical to that for Corporate loans, as described below
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Consumer Troubled Debt Restructurings
The following tables provide details on TDR activity and default information as of and for the year ended December 31, 2011

Pre-modification Post-modification Contingent Average
In multtons of dollars except  Number of recorded recorded Deferred principal Principal mterest rate
number of loans modified  loans modified  mvestment investment ‘" principal ®  forgiveness ! forgiveness reduction
North Amenca
Residential first
mortgages 22,644 $4,004 54,252 $ 94 $40 $— 2%
Home equity loans 9,235 631 663 22 1 — 4
Credit cards 611,715 3,560 3,555 — —_ — 19
Installment and other
revolving 12,870 83 83 —_ - — 4
Commercial markets 579 55 — — — 1 —
Total 657,043 38,333 $8,553 $1i6 541 §1
International
Residential first
morlgages 1,888 5 153 $ 153 5— $— 5— 1%
Home equity loans 61 4 4 — - — —
Credst cards 211,157 575 566 — — 24
Installment and other
revolving 66,998 342 331 — — — 13
Commercial markets 55 167 — — —_ 1 —
Total 281,159 51,241 $1,054 $— $— §3

(1) Post-modification balances include past due 2amounts that are capitalized at modification date

(2) Represents portion of loan principal that 1s non-mterest beanng but still due from borrower

(3) Represents portion of loan principat that s non-interest beartng and, depending upon borrower performance, eligible for forgiveness

(4) Commercial markets loans are generally borrower-specific modifications and incorporate changes n the amount and/or timing of principal and/or interest

The following table presents TDR loans that defaulted during
2011 and for which the payment default occurred within one
year of the modification

Year ended
December 31,
In milhions of doilars 20111
North Amernca
Residennial first mortgages 51,754
Home equity loans 80
Credit cards 1,307
Installment and other revolving 15
Commercial markets 3
Total 53,189
International
Residential first mortgages § 61
Home equity loans 2
Credit cards 256
Instaliment and other revolving 202
Commercial markets () 14
Total § S35

(1) Default s defined as 60 days past due, except for classiftably managed
commergial markets loans, where default 1s defined as 90 days past due
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Corporate Loans

Corporate locans represent loans and leases managed by

Corporale businesses The following 1able presents
information by Corporate loan type as of December 31, 2011

and December 31, 2010
Dec 31, Dec 31,
It mithons of dotlars 2011 2010
Corporate
InUS offices
Commercial and industrial § 20,136 $ 12,633
Loans to financial insututions 43,157 34,955
Mortgage and real estatet" 19,809 18,422
Installment, revolving credit and other 14,504 11,986
Lease financing 880 9935
§ 98,486 $ 78,991
[n cffices outside the U S
Commercial and mdustnal § 74,958 $ 68,122
Installment, revolving credit and other 12,921 10,580
Mortgage and real estate'" 6,225 5,222
Loans to financial insututions 29,505 22,586
Lease financing 450 454
Governments and officia} instituttons 1,541 2,139
$125,600 $109,103
Total Cerporate loans $224,086 $188,094
Net uneamed income {670) (825)
Corporate loans, net of unearned yncome §223,416 §187,269

(1) Loans secured pnmartly by real estate

For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company sold
and/or reclassified (to held-for-sale) $5 8 billion of held-for-
investment Corporate loans The Company did not have
significant purchases of loans classified as held-for-investment
for the year ended December 31, 2011

Corporate loans are 1dentified as impaired and placedon a
cash (non-accrual) basis when 1t 1s determined, based on
actual experience and a forward-looking assessment of the
collectability of the loan 1n full, that the payment of interest or
principal 1s doubtful or when interest or principal 1s 90 days
past due, except when the loan 1s well collateralized and in the
process of collection Any interest accrued on impaired
Corporate loans and leases 1s reversed at 90 days and charged
against current earnings, and interest 1s thereafter included in
earmings only to the extent actually received in cash When
there 1s doubt regarding the ultimate collectability of principal,
all cash receipts are thereafler applied to reduce the recorded
investment in the loan While Corporate loans are generally
managed based on thewr internally assigned nisk rating (see
further discussion below), the following tables present
delinquency information by Corporate loan type as of
December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010

Corporate Loan Delinquency and Non-Accrual Detatls at December 31, 2011

30-89 days =90 days
past due past due and Total past due Total Total Total

In mithions of dollars and accrumgm a:crumg(” and accruing non-accrual™ current” loans™

Commercial and industnal $ 93 330 $123 $1,038 $ 92,768 $ 93,929

Financial institutions — 2 2 779 70,363 71,144

Montgage and real estate 23 — 223 1,006 24,788 26,017

Leases 3 11 14 13 1,303 1,330

Other 25 15 240 207 26,719 27,166
Loans at far value 3,830
Total $544 $58 $602 $3,043 $215,941 $223,416

(1) Corporate loans that are grealer than 90 days past due are generally classified as non-accrual Corporate loans are constdered past due when principal or interest 15

contractually due but unpaid

(2) Cuti generally does not manage Corporate loans on a delinquency basis  Non-accrual leans generally include those foans that are > 90 days past due or those loans
for which Citi belteves, based on actual expenence and a forward-looking assessment of the collectabibity of the loan in full that the payment of interest or

principal 1s doubiful

(3) Corporate loans are past due when principal or interest 1s contractually due but unpaid Loans less than 30 days past due are presented as current

(4} Includes $3,830 million of loans at fair value
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Corporate Loan Dehinquency and Non-Accrual Detals at December 31, 2010

30-89 days =90 days
past due past due and Total past due Total Total Total

In millons of dollars and acecrmng'? accruing'”’ and accruing  non-accrual® current™”’ loans™

Commercial and industnal $ 94 $35 $129 $4,877 § 73,945 $ 78,955

Financial institutions 2 —_ 2 1,258 55,761 57,021

Morigage and real estate 298 —_ 298 1,236 21,753 23,287

Leases 9 — 9 1,412 1,449

Other 100 49 149 357 23,587 24,093
Loans at fair valye 2,464
Total $503 $84 $587 $7.756 $176,462 $187,269

(1) Corporate loans that are greater than 90 days past due are generally classified as non-accrual Corporate loans are constdered past due when principal or interest 1s

contractually due but unpaid

(2) Cmi generally does not manage Corporate loans on a delinquency basis  Non-accrual loans generally include those loans that are > 90 days past due or those loans
for which Citi believes, based on actual experience and a forward-looking assessment of the collectability of the loan in full, that the payment of interest or

prenctpal ts doubtful

(3) Corporate loans are past due when principal or interest 1s contractually due but unpaid Loans less than 30 days past due are presented as current

(4) Includes $2,464 million of loans at fair value

Citibank has established a nsk management process to
monitor, evaluate and manage the principal risks associated
with 1ts Corporate loan portfolio As part of its nisk
management process, Cit1 assigns numeric nisk ratings to its
Corporate loan facilities based on quantitative and qualitative
assessments of the obligor and facility These risk ratings are
reviewed at least annually or more often 1f matenal events
related to the obligor or facility warrant Factors considered in
assigning the nsk ratings include financial condition of the
obhgor, quahtative assessment of management and strategy,
amount and sources of repayment, amount and type of
collateral and guarantee arrangements, amount and type of any
contingencies associated with the obligor, and the oblhigor’s
industry and geography

The obligor risk ratings are defined by ranges of default
probabilities The facihity nisk ratings are defined by ranges of
loss norms, which are the product of the probability of default
and the loss given default The investment grade raung
categories are similar to the category BBB-/Baa3 and above as
defined by S&P and Moody’s Loans classified according to
the bank regulatory definittons as special mention,
substandard and doubtful will have risk ratings within the non-
investment grade categories
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Corporate Loans Credit Qualty Indicators at December

31,2011 and December 31, 2010

Recorded investment 1n

loans!"”
December 31,
In mllions of dollars 2011 2010
Investment grade'™
Commercial and industnal $ 63,320 $ 50,610
Fmancial insututions 63,215 52,528
Mortgage and real estate 9,460 7,962
Leases 719 834
Other 22,790 19,018
Total investment grade $159,504 $130,952
Non-investment grade®
Accrual
Commerctal and industnal $ 29,571 § 23,464
Financial institutions 7,150 3,308
Mortgage and real estate 2,835 2,247
Leases 598 587
Other 4,169 3,829
Non-accrual
Commercial and industnal 1,038 4,877
Financaial institutions 779 1,258
Mortgage and real estate 1,006 1,236
Leases 13 28
Other 207 357
Total non-Investment grade $ 47,366 $ 41,191
Private Banking loans managed on
a delinquency basis $ 12,716 $ 12,662
Loans at fair value 3,830 2,464
Corporate loans, net of unearned
Income $223.416 $187,26%

(1)  Recorded investment (n a loan includes net deferred loan fees and costs,
unamortized premium or discount, less any direct wnie-downs
{2)  Held-for-investment loans accounted for on an amortized cost basis
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Corporate loans and leases identified as impaired and of repayment, are written down to the lower of cost or

placed on non-accrual status are written down to the extent collateral value, less cost to sell Cash-basis loans are returned
that principal 1s judged to be uncollectible Impaired to an accrual status when all contractual principal and interest
collateral-dependent loans and leases, where repayment 1s amounts are reasonably assured of repayment and therc 15 a
expected to be provided solely by the sale of the underlying sustained period of repayment performance, generally six
collateral and there are no other available and rehable sources months, in accordance with the contractual terms of the loan

The following tables present non-accrual loan information by Corporate loan type at and for the period ended December 31, 2011,
and 2010, respectively

Non-Accrual Corporate Loans

December 31, 2011
Unpaid
Recorded principal Related specific Average [nterest income
In nuthons of dotlars investment'” balance allowance carrying value ¢ recogmzed
Non-accrual Corporate loans
Commercial and industnal 51,038 $1,342 §122 $1,302 $64
Loans to financial institutions 779 1,213 20 1,060 —_
Mortgage and real estate 1,006 1,212 151 1,281 14
Lease financing 13 21 — 21 2
Other 207 403 63 344 16
Total non-accrual Corporate loans 3,043 $4,191 $356 $4,008 596
December 31!, 2010
Recorded Unpaid Related specific Average [nterest income
In mullions of dollars mvestment' principal balance allowance carrying value ¥ recogmzed
Non-accerual Corporate loans
Commerciat and industnal $4,877 $ 7,570 3 742 $5,615 $23
Loans to financial institutions 1,258 1,835 259 883 1
Mortgage and real estate 1,236 1,289 205 1,319 6
Lease financing 28 54 —_ 37 4
Other 357 899 217 976 24
Total non-accrual Corporate loans §7,756 $11,647 $1,423 58,830 358
December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
Recorded  Related specific Recorded Related specific
In milfions of dollars investment' allowance mvestment'" allowance
Non-accrual Comporate loans with valuanon allowances
Commercial and industnal $ 403 $122 $4,085 § 742
Loans to financial institutions 68 20 818 259
Mortgage and real estate 540 151 569 205
Other 130 63 228 217
Total non-accrual Corporate loans with specific allowance 51,141 $356 $5,700 $1,423
Non-accrual Corporate loans without specific allowance -
Commercial and industrial § 635 5 792
Loans to financial institutions 711 440
Mortgage and real estate 466 667
Lease financing 13 28
Other 77 129
Total non-accrual Corporate loans without specific allowance $1,902 N/A $2,056 N/A

(1} Recorded investment 1n a loan includes net deferred loan fees and costs, unamortized premium or discount, less any direct wnite-downs
(2) Average carrying value represents the average recorded mvestment balance and dees not include related specific allowance

3) Avempe carrying value does not include related specific allowance

N/A Not Applicable
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Corporate Troubled Debt Restructurings (TDR)

The following table presents TDRs occurring during the 12-month period ended December 31, 2011

TDRs
TDRs TDRs volving
invelving involving changes 1n the
changes in the changes 1n the amount and/or
amount and/or amount and/or timng of both Balance of
timing of timing of principal and principal
Carrying principal Interest Interest forgiven or Net P&L
In milhions of dollars Value payments'" paymentsm payments deferred |mpactm
Commeraial and industnal $126 §— 516 110 $— S16
Loans to financial institutions —_ — — —_ — —
Mortgage and real estate 15 1 7 7 — —
Other 7 — — 7 — —
Total 5148 1 523 5124 $— $16

(1) TDRs involving changes in the amount or timing of principal payments may involve principal forgiveness or defermal of periodic and/or final principal payments
(2) TDRs invelving changes in the amount or iming of interest payments may 1nvolve a reduction in interest rate or a below-market interest rate
(3) Balances reflect charge-offs and reserves recorded during the 12 months ended Becember 31, 2011 on loans subject to a TDR during the period then ended

The following table presents TDR corporate loans that
defaulted during 2011 and for which the payment default
occurred within one year of the modificauon

TDR Loans
1n payment defaul
Twelve Months
TDR Balances at Ended
In milhons of dolars December 31, 2011 December 31,2011
Commercial and industnal $166 $7
Loans to financial
institutions 563 —_
Mortgage and real estate 48 —_
Other 21 —
Total Corporate Loans
modified in TDRs $798 57

(1) Payment default constitutes faiture to pay principal or tnterest when due
per the contractual terms of the loan
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Purchased Distressed Loans

Included in the Corporate and Consumer loan outstanding
tables above are purchased distressed loans, which are loans
that have evidenced significant credit deterioration subseguent
to origination but prior to acquisition by Citibank In
accordance with SOP 03-3 (codified as ASC 310-30), the
difference between the total expected cash flows for these
loans and the initial recorded mvestment 1s recogmized in
ncome over the life of the loans using a level yield
Accordingly, these loans have been excluded from the
impatred loan table information presented above In addition,
per SOP 03-3, subsequent decreases 1n the expected cash
flows for a purchased distressed loan require a build of an
allowance so the loan retains its level yield However,
increases 1n the expected cash flows are first recogmized as a
reduction of any previously estabhished aliowance and then
recognized as income prospectively over the remaining life of
the loan by increasing the loan’s level yield Where the
expected cash flows cannot be reliably estimated, the
purchased distressed loan 1s accounted for under the cost
recovery method
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The carrying amount of the Company’s purchased distressed loan portfolio at December 31, 2011 was $310 mullion, net of an
allowance of $21 nullion as of December 31, 2011

The changes in the accretable yield, related allowance and carrying amount net of accretable yield for 2011 are as follows

Carrywing
Accretable  amount of loan

In midlions of dollars yield receivable Allowance
Beginming balance at December 31, 2010 128 $246 $34
Purchases " - 274 —
Disposals/payments received (123) (167) 1)
Accretion 3) 3 —
Bwilds (reductions) to the allowance 3 — 8
Increase to expected cash flows 22 1 —
FX/other 1 (26) —
Balance at December 31, 20117 $ 28 $331 $21

{1} The balance reported in the column “Carrying amount of loan receivable* consists of $274 mullion of purchased loans accounted for under the level-yield method
and $0 under the cost-recovery method These balances represent the fair value of these loans at their acquisition date The related total expected cash flows for
the level-yield loans were $274 million at their acquisition dates

(2) The balance reported in the column “Carrying amount of loan recervable” consists of $307 million of loans accounted for under the level-yield method and $24
million accounted for under the cost-recovery method
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14 ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES

In mithons of dollars 2011 2010
Allowance for loan losses at beginning of year § 33,036 $ 26,033
Gross credit losses (18,674) (27,709)
(Gross recoveries 2,541 3,009
Net credit (losses) recovenes (NCLs) $(16,133) $(24700)
NCLs S 16,133 § 24,700
Net reserve builds (releases) (6,859) (5,059)
Net specific reserve butlds (releases) 349 1,584
Total provision for credit losses $ 9623 § 21,225
Other, net (1,831) 10,478
Allowance for loan losses at end of year § 24,695 $ 33,036
Allowance for credit losses on unfunded lending commitments at beginmng of year & 5 9% $ 1,020
Provision for unfunded lending commitments 923 (1o01)
Allowance for credit losses on unfunded lending commitments at end of year § 1,052 $943
Total allowance for loans, leases, and unfunded lending commitments § 25,747 $ 33,979

(1) 2011 pnmanly includes reductions related to the sale or transfer to held-for-sale of vanous loan portfolios and the impact of foreign exchange { FX translation)
2010 primarily includes an addition of $13 4 billion related to the impact of consolidating entities in connection with Citibank's adopuon of SFAS 167 (see Note 2
to the Conselidated Financial Statements) partially offset by reductions related to the sale or transfer to held-for-sale of vanous lean portfolios and the impact of
foreign exchange (FX translation)

{2) Represents additional credit loss reserves for unfunded lending commitments and letters of credit recorded in Other Liabilires on the Consohidated Balance Sheet

Allowzance for Credit Losses and Investment in Loans at December 31, 2011

In millions of dollars Corporate Consumer Total
Allowance for loan losses at beginning of year $ 431 § 28,724 $ 33,036
Charge-offs (1,777) (16,897) (18,674)
Recoveries 266 2,275 2,541
Replentshment of net charge-offs 1,511 14,622 16,133
Net reserve build (releases) (682) (6,177) (6,859)
Net specific reserve builds (releases) (1,084} 1,433 349
Other 6 (1,837) (L831)
Ending balance 5 2,552 $ 22,143 $ 24,695
Allowance for loan losses
Determined n accordance with ASC 450-20 5 2,192 § 15,090 $ 17,282
Determined n accordance with ASC 310-10-35 356 7,036 7,392
Determined 1n accordance with ASC 310-30 4 17 21
Total allowance for loan losses § 2,552 § 22,143 $ 24,695
Loans, net of uneamed income
Loans collectively evaluated for impairment 1n accordance with ASC 450-20 $206,031 $333,991 $540,022
Loans individually evaluated for impairment 1n accordance with ASC 310-10-35 3,440 22,623 26,063
Loans acquired with deteriorated credit quality in accordance with ASC 310-30 1 320 kX))
Loans held at fair value 1830 1,326 5,156
Other Loans—pnimarily loans with Citigroup affiliates outside the Citibank chain 10,104 — 10,104
Total loans, net of unearned income $223.416 $358,260 $581,676
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Allowance for Credit Losses and Investment in Loans at December 31, 2010

In millions of dollars Corporate Consumer Total
Allowance for loan losses at beginning of year $ 6,218 § 19,815 $ 26,033
Charge-offs (2,176) {25,533) (27,709)
Recovenes 650 2,359 3,009
Replenishment of net charge-offs 1,526 23,174 24,700
Net reserve builds (releases) (1,443) (3,616) (5,059)
Net specific reserve builds (releases) (405) 1,989 1,584
Other {58) 10,536 10,478
Ending balance $ 4,312 $ 28,724 $ 33,036
Allowance for loan losses
Determined in accordance with ASC 450-20 £ 2,882 § 22,817 $ 25,699
Determined in accordance with ASC 310-10-35 1,423 5,880 7,303
Determined in accordance with ASC 310-30 7 27 34
T'otal allowance for [pan losses $ 4312 $ 28,724 $ 33,036
Loans, net of unearned income
Loans collectively evaluated for impairment i accordance with ASC 430-20 $168,029 $358,745 $526,774
Loans individually evaluated for impairment in accordance with ASC 310-10-35 8,093 19,216 27,309
Loans acquired with deteriorated credit quality in accordance with ASC 310-30 21 225 246
Loans hetd at fair value 2,454 1,745 4,209
Other Loans—pnimarily loans with Citigroup affiliates outside the Citibank chain 8,662 — 8,662
Total loans, net of unearped iIncome $187,269 $379,931 $567,200
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15 GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill
The changes 1n Goodw:il during 2010 and 2011 were as follows

In mihions of dollars

Balance at December 31, 2009 $11,422
Foreign exchange translation 3 73
Smaller acquisitions/divestitures, purchase accounting adjustments and other 147
Balance at December 31, 2010 $11,642
Foreign exchange translation 5 @07
Smaller acquisitions/divesuitures, purchase accounting adjustments and other 50
Balance at December 31, 2011 $11,485

Goodwill impairment testing 1s performed at a level below
the business segments (referred to as a reporting unit) As noted
in Note 1, on July 1, 2011, Ciibank, N A completed its merger
with Citibank (South Dakota) N A | with Citibank N A as the
surviving entity The merger resulted in an additional reporting
unit, Local Consumer Lending — Cards, where 100% of Citibank
(South Dakota) N A s goodwill has been historically reported
The reporting umt structure in 2011 18 otherwise consistent with
the prior year During 2011, goodwill was allocated to disposals
and tested for impawrment for each of the reporting units The
Company performed goodwill impairment testing for the
reporting units as of July 1, 2011, the annual impairment testing
date No goodwill was written off due to impairment 1n 2010 or
2011

The following table shows the reporting units with goodwill balances as of December 31, 2011 and the fair value as a percentage of
allocated book value as of the annual impairment test

Reporting Unit Fair Value as a % of

Goodwill in mitlions of dollars Allocated Book Value Goodwill
North America Regional Consumer Banking 191% § 852
EMEA Regional Consumer Banking 455 115
Asta Regional Consumer Banking 285 2,048
Latm America Regional Consumer Banking 138 522
Institutional Clients Group 221 6,742
Local Consumer Lending—Cards 150 1,206
Intangible Assets

The components of intangible assets as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, were as follows

December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010

Gross Net Gross Net
carrying  Accumulated carrying  carrying  Accumulated camying
fn millions of dollars amount amortizahion amount amount arnortization amount
Purchased credit card relationships $ 7,519 $5,240 $ 2,279 $ 7.789 $5068 § 2,721
Core deposit intangibles 747 487 260 777 449 328
Other customer relationships 112 88 24 92 62 30
Indefinite-hived intangible assets 229 — 229 253 — 253
Other 3,882 1,334 2,548 3,745 968 2,777
Intangible assets (excluding MSRs) $12,489 §7,149 $5,340 $12,656 $6,547 5 6,109
Mortgage servicing nghts (MSRs) 2,569 — 2,569 4,554 — 4,554
Total intangible assets $15,058 $7,149 57,909 $17,210 $6,547  $10,663

(1) Includes contract-related intangible assets

Intangible assets amortization expense was $768 million and $825 million for 2011 and 2010, respectively Intangible
assets amortization expense 1s estuimated to be $705 mullion 1n 2612, $709 million 1n 2013, $633 mullion 1n 2014, $604 million m
2015 and $720 million 1in 2016
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The changes tn intangible assets during 2011 were as follows

Net carrying Net carrying
amount at FX amount at

December 31, Acqusitions/ and Discontinued December 31,
In mulhons of dollors 2010 divestitures  Amortization Impairments  other ! Operatwons 2011
Purchased credit card relationships $ 2721 S(8) $(432) S— $Q2) §— $2,279
Core deposit intangibles 328 —_ 67) — n —_ 260
Other customer relationships 30 3 6] — — —_ 24
[ndefinite-hved intangible assets 253 —_ —_ — (24) — 229
Other 2,777 61 {259 (14) 1 (18) 2.548
Intangible assets

(excluding MSRs) 3 6,109 §56 5(767) $(14) $(26) $(18) $5,340

Mortgage servicing rights (MSRs) @ 4,554 2,569
Total intangible assets $10,663 £7,909

{1} Includes foretgn exchange translation and purchase accounting adjustments
{2) See Note 19 to the Consolhidated Financial Statements for the roll-forward of MSRs
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16. DEBT

Short-Term Borrowings
Short-term borrowings consist of commercial paper and other
borrowings with weighted average interest rates as follows

2011 2010
Weighted Weighted
In millions of dollars Average average
at December 31, Balance rates Balance rates
Commercial paper 514,872 032% 514,987 0 39%
Other botrowings 19,247 141 25,252 075
Total $34,119 $40,239

Borrowings under bank lines of credit may be at interest rates
based on LIBOR, CD rates, the prime rate, or bids submutted by
banks Citibank pays commitment fees for its lines of credit

Some of Citigroup’s non-bank subsidiaries have credit
facihities with Citibank Borrowings under these facilities must
be secured 1n accordance with Section 23 A of the Federal
Reserve Act

A majority of the deposits paid for secunities borrowed and
deposits recerved for securities loaned are recorded at the
amount of cash advanced or received and are collaterahized
principally by government and government-agency securities
and corporate debt and equity securities The remaining portion
15 recorded at fair value as the Company elected fair value
options for certain securities borrowed and loaned portfolios
With respect to securities loaned, the Company receives cash
collateral in an amount generally in excess of the market value
of secunties loaned The Company monitors the market value of
securities borrowed and secunties loaned daily, and additional
collateral 18 obtained as necessary Securities borrowed and
securities loaned are reported net by counterparty, when
applicable

Long-Term Debt

December 31
Balances
o Weighted
In millions of dollars average
at December 31 coupon _ Maturities 2011 2010

Citibank head office

Senior notes ‘%% 081% 2012-2046  $21,516 $38,328
Subordinated notes®® 085  2012-2018 2,371 4,297
Domestic subsidiaries
Senior notes 254 2012-2037 45515 62,571
Subordinated notes® 627 2037 72 278
Citibank Qverseas
Investment Corp

Senior notes 383 2012-2039 8,185 10,251
Subordinated notes™ 624 2012-2039 318 341
Other Citibank

subsidiaries and

branches
Senior notes 743 2012-2029 506 1,062
Subordinated notes™ 76 2012-2020 98 51
Total $78,581 $117,179

Senior notes

$75,722 $112,212
Subordinated notes® :

2,859 4,967

Total $78,581 $117,179

(1) At December 31, 2011 and 2010, collateralized advances from the Federal
Home Loan Banks are $11 & bithon and $18 O billion, respectively

(2) Predomunately includes floating rate debt pnced at LIBOR.

(3) Includes notes that are subordinated within certain countnes, regions or
subsidiaries

The Company 1ssues both fixed and variable rate debt in a
range of currencies It uses dertvative contracts, primarily
interest rate swaps, to effectively convert a portion of its
fixed rate debt to variable rate debt and vanable rate debt to
fixed rate debt The matunty structure of the derivatives
generally corresponds to the maturity structure of the debt being
hedged In addition, the Company uses other denivative
contracts to manage the foreign exchange impact of certain debt
1ssuances At December 31, 2011, the Company’s overall
weighted average interest rate for long-term debt was 2 20% on
a contractual basis and 2 68% including the effects of derrvative
contracts

Aggregate annual maturities of long-term debt obligations {(based on final maturity dates) are as follows

In milfions of doliars 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Thereafter Total

Ciubank head office $13,239 $ 5397 $ 166 $ 58 $5,011 $ 16 $23,887

Domestic subsidianes 17,269 4,403 7,490 5,222 2,743 8,461 45,588

Citibank Overseas Investment Corp 1,307 3,034 1,491 1,277 668 726 8,503

Other Ciibank subsidharies and branches 288 211 11 8 — 85 603

Total $32,103 $13,045 $9,158 36,565 $8,422 $9,288 $78,581
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17 CAPITAL RESOURCES

Overview
Citibank generates capital through earmings from 1ts operating
businesses Citibank may augment its capital through capital
contributions from its parent, Citicorp, a direct subsidiary of
Ciigroup and, in the case of regulatory capital, also through
the 1ssuance of qualifying subordinated debt In addition, the
impact of future events on Ciubank’s business results, such as
corporate and asset dispositions, as well as changes tn
regulatory and accounting standards, also affect Citibank’s
capital levels

Capital 1s used primarily to support assets in Citibank’s
businesses and to absorb market, credit, or operational losses
Capital may be used for other purposes, such as o pay
dividends Citibank’s ability to utilize 1ts caputal for these
purposes may be hmited under federal banking regulations

Citibank’s capital management framework is designed to
ensure that Citibank and 1ts principal subsidiaries maintain
sufficient capital consistent with Citibank’s risk profile and all
applicable regulatory standards and gwidelines, as well as
external rating agency considerations

Semor management 1s responsible for the capital
management process mawnly through Citibank’s Asset and
Liability Management Committee (ALCQ), with oversight
from the Risk Management and Finance Committee of
Citibank’s Board of Directors ALCO 15 composed of the
senior-most management of Citibank for the purpose of
engaging management in decision-making and related
discussions on capital and hquidity matters Among other
things, ALCO’s responsibilities include mortoring the
Company’s assets, habilities and commitment trends and
forecasts, recommending for approval by Citibank’s Board of
Directors Liquidity risk limits and related requirements for the
Company, establishing and maintaining the Company’s
contingency funding plan, 1denttfying the Company’s liquidity
nisks and ensuring those risks are adequately momtored and
controlled, and ensuring prudent interest rate and foreign
exchange nisk positions for the Company’s accrual portfolios

Regulatory Capital and Related Ratios
Citibank 1s subject to the risk-based capital gmdelines 1ssued
by the OCC Historically, capiial adequacy has been
measured, 1n part, based on two risk-based capital ratios, the
Tier | Capital and Total Capital {Tier 1 Capital + Tier 2
Caputal) ratios Tier 1 Caputal consists of the sum of “core
capital elements,” such as qualifying common stockholder’s
equity, as adjusted, and qualifying noncontrolling interests,
principally reduced by goodwill, other disallowed intangible
assets, and disallowed deferred tax assets Total Capital aiso
includes “supplementary” Tier 2 Capual elements, such as
quahfying subordinated debt and a hmited portion of the
allowance for credit losses Both measures of capital adequacy
are stated as a percentage of nsk-weighted assets

[n 2009, the U S banking regulators developed a new
measure of capital termed “Tier | Common,” which 1s defined
as Ther 1 Capital less non-common elements, including
quahfying perpetual preferred stock, qualifying non-
controtling interests, and qualifying mandatonly redeemable
securittes of subsidiary trusts For more detail on all of these
capital metrics, see “Components of Capital Under Regulatory
Guidelines” below

Ciibank’s rnsk-weighted assets are principally derived
from application of the risk-based capital guidehines related to
the measurement of credit nisk Pursuant to these guidelines,
on-balance-sheet assets and the credit equivalent amount of
certain off-balance-sheet exposures (such as financial
guarantees, unfunded lending commitments, letters of credit,
and derivatives) are assigned to one of several prescribed risk-
weight categories based upon the percerved credit risk
associated with the obligor, or if relevant, the guarantor, the
nature of the collateral, or external credit ratings Rusk-
weighted assets also incorporate a measure for market risk on
covered trading account positions and all foreign exchange
and commedity positions whether or not carried in the trading
account Excluded from risk-weighted assets are any assets,
such as goodwl] and deferred tax assets, to the extent required
to be deducted from regulatory capital See “Components of
Capital Under Regulatory Guidelines” below

Citibank 1s also subject to a Leverage ratio requirement, a
non-nisk-based measure of capital adequacy, which 1s defined
as Tier 1 Capital as a percentage of quarterly adjusted average
total assets

The following table sets forth Citibank’s regulatory
capital ratios as of December 31, 2011 and December 31,
2010

Citibank, N, A, Capital Tiers and Capital Ratios Under
Regulatory Guidelines'"

In bitlions of dollars Well-
al year end, except Required capitahized

ranos MINIMuUm mimmum 2011 2010
Tier | Common §121.3 $123 6
Tier | Capital 1219 124 2
Total Capual ¥ 1343 138 4
Ther | Common ratio NIA N/A 1463 % 1533%
Tier | Capital ratio 4 0% 6 0% 14 70 15 42
Total Caputal ratio 80 100 16 20 1718
Leverage ratio 30 50 9 66 932

(1) Effective July 1, 2011, Citibank {South Dakota) N A merged nto
Citibank, N A The amount of Tier | Common Capital, Tier 1 Capital
and Total Capital, and the resuliant capital ratios, at December 31, 2010
have been restated to reflect this merger The 2011 Capital Ratios above
also reflect the impact of dividends paid by Citibank, N A to Ciigroup
during 2011

(2) Totai Caputal includes Tier 1 Capital and Tier 2 Capital
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Components of Capital Under Regulatory Guidelines

In millions of dollars at year end 2011 2010
Tier 1 Common
Citibank common stockholder’s equity $151,755 $150,779
Less Net unrealized losses on securities available-for-sale, net of tax 1 (3,559)
Less Accumulated net losses on cash flow hedges, net of tax (2,200) (1,934)
Less Pension hability adjustment, net of tax @ (1,610) (1,469)
Less Cumulative effect included in fair value of financial Liabihities attnibutable to the change
1n own credit worthiness, net of tax ® 99 50
Less Disallowed deferred tax assets 19,388 18,614
Less Intangible assets
Goodwill 11,485 11,642
Other disallowed tntangible assets 3,319 3,866
Other 4) (5)
Total Tier 1 Common $121,269 $123,564
Quahfying noncontrolling interests § 593 $ 679
Total Tier 1 Capital $121.862 $124,243
Tier 2 Capital
Allowance for credit losses © § 10,551 $ 9,868
Qualtfymg subordinated debt *© 1,600 4,000
Net unreahzed pretax gains on available-for-sale equity securities 271 308
Total Tier 2 Capital $ 12,422 $ 14,176
Total Capital (Tier 1 Capttal and Tier 2 Capital) $134,284 $138.419
Risk-weighted assets” $828,747 $805,825

(1) Ter 1 Capital excludes net unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale debt secuntties and net unrealized gains on available-for-sale equity securities with
readily deterrminable fair values, in accordance with risk-based capital guidelines In armiving at Tier 1 Captal, banking organizations are required to deduct net
unrealized losses on available-for-sale equity secunties with readily determunable fair values, net of tax Banking organizations are permitted to include 1n Tier 2
Capital up to 45% of net unrealized pretax gamns on available-for-sale equity securties with readily determuinable fair values

(2) The Federal Reserve Board granted interim capital rehief for the impact of ASC 715-20, Compensation—Retirement Benefits— Defined Benefits Plans (formerly
SFAS 158)

(3) The impact of changes 1n Citibank’s own creditworthiness in valuing financial liabilities for which the fair value option has been elected 1s exctuded from Teer 1
Capital, in accordance with nsk-based capital guidelines

(4) Of Citibank N A *s approximately 330 billion of net deferred tax assets at December 31, 2011, approxumately $10 billion of such assets were imcludable without
Iuimttation 1n regulatory capttal pursuant to risk-based capital guidelines, while approximately $19 billion of such assets exceeded the limitation imposed by these
guidehines and, as “disallowed deferred tax assets,” were deducted in arriving at Trer 1 Capital Citibank’s approximately $1 billion of other net deferred tax assets
primarily represented effects of the pension liabibity adjustment, which are permitted to be excluded prior to deriving the amount of et deferred tax assets subject
to limitation under the gadelines

{5) Includable up to 1 25% of risk-weighted assets Any excess allowance for credit losses 15 deducted 1 arriving at risk-weighted assets

(6) Includes quahifying subordnated debt in an amount not exceeding 50% of Tier | Capttal

{7) Includes nsk-weighted credit equivalent amounts, net of applicable bilateral netting agreements, of $79 5 billion for interest rate, commodity and equity derivative
contracts, foreign exchange contracts, and credit derivatives as of December 31, 2011, compared with $71 7 bulion as of December 31, 2010 Market nsk
equivalent assets included in risk-weighted assets amounted to $36 5 billion at December 31, 2011 and $37 | ballion at December 31, 2010 Risk-weighted assets
also include the effect of certan other off-balance-sheet exposures, such as unused lending commutments and tetters of credt, and reflect deductions such as
certatn intangible assets and any excess allowance for credit Josses
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18 CHANGES IN ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Changes 1n each component of Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 are
as follows

Foreign
currency
Net unrealized translation Accumulated
gans {losses) adjustment, Pension other
on investment net of Cash flow habiity  comprehensive
In miltions of dollars securities hedges hedges adjustments  wcome (loss)
Balance, January 1, 2010 §(4,721) $(3,255) $(2,452) 5(1,175) $(11,603)
Change in net unrealized gains {losses) on tnvestment securities,
net of taxes'" 1,162 —_ — — 1,162
Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of taxes @ — 29 — — 29
Cash flow hedges, net of taxes ¥ — — 518 — 518
Pension hability adjustment, net of taxes™ — — — (294) {294)
Change $1,162 $ 29 $ 518 $ (294) $ 1415
Balance, December 31, 2010 $(3,559) $(3,226) $(1,934) $(1,469) $(10,188)
Change 1n net unrealized gains (losses) on investment secunhes,
net of taxes"’ $ 3,560 s — s — s — $ 3,560
Foreign currency translation ad{uslmem, net of taxes % — (2,175) — — (2,175}
Cash flow hedges, net of taxes — — (266) — (266)
Pension hability adjustment, net of taxes™ — — — (141) {141)
Change § 3,560 $(2,175) § (266) $ (141) 5 978
Balance, December 31, 2011 $ 1 §(5,401) $(2,200) $(1,610) $(9,210)

(1) Also reflecis reclassification adjustments for a reahzed loss of $1,383 mullion and a realized gam of $422 miltion, net of taxes, on investments during 201 1 and
2010, respectavely

(2) For2011 pnimanly reflects the movements in (by order of inpact) the Brazihan real, Indian rupee, Polish Zloty, and Chilean peso agamnst the U S dollar For

2010 primanly reflects the movements in (by order of impact) the Japanese yen, Austratian dollar, Bntish pound, Singapore dollar and Brazihan real against the
U S dollar

(3) Pnmardy dnven by Citibank’s pay fixed/receive floating interest rate swap programs that are hedging the floating rates on deposits and long-term debt
{4) Reflects the Company’s allocated share of adjustments to the funded status of Citigroup’s pension and postretirement plans
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19. SECURITIZATIONS AND VARIABLE
INTEREST ENTITIES

Uses of SPEs B . -
A special purpose entity (SPE) 1s an entity designed to fulfill a
specific hmited need of the company that orgamzed it The
principal uses of SPEs are to obtain Liquidity and favorable
capital treatment by securitizing certain of Citibank’s financial
assets, to assist clients in securitizing their financial assets and
to create investment products for chents SPEs may be
orgamized 1n many legal forms including trusts, partnerships or
corporations In a securitization, the company transferring assets
to an SPE converts all (or a portion) of those assets into cash
before they would have been realized 1n the normal course of
business through the SPE’s 1ssuange of debt and equity
instruments, certificates, commercial paper and other notes of
indebtedness, which are recorded on the balance sheet of the
SPE and not reflected in the transferring company’s balance
sheet, assuming applicable accounting requirements are
satisfied

Investors usually have recourse to the assets in the SPE and
often benefit from other credit enhancements, such as a
collateral account or over-collateralization in the form of excess
assets in the SPE, a line of credit, or from a hquidity facility,
such as a hiquidity put option or asset purchase agreement The
SPE can typically obtain a more favorable credit rating from
rating agenctes than the transferor could obtain for its own debt
1ssuances, resulting 1n less expensive financing costs than
unsecured debt The SPE may also enter into derivative
contracts in order to convert the yield or currency of the
underlying assets to match the needs of the SPE nvestors or to
himit or change the credit nisk of the SPE Citibank may be the
provider of certain credit enhancements as well as the
counterparty to any related derivative contracts

Most of Citibank’s SPEs are now VIEs, as described below

Variable Interest Entittes
VIEs are entities that have either a total equity investment that 18
insufficient to permit the entity to finance 1ts activities without
additional subordinated financial support, or whose equity
mvestors lack the charactenistics of a controlling financial
interest (1 e, ability to make significant decisions through voting
rights, and right to recetve the expected residual returns of the
entity or obligation to absorb the expected losses of the entity)
Investors that finance the VIE through debt or equity interests or
other counterparties that provide other forms of support, such as
guarantees, subordmated fee arrangements, or certain types of
derivative contracts, are variable interest holders in the entity
The variable interest holder, 1f any, that has a controlling
financial interest in a VIE 1s deemed to be the primary
beneficiary and must consclidate the VIE Citibank would be
deemed to have a controlling financial interest and be the
primary beneficiary 11t has both of the following
characteristics

*  powerto direct activities of a VIE that most significantly
impact the entity’s economic performance, and

* obligation to absorb losses of the entity that could
potentially-be significant to the-VIE or right to receive
benefits from the entity that could potentially be significant
to the VIE

The Company must evaluate 1ts involvement in each VIE
and understand the purpose and design of the entity, the role the
Company had 1n the entity’s design, and its involvement in the
VIE's ongoing acuivities The Company then must evaluate
which activities most significantly impact the economic
performance of the VIE and who has the power to direct such
activities

For those VIEs where the Company determines that it has
the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact
the VIE’s economic performance, the Company then must
evaluate 1ts economic interests, 1f any, and determine whether 1t
could absorb losses or receive benefits that could potentially be
significant to the VIE When evaluating whether the Company
has an obligatton to absorb losses that could potentially be
significant, 1t considers the maximum exposure to such loss
without consideration of probability Such obligations could be
in varous forms, including but not hmited to, debt and equaty
investments, guarantees, liquidity agreements, and certain
derivative contracts

In varwous other transactions, the Company may act as a
derivative counterparty (for example, iterest rate swap, cross-
currency swap, or purchaser of credit protection under a credit
default swap or total return swap where the Company pays the
total return on certain assets to the SPE), may act as underwriter
or placement agent, or may provide admimistrative, trustee or
other services The Company generally considers such
involvement, by itself, not to be vaniable interests and thus not
an indicator of power or potentially significant benefits or
losses
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Ciibank’s involvement with consolidated and unconsolidated VIEs with which the Company holds sigruificant variable interests or
has continuing involvement through servicing a majority of the assets 1n a VIE, each as of December 31, 2011 and December 31,
2010, 15 presented below

In mudirons of dollars As of December 31, 2011

Maximum exposure to loss in significant unconsohdated VIEs ¥

Funded exposures ¥ Unfunded exposures ©

Total
mvolvement Consolidated  Significant Guarantees
withSPE  VIE/SPE unconsohdated Debt Equity Funding and
assets assets VIE assets ¥ investments investments commitments derivatives Total
Credit card securitizations § 87,863 § 87,664 $ 199 5 — 5 — s — §— 5 —
Mortgage securitizations
U S agency-sponsored 333,881 — 333,881 2,651 _— — 146 2,797
Non-agency-sponsored 19,199 2,914 16,285 63 — — 2 65

Student loan securitizations 1,822 1,822 — — —_— — — —
Citibank-administered asset-

backed commercial paper

conduits (ABCP) 34,987 21,97 13,016 — — 13,016 — 13,016
Thurd-party commercial paper

conduuts 7,955 — 7,955 448 — 298 —_ 746
Collateralized debt obhigations

(CDOs) 792 — 792 — — — 81 81
Collateralized loan obligations

{CLOs) 3,091 — 3,091 334 —_ 6 — 340
Assei-based financing 26,949 878 26,071 11,346 —_ 3,134 8 14,488
Municipal securiues tender

option bond trusts (TOBs) 16,665 8,063 8,602 708 — 5,393 — 6,101
Municipal investments 21,418 144 2127 2,299 3,522 1,485 —_ 7,306
Client intermediation 218 —_— 218 218 — — —_ 218
Other 2,676 135 2,541 323 o 279 —_ 602
Total Citibank $557,513 $123,521 $433,922 $18,390 $3,522 §23,611 §237  $45,760

{1) The defimtion of maximum exposure to loss 1s included n the text that follows

(2) Included in Citibank’s December 31, 2011 Consolidated Balance Sheet

(3) Notincluded in Citibank s December 31, 2011 Consolidated Balance Sheet

(4) A sigmficant unconselidated VIE 1s an entity where the Company has any vanable interest considered to be significant, regardless of the likehthood of loss or the
notional amount of exposure
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In miliions of dollars

As of December 31, 2010

Maximum exposure to loss in significant unconsoltdated VIEs

Funded exposures 2 Unfunded exposures ™’

Total
invelvement Consoldated  Significant Guarantees
withSPE  VIE/SPE unconsolidated Debt Equity Funding and
assets assets VIE assets™ investments investments commitments derivatives Total
Credit card secuntizations $ 95667 $ 95257 3 410 s — 5§ — 5 — f— £ —
Mortgage securitizations
U S agency-sponsored 382,958 —_ 382,958 5,104 — — 135 5,239
Non-agency-spensored 24,042 3,574 20,468 173 — — —_ 173

Student loan securitizations 2,893 2,893 —_ — — — -— —
Citibank-adminmistered asset-

backed commercial paper

conduits {ABCP) 30,941 21,312 9,629 — — 9,629 — 9,629
Third-party commerctal paper

conduits 8,210 308 1,902 415 —_— 550 — 965
Collateralized debt obligations

(CDOs) 230 — 230 — — — 63 63
Collaterahized loan obligations

(CLOs) 4,468 _ 4,468 550 — 29 — 579
Asset-based financing 35,090 971 34,119 12,312 —_ 5,687 11 18,010
Municipal securities tender

option bond trusts (TOBs) 16,320 7,862 8,458 — — 6,398 — 6,398
Municipal investments 18,661 9 18,652 2,506 3,129 2,032 — 7,667
Client intermediation 796 - 796 367 —_ — 345 712
Other 3,134 310 2,824 666 43 174 1 884
Total Citibank $623,410 $132,496 $490,914 $22,093 $3,172 $24. 499 $555 $£50,319

(1) The defimtion of maximurn exposure to loss 1s included in the text that follows
(2) Included mn Citibank’s December 31, 2010 Consolidated Balance Sheet
(3) Notincluded in Ciibank's December 31, 2010 Consolidated Batance Sheet

(4) A sigmficant unconsolidated VIE 1s an entity where the Company has any vanable interest considered to be sigmficant, regardless of the hikelihood of loss or the

notional amount of exposure

The previous table does not include

e«  VIEs structured by third parties where the Company holds
securities in inventory These investments are made on
arm’s-length terms,

e certain positiens in mortgage-backed and asset-backed
securities held by the Company, which are classified as
Trading account assets or Investments, where the Company
has no other involvement with the related securitization
entity deemed to be significant For more information on
these positions, see Notes 11 and 12 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements,

e  certain representations and warranties exposures in
Consumer mortgage securitizations, where the oniginal
mortgage loan balances are no longer outstanding

61

CITIBANK N A 2010-2011 FINANCIALS



The asset balances for consolhidated VIEs represent the carrying
amounts of the assets consohdated by the Company The
carrying amount may represent the amortized cost or the current
fair value of the assets depending on the legal form of the asset
{e g, security or loan) and the Company’s standard accounting
policies for the asset type and line of business

The asset balances for unconsohidated VIEs where the
Company has significant involvement represent the most current
information available to the Company In most cases, the asset
balances represent an amortized cost basis without regard to
impairments in faiwr value, unless fair value information 1s
readily available to the Company For VIEs that obtain asset
exposures synthetically through derivative instruments (for
example, synthetic CDOs), the tables generally include the full
original notional amount of the derivative as an asset

The maximum funded exposure represents the balance
sheet carrying amount of the Company’s investment in the VIE

It reflects the imtial amount of cash invested 1n the VIE plus any
accrued interest and 15 adjusted for any impairments n value
recognized n earmings and any cash principal payments
received The maximum exposure of unfunded positions
represents the remaimng undrawn committed amount, including
hquidity and credit facilities provided by the Company, or the
notional amount of a derivative instrument considered to be a
variable interest, adjusted for any declines in fair value
recognized 1n earnings In certain transactions, the Company has
entered nto derivative instruments or other arrangements that
are not considered variable interests in the VIE (e g , interest
rate swaps, cross-currency swaps, or where the Company 1s the
purchaser of credit protection under a credit default swap or
total return swap where the Company pays the total return on
certain assets to the SPE) Recetvables under such arrangements
are not included 1n the maximum exposure amounts

Funding Commitments for Sigmificant Unconsolidated VIEs—Liquidity Facuines and Loan Commitments
The following table presents the notional amount of hquidity facihities and loan commitments that are classified as funding

commitments in the SPE table above as of December 31, 2011

In milivons of dollars

Liquidity Facihiies  Loan Commuitments

Citibank-administered ABCP $ 13,016 § —
Third-party commercial paper conduits 298 —
CLOs — 6
Asset-based financing 84 3,050
Municipal securitres TOBs 5,393 —
Mumnicipal investments 390 1,095
Other — 279
Total Citibank funding commitments §19,181 $4,430

Consolidated VIEs
The Company engages in on-balance-sheet secunitizations
which are securitizations that do not qualify for sales treatment,
thus, the assets remain on the Company’s balance sheet The
conseclidated VIEs inciuded 1n the tables below represent
hundreds of separate entities with which the Company 1s
involved In general, the third-party investors in the obligations
of consolidated VIEs have legal recourse only to the assets of
the VIEs and do not have such recourse to the Company, except
where the Company has provided a guarantee (o the investors or
1s the counterparty to certain derivative transactions involving
the VIE In addiuon, the assets are generally restricted only to
pay such habilities

Thus, the Company’s maximum legal exposure to loss
related to consolidated VIEs 1s significantly less than the
carrying value of the consohdated VIE assets due to outstanding
third-party financing Intercompany assets and habilities are
excluded from the table All assets are restricted from being sold
or pledged as collateral The cash flows from these assets are the
only source used to pay down the associated liabiltues, which
are non-recourse to the Company's general assets

The following table presents the carrying amounts and
classifications of consohdated assets that are collateral for
consolidated VIE and SPE cbligations

December 31,  December 31,

In bilhons of dollars 2011 2010

Cash $02 $07
Trading account assets 03 a9
Investments 105 78
Total loans, net 1122 1226
Other 04 0s
Total assets 5123 6 $132 5
Short-term borrowings §22.3 $241
Long-term debt 46.5 629
Other Labilities 03 02
Total habilities $69 1 $872

Significant Interests tn Unconsolidated VIEs—Balance Sheet
Classification

The following tables present the carrying amounts and
classification of significant interests in unconschidated VIEs

December 31, December 31,

In billions of dollars 2011 2010

Trading account assets §26 $31
Investments 75 87
Loans 93 g1
Other 25 47
Total assets §219 $256
Long-term debt $02 $04
Other Liabilittes — _—
Total hahilities 502 $ 04
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Credit Card Securinizattons

The Company securitizes credit card receivables through trusts
that are established to purchase the receivables Citibank
transfers receivables into the trusts on a non-recourse basis
Credit card securitizations are revolving securitizations, that 1s,
as customers pay their credit card balances, the cash proceeds
are used to purchase new receivables and replenish the
recervables in the trust Since the adoption of SFAS 167 on
January 1, 2010, the trusts are treated as consolhidated entities,
because, as servicer, Citibank has the power to direct the
activities that most significantly impact the economic
performance of the trusts and also holds a seller’s interest and

certain securities 1ssued by the trusts, and provides hquidity
facilities to the trusts, which could result 1n potentially
significant losses or benefits from the trusts Accordingly, the
transferred credit card receivables are required to remain on the
Consolidated Balance Sheet with no gain or loss recogmzed
The debt 1ssued by the trusts to third parties 15 included 1n the
Consohdated Balance Sheet

The Company relies on securitizations to fund a significant
portion of its credit card businesses in North Amernica The
following table reflects amounts related to the Company's
securitized credit card recervables

December 31,

In billions of dollars 2011 2010
Principal amount of credit card recervables 1n trusts $904 $101 6
Ownership interests in principal amount of trust credst card receivables

Sold to investors via trust-1ssued securities $43¢0 $584
Retained by Citibank as trust-issued securities 148 105
Retamed by Ciubank via non-certificated interests 326 327
Total ownership interests 1n principal amount of trust credit card receivables $904 $101 6

The following table summarizes selected cash flow
information related to Citibank’s credit card securitizations for
the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

In billions of dollars 2011 2010
Proceeds from new securitizations $39 $55
Pay down of maturing notes (20 5) 40 3)
Proceeds from collections reinvested

m new receivables N/A N/A
Contractual servicing fees receved N/A N/A
Cash flows received on retamned

mterests and other net cash flows N/A N/A

Managed Loans

After securitization of credit card receivables, the Company
continues to maintain credit card customer account
relationships and provides servicing for receivables transferred
to the trusts As a result, the Company considers the
securitized credit card receivables to be part of the business it
manages As Citibank consolidates the credit card trusts, all
managed securitized card receivables are on-balance sheet

Funding, Liquidity Facilities and Subordinated Interests
Citbank secuntizes credit card receivables through two
securitization trusts—Citibank Credit Card Master Trust
(Master Trust), and the Ciubank OMNI Master Trust (Omm
Trust), as of December 31, 2011 The habilities of the trusts
are included 1n the Consolidated Balance Sheet, excluding
those retained by Cititbank

Master Trust 1ssues fixed- and floating-rate term notes
Some of the term notes are 1ssued to multi-seller commercial
paper conduits The weighted average maturity of the term
notes issued by the Master Trust was 3 1 years as of December
31,2011 and 3 4 years as of December 31, 2010
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Master Trust Liabilities {at par value)

December 31, December 31,

In bilhons of dollars 2011 2010
Term notes tssued to multi-seller

commercial paper conduits s — £03
Term notes tssued to third parties 304 418
Term notes retained by Citibank affiliates 77 34
Total Master Trust habihities $38 1 $45 5

The Omm Trust 1ssues fixed- and floating-rate term notes,

some of which are purchased by multi-seller commercial
paper conduits

The weighted average maturity of the third-party term
notes tssued by the Omn: Trust was 1 5 years as of December
31,2011 and 1 8 years as of December 31, 2010

Omn Trust Liabilities (at par value)

December 31, December 31,

In billions of dollars 2011 2010
Term notes 1ssued to multi-seller

commercial paper conduits $34d $§72
Term notes 1ssued to third parties 92 92
Term notes retained by Citibank aftilates 71 71
Total Omm Trust habibities $197 $235
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Mortgage Securitizations
The Company provides a wide range of mortgage loan
products o a diverse customer base

Once onginated, the Company often securitizes these
loans through the use of SPEs These SPEs are funded through
the tssuance of Trust Certificates backed solely by the
transferred assets These ceruficates have the same average
Iife as the transferred assets In addition to providing a source
of hquidity and less expensive funding, securiizing these
assets also reduces the Company’s credit exposure to the
borrowers These mortgage loan secuntizations are primarily
non-recourse, thereby effectively transferring the risk of future
credit losses 10 the purchasers of the securities 1ssued by the
trust However, the Company's Consumer business generally
retains the servicing rights and in certain instances retains
investment securities, interest-only strips and residual interests
tn future cash flows from the trusts and also provides servicing
for a hmited number of Citigroup businesses

The Company securitizes mortgage loans generally
through either a government-sponsored agency, such as
Ginme Mae, FNMA or Freddie Mac (U § agency-sponsored

mortgages), or private label (non-agency-sponsored
mortgages) securttization The Company 1s not the primary
beneficiary of 1ts U § agency-sponsored mortgage
securitizations, because Citibank does not have the power to
direct the activities of the SPE that most significantly impact
the entity’s economic performance Therefore, Citibank does
not consolidate these U S agency-sponsored mortgage
securttizations
The Company does not consolidate certain non-agency-

sponsored mortgage securitizations because Citibank 1s either
not the servicer with the power to direct the sigmificant
activities of the entity or Citibank 15 the servicer but the
servicing relationship 1s deemed to be a fiduciary relationship
and, therefore, Citibank 1s not deemed to be the primary
beneficiary of the entity

In certain instances, the Company has (1) the power to
direct the acuvities and (2) the obligation to erther absorb
losses or right to receive benefits that could be potentially
sigruficant to Its non-agency-sponsored mortgage
securihizattons and, therefore, 1s the primary beneficiary and
consolidates the SPE

The following tables summarize selected cash flow information related to Citibank morigage secuntizations for the years ended

December 31, 2011 and 2010

In billions of dotlars 2011 2010 ‘
Proceeds from new secuntizations $507 $538
Contractual servicing fees recerved 11 13
Cash flows received on retained interests and other net cash flows 02 02 |

Gauns recognized on the securitization of mortgages in 2011 were $78 milhon Gans recogmzed on the securiuization of .

mortgages during 2010 were $138 million

Key assumputions used 1n measuring the fair value of retained interests at the date of sale or secuntization of mortgage receivables

for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 are as follows

2011 2010

Discount rate 14 6% 13 7%
Constant prepayment rate 64% 89%
Anucipated net credit losses NM NM
NM Not meaningful Anticipated net credit losses are not meaningful due to U § agency guarantees
The 1nterests retained by the Company range from highly rated In mithons of doliars December 31, 2011
and/or semor in the caputal structure to unrated and/or residual Discount rate 8£3%
interests Constant prepayment rale 310%

The effect of adverse changes of 10% and 20% in each of Anticipated net credit losses NM
the key assumptions used to determine the fair value of retained Weighted average hife 40 years
interests 15 disclosed below The negative effect of each change garrymg value of retained interests 52,806
1s calculated independently, holding all other assumptions 'i:g:xsza;;ge of 10% s (8)
constant Because the key assumptions may not in fact be Adverse change of 20%

2€ 0 o (149)
independent, the net effect of simultaneous adverse changes in Constant prepayment rate
the key assumptions may be less than the sum of the individual Adverse change of 10% § (249)
effects shown below Adverse change of 20% (483)
At December 31, 2011, the key assumptions used Antcipated net credit losses

to value retained interests and the sensitivity of the fair value to Adverse change of 10% $ (43)
adverse changes of 10% and 20% n each of the key Adverse change of 20% (82)

assumptions were as follows
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Mortgage Servicing Rights
In connection with the securitization of mortgage leans, the
Company’s U S Consumer mortgage business retains the
servicing rights, which entitle the Company to a future stream of
cash flows based on the outstanding principal balances of the
loans and the contractual servicing fee Failure to service the
loans 1n accordance with contractual requirements may lead to a
termunation of the servicing rights and the loss of future
servicing fees

The fair value of capitalized mortgage servicing rights
(MSRs) was 32 6 hillion and $4 6 billion at December 31, 2011
and 2010, respectively The MSRs correspond to principal loan
balances of $401 billion and $455 bilhon as of December 31,
2011 and 2010, respectively The following table summarizes
the changes in capitalized MSRs for the years ended December
31,2011 and 2010

In nullions of doilars 2011 2010
Balance, as of the beginmng of year $4,554  $6,530
Ongnations 611 658
Changes in fair value of MSRs due to changes

in inputs and assumptions {1,210) {1,067
Other changes (1,174) {1,567)
Sale of MSRs (212) —
Balance, end of year $2,569  $4,554

{1} Represents changes due to customer payments and passage of ime

The market for MSRs 1s not sufficiently hquid to provide
participants with quoted market prices Therefore, the Company
uses an option-adjusted spread valuation approach to determine
the fair value of MSRs This approach consists of projecting
servicing cash flows under multiple interest rate scenarios and
discounting these cash flows using nsk-adjusted discount rates
The key assumptions used 1n the valuation of MSRs include
mortgage prepayment speeds and discount rates The model
assumptions and the MSRs’ fair value estimates are compared to
observable trades of similar MSR portfolios and interest-only
secunty portfelios, as available, as well as to MSR broker
valuations and industry surveys The cash flow model and
underlying prepayment and interest rate models used to value
these MSRs are subject to valtdation 1n accordance with the
Company’s model validation policies

The fair value of the MSRs 1s primanly affected by changes
n prepayments that result from shifts 1n mortgage interest rates
In managing this risk, the Company economically hedges a
significant portion of the value of 1ts MSRs through the use of
interest rate derivative contracts, forward purchase
commitments of mortgage-backed securities and purchased
securiues classified as trading
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The Company receives fees during the course of servicing
previously securitized mortgages The amounts of these fees for
the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 were as follows

In muillions of doilars 2011 2010

Servicing fees $1,170 $1,356
Late fees 76 87
Ancillary fees 130 214
Total MSR fees $1376 $1,657

These fees are classified in the Consolidated Statement of
Income as Other revenue

Cutrtbank Adrmunistered Asset-Backed Commerctal Paper
Conduus
The Company 1s active 1n the asset-backed commercial paper
conduit business as adminstrator of several multi-seller
commercial paper conduits and also as a service provider to
single-seller and other commercial paper conduits sponsored by
third parties

Citibank’s multi-seller commercial paper conduits are
designed to provide the Company’s clients access to low-cost
funding 1n the commercial paper markets The conduits
purchase assets from or provide financing facilities to clients
and are funded by 1ssuing commercial paper to third-party
investors The conduits generally do not purchase assets
originated by the Company The funding of the conduits 1s
facilitated by the hquidity support and credit enhancements
provided by the Company

As admimstrator to Cittbank’s conduits, the Company 1s
generally responstble for selecting and structuring assets
purchased or financed by the condwuits, making decisions
regarding the funding of the conduits, including determiming the
tenor and other features of the commercial paper 1ssued,
monitoring the quahty and performance of the conduits’ assets,
and facilitating the operations and cash flows of the conduits In
return, the Company earns structuring fees from customers for
individual transactions and earns an admuinistration fee from the
conduit, which 1s equal to the income from the chent program
and liquidity fees of the condunt after payment of conduit
expenses This administration fee 1s fairly stable, since most
risks and rewards of the underlying assets are passed back to the
chients and, once the asset pricing 15 negotiated, most ongoing
ncome, costs and fees are relatively stable as a percentage of
the conduit’s size

The conduits admimistered by the Company do not
generally invest in liquid securities that are formally rated by
third parties The assets are privately negotiated and structured
transactions that are designed to be held by the conduit, rather
than actively traded and sold The yield earned by the conduit
on each asset 15 generally tied to the rate on the commercial
paper issued by the conduit, thus passing interest rate risk to the
client Each asset purchased by the conduit 1s structured with
transaction-specific credit enhancement features provided by the
third-party chient seller, including over collateralization, cash
and excess spread collateral accounts, direct recourse or third-
party guarantees These credit enhancements are sized with the
objective of approximating a credit rating of A or above, based
on the Company’s internal risk ratings
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Substantially all of the funding of the condutts 1s 1n the
form of short-term commercial paper, with a weighted average
life generally ranging from 25 to 60 days As of December 31,
2011 and December 31, 2010, the weighted average lives of the
commercial paper issued by consclidated and unconsolidated
conduits were approximately 37 and 41 days, respectively, at
each penod end

The primary credit enhancement provided to the condut
mvestors 1s 1n the form of transaction-specific credit
enhancement described above 1n addition, each consohdated
conduit has obtained a letter of credit from the Company, which
needs to be sized to be at least 8—-10% of the conduit’s assets
with a floor of $200 million The letters of credit provided by
the Company to the consolidated condusts total approximately
$2 0 ullion The net result across all multi-seller conduits
administered by the Company 1s that, 1n the event defaulted
assets exceed the transaction-specific credit enhancements
described above, any losses 1n each conduit are allocated first to
the Company and then the commercial paper investors

The Company also provides the conduits with two forms of
hquidity agreements that are used to provide funding to the
conduits in the event of @ market disruption, among other
events Each asset of the conduits 1s supported by a transaction-
specific iqudity facility 1n the form of an asset purchase
agreement (APA) Under the APA, the Company has generatly
agreed to purchase non-defaulted ehgible receivables from the
conduit at par The APA 1s not generally designed to provide
credit support to the conduit, as 1t generally does not permit the
purchase of defaulted or impatred assets Any funding under the
APA will likely subject the underlying borrower to the conduits
to wncreased interest costs In addition, the Company provides
the conduits with program-wide hquidity in the form of short-
term lending commitments Under these commitments, the
Company has agreed to lend to the conduits in the event of a
short-term disruption 1n the commercial paper market, subject to
specified conditions The Company receives fees for providing
both types of iquidity agreements and considers these fees to be
on farr market terms

With the exception of the government-guaranteed loan
conduit described below, the asset-backed commercial paper
conduits are consolidated by the Company The Company
determined that through 1ts role as admimistrator it had the
power to direct the activities that most significantly mmpacted
the entities’ economic performance These powers included 1ts
ability to structure and approve the assets purchased by the
conduits, its ongoing surveillance and credit mitigation
activities, and 1ts hiability management In addition, as a result of
all the Company’s involvement described above, it was
concluded that the Company had an economic interest that could
potentially be significant However, the assets and liabilities of
the conduits are separate and apart from those of Ciibank No
assets of any conduit are available to satisfy the creditors of
Ciugroup or any of its other subsidiaries

The Company adminusters one condutt that originates loans
to third-party borrowers and those obligations are fully
guaranteed primarily by AAA-rated government agencies that
support export and development financing programs The
economic performance of this government-guaranteed loan
conduit 1s most sigmficantly impacted by the performance of its
underlying assets The guarantors must approve each loan held
by the entity and the guarantors have the ability (through
establishment of the servicing terms to direct default mitigation

and to purchase defaulted loans} to manage the conduit’s loans
that become delinquent to improve the economic performance
of the conduit Because the Company does not have the power
to direct the activauies of this government-guaranteed loan
condurt that most sigmficantly impact the economic
performance of the entity, 1t was concluded that the Company
should not consclidate the entity The total notional exposure
under the program-wide hquidity agreement for the Company’s
unconsolidated admimstered conduit as of December 31, 2011 15
50 6 billien The program-wide hquidity agreement, along with
each assel APA, 1s considered tn the Company’s maximum
exposure to loss to the unconsolidated admimstered conduit

As of December 31, 2011, this unconsohidated government-
guaranteed loan condunt held assets of approximately $13 0
bitlion

Finally, an affiliate of the Company is one of several named
dealers 1n the commercial paper 1ssued by the conduits and
camns a market-based fee for providing such services As of
December 31, 2011, the Company owned $144 million of the
commercial paper 1ssued by its unconsolidated admimistered
condwuit

Third-Party Commercial Paper Condutts

The Company also provides Liquidity facilities to single- and
multi-seller conduits sponsored by third parties These conduits
are independently owned and managed and invest in a variety of
asset classes, depending on the nature of the conduit The
facthties provided by the Company typically represent a small
portion of the total hqudity facilities obtained by each condutt,
and are collateralized by the assets of each conduit As of
December 31, 201 1, the notional amount of these facilities was
approximately $746 million, of which $448 mullion was funded
under these facilines The Company 1s not the party that has the
power to direct the activities of these conduits that most
significantly impact their economic performance and thus does
not consolidate them

Collateralized Debt and Loan Obligations
A securitized collateralized debt obligation (CDQ) 15 an SPE
that purchases a pool of assets consisting of asset-backed
securtties and synthetic exposures through derivatives on asset-
backed secunities and 1ssues multiple tranches of equity and
notes 10 nvestors

A cash CDO, or arbiirage CDG, 15 a CDO designed to take
advantage of the difference between the yield on a portfolio of
selected assets, typically residential mortgage-backed securities,
and the cost of funding the CDO through the sale of notes to
mvestors “Cash flow” CDOs are entities in which the CDO
passes on cash flows from a pool of assets, while “market
value” CDOs pay to investors the market value of the pool of
assets owned by the CDO at maturity In these transactions, all
of the equity and notes 1ssued by the CDO are funded, as the
cash is needed to purchase the debt securities

A synthetic CDO 1s similar to a cash CDO, except that the
CDO obtains exposure to all or a portion of the referenced assets
synthetically through derivative instruments, such as credit
default swaps Because the CDO does not need to raise cash
sufficient to purchase the entire referenced portfolio, a
substantial portion of the semor tranches of risk 1s typically
passed on to CDO nvestors in the form of unfunded liabilities
or derivative instruments Thus, the CDO writes credit
protection on select referenced debt securities to the Company
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or third parties and the nisk 1s then passed on to the CDO
investors n the form of funded notes or purchased credit
protection through derivative instruments Any cash raised from
investors 1s invested in a portfolio of collateral securities or
investment contracts The collateral is then used to support the
obhgations of the CDO on the credit default swaps written to
counterparties

A secuntized collateralized loan obligation (CLO) 1s
substantially similar to the CDO transactions descnibed above,
except that the assets owned by the SPE (either cash instruments
or synthetic exposures through derivative instruments) are
corporate loans and to a lesser extent corporate bonds, rather
than asset-backed debt secunities

A third-party asset manager 1s typically retained by the
CDO/CLO 1o select the pool of assets and manage those assets
over the term of the SPE

The Company earns fees for warehousing assets prior to the
creation of a “cash flow” or “market value” CDO/CLO In
addition, the Company has retained interests 1n many of the
CDOs/CLOs 1t has structured

The continuing involvement of the Company and 1its
affiliates 1n synthetic CDOs/CLOs generally includes
purchasing credit protection through credit default swaps with
the CDO/CLQO, owning a portion of the capital structure of the
CDO/CLO 1n the form of both unfunded derivative positions
(primarily super-senior exposures discussed below) and funded
notes, entering into interest-rate swap and total-return swap
transactions with the CDO/CLQ, and lending to the CDO/CLO

Where a CDO/CLO entity issues preferred shares (or
subordinated notes that are the equivalent form), the preferred
shares generally represent an insufficient amount of equity (less
than 10%) and create the presumption that preferred shares are
nsufficient to finance the entity’s activities without
subordinated financial support In addition, although the
preferred sharcholders generally have full exposure to expected
losses on the collateral and uncapped potential to receive
expected residual returns, they generally do not have the ability
to make decisions about the entity that have a significant effect
on the entity’s financial results because of thetr limited role in
making day-to-day decisions and their imted abtlity to remove
the asset manager Because one or both of the above conditions
will generally be met, the Company has concluded that, even
where a CDO/CLO entity 1ssued preferred shares, the entity
should be classified as a VIE

In general, the asset manager, through its abtlity to purchase
and sell assets or—where the reinvestment period of a
CDO/CLO has expired—the ability to sell assets, will have the
power 10 direct the activittes of the entity that most significantly
impact the economic performance of the CDO/ CLO However,
where a CDO/CLO has experienced an event of default or an
optional redemption period has gone into effect, the activities of
the asset manager may be curtalled and/or certain additional
rights will generally be provided to the investors in a CDO/CLO
entity, including the night to direct the hquidation of the
CDO/CLO entity

The Company has retained sigmificant portions of the
“super-senior” posttions 1ssued by certain CDOs These
positions are referred to as “super-semor” because they
represent the most senior positions n the CDO and, at the time
of structuring, were senior to tranches rated AAA by
mdependent rating agencies The positions have included
facilities structured 1 the form of short-term commercial paper,
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where the Company wrote put options (“hiquidity puts”} to
certain CDOs Under the terms of the hquidity puts, 1f the CDO
was unable to 1ssue commercial paper at a rate below a specified
maximum (generally LIBOR + 35 bps to LIBOR + 40 bps), the
Company was obligated to fund the senior tranche of the CDO
at a specified interest rate As of December 31, 2011, the
Company no longer had exposure to this commercral paper as
all of the underlying CDOs had been hiquidated

The Company does not generally have the power to direct
the activities of the entity that most significantly impacts the
economic performance of the CDOs/CLOs as this power 15
generally held by a third-party asset manager of the CDO/CLO
As such, those CDOs/CLOs are not conschdated The Company
may consohdate the CDO/CLO when (1) the Company is the
asset manager and no other single investor has the umlateral
ability to remove the Company or unilaterally cause the
hquidation of the CDO/CLO, or the Company 1s not the asset
manager but has a umlateral right to remove the third-party asset
manager or untlaterally hquidate the CDO/CLO and receive the
underlying assets, and (11) the Company has economic exposure
to the entity that could be potentially significant to the entity

The Company continues to monitor 1ts involvement in
unconsohidated CDOs/CLOs to assess future consolidation risk
For example, 1f the Company were to acquire additional
interests in these entities and obtain the right, due to an event of
default tngger being met, to unulaterally hiquidate or direct the
activities of a CDO/CLO, the Company may be required to
consohdate the asset entity For cash CDOs/CLOs, the net result
of such consolidation would be to gross up the Company’s
balance sheet by the current fair value of the secunties held by
third parties and assets held by the CDO/CLO, which amounts
are not considered matenial For synthetic CDOs/CLOs, the net
result of such consolidation may reduce the Company’s balance
sheet, because intercompany derivative recetvables and payables
would be eliminated in consolidation, and other assets held by
the CDQ/CLO and the securities held by third parties would be
recognized at their current fair values
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Asset-Based Financing
The Company provides loans and other forms of financing to
VIEs that hold assets Those loans are subject to the same credit
approvals as all other loans originated or purchased by the
Company Financings in the form of debt securities or
dervatives are, 1n most circumstances, reported in Trading
account assets and accounted for at farr value through earnings
The Company generally does not have the power to direct the
activities that most significantly impact these VIEs’ economic
performance and thus 1t does not consolidate them

The primary types of Cittbank’s asset-based financings, total
assets of the unconsolidated VIEs with significant involvement
and the Company's maximum exposure to loss at December 31,
2011 are shown below For the Company to realize that
maximum loss, the VIE (borrower) would have to default with
no recovery from the assets held by the VIE

Total Maximum
In billions of doilars assets exposure
Type
Commercial and other real estate $ 42 §10
Hedge funds and equities 60 23
Aarplanes, ships and other assets 12 73
Corporate loans 47 39
Total $261 $14 5

The following table summanzes selected cash flow
information related to asset-based financing for the years ended
December 31, 2011 and 2010.

In biltions of dollars 2011 2010
Cash flows received on retamned interests
and other net cash flows 309 $§22

The effect of adverse changes of 10% and 20% n the
discount rate used to determine the fair value of retained
interests as of December 31, 2011 1s disclosed below

Asset-based
In mithans of dollars financing

Carrying value of retained interests §3,864
Value of underlying portioho
Adverse change of 10% —
Adverse change of 20% —

Municipal Securities Tender Option Bond (TOB) Trusts

TOB trusts hold fixed- and floating-rate, taxable and tax-exempt
securities 1ssued by state and local governments and
municipalities The trusts are typically single-1ssuer trusts whose
assets are purchased from the Company or from other investors
in the municipal securities market The TOB trusts fund the
purchase of their assets by 1ssuing long-term, putable floating
rate certificates (Floaters) and residual certificates (Residuals)
The trusts are referred to as Tender Option Bond trusts because
the Floater holders have the ability to tender their interests
periodically back to the 1ssuing trust, as described further below
The Floaters and Residuals evidence beneficial ownership
interests 1n, and are collateralized by, the underlying assets of
the trust The Floaters are held by third-party investors, typically
tax-exempt money market funds The Residuals are typically
held by the original owner of the munictpal securities being
financed

The Floaters and the Residuals have a tenor that 1s equal 1o
or shorter than the tenor of the underlying municipal bonds The
Residuals entitle their holders to the residual cash flows from
the 1ssuing trust, the interest income generated by the underlying
municipal securities net of interest paid on the Floaters and trust
expenses The Residuals are rated based on the long-term rating
of the underlying municipal bend The Floaters bear variable
interest rates that are reset periodically to a new market rate
based on a spread to a high grade, short-term, tax-exempt index
TFhe Floaters have a long-term rating based on the long-term
rating of the underlying municipal bond and a short-term rating
based on that of the hiquidity provider to the trust

There are two kinds of TOB trusts cusiomer TOB trusts
and non-customer TOB trusts Customer TOB trusts are trusts
through which customers finance their investments in municipal
securitics The Residuals are held by customers and the Floaters
by third-party nvestors, typically tax-exempt money market
funds Non-customer TOB trusts are trusts through which the
Company finances its own investments i municipal securities
In such trusts, the Company holds the Residuals and third-party
investors, typically tax-exempt money market funds, hold the
Floaters

An affiliate of the Company serves as remarketing agent to
the trusts, placing the Floaters with third-party investors at
inception, facilitating the periodic reset of the variable rate of
interest on the Floaters and remarketing any tendered Floaters

For certain non-customer trusts, the Company also provides
credit enhancement Approximately $67 miltion of the
municipal bends owned by TOB trusts have a credit guarantee
provided by the Company

The Company provides liqudity to many of the outstanding
trusts !f a trust 15 unwound early due to an event other than a
credit event on the underlying mumcipal bond, the underlying
municipal bonds are sold 1n the market [fthere s a shortfall in
the trust’s cash flows between the redemption price of the
tendered Floaters and the proceeds from the sale of the
underlying murnicipal bonds, the trust draws on a hquidity
agreement 1n an amount equal to the shortfall For customer
TOBs where the Residual 1s less than 25% of the trust’s capital
structure, the Company has a reimbursement agreement with the
Residual holder under which the Residual holder reimburses the
Company for any payment made under the hquidity
arrangement Through this reimbursement agreement, the
Residual holder remains economically exposed to fluctuations 1n
value of the underlying mumcipal bonds These reimbursement
agreements are generally subject to daily margining based on
changes 1n value of the underlying municipal bond In cases
where a third party provides hquidity to a non-customer TOB
trust, a similar reimbursement arrangement 1S made whereby the
Company (or a conselidated subsidiary of the Company) as
Residual holder absorbs any losses incurred by the hquidity
provider

As of December 31, 2011, hquidity agreements provided
with respect 1o customer TOB trusts totaled $5 4 b:llion of
which $4 0 billion was offset by reimbursement agreements
The remaining exposure related to TOB transactions where the
Residual owned by the customer was at least 25% of the bond
value at the inception of the transaction and no resmbursement
agreement was executed The Company also provides other
liquidity agreements or letters of credit to customer-sponsored
municipal investment funds, that are not variable interest
entities, and municipality-related issuers that totaled $11 7
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billion as of December 31, 2011 These hiquidity agreements and
letters of credit are offset by reimbursement agreements with
various term-cut provisions

The Company considers the customer and non-customer
TOB trusts to be VIEs Customer TOB trusts are not
consolidated by the Company The Company has concluded that
the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact
the economic performance of the customer TOB trusts 15
primarily held by the customer Residual holder, who may
unilaterally cause the sale of the trust’s bonds

Non-customer TOB trusts generally are consolidated
Similar to customer TOB trusts, the Company has concluded
that the power over the non-customer TOB trusts 1s primanly
held by the Residual holder, which may unilaterally cause the
sale of the trust’s bonds Because the Company helds the
Residual interest, and thus has the power to direct the activities
that most significantly impact the trust’s economic performance,
it consolidates the non-customer TOB trusts

Municipal Investments

Municipal investment transactions include debt and equity
mnterests 1n partnerships that finance the construction and
rehabiiitation of low-income housing, facilitate lending in new
or underserved markets, or finance the construction or operation
of renewable municipal energy facilities The Company
generally invests in these partnerships as a limited partner and
eamns a return primartly through the receipt of tax credits and
grants earned from the investments made by the partnershup
The Company may also provide construction loans or
permanent loans to the development or continuation of real
estate properues held by partnerships These entities are
generally considered VIEs The power to direct the activities of
these entities 1s typically held by the general partner
Accordingly, these entities are not consohidated by the
Company
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Client Intermediation
Client intermediation transactions represent a range of
transactions designed to provide investors with spectfied returns
based on the returns of an underlying securtty, referenced asset
or index These transactions include credit-hnked notes and
equity-linked notes In these transactions, the VIE typically
obtains exposure 1o the underlying security, referenced asset or
mndex through a denvatrve instrument, such as a total-return
swap or a credit-default swap In turn the VIE 1ssues notes to
vestors that pay a return based on the specified underlying
security, referenced asset or index The VIE invests the proceeds
in a financial asset or a guaranteed nsurance contract (GIC) that
serves as collateral for the derivative contract over the term of
the transaction The Company’s involvement in these
transactions includes being the counterparty to the VIE’s
derivative instruments and 1nvesting in a portion of the notes
1ssued by the VIE In certain transactions, the investor’s
maximum nisk of loss 1s limited and the Company absorbs nsk
of loss above a specified level The Company does not have the
power to direct the activities of the VIEs that most significantly
impact their economic performance and thus it does not
consolidate them

The Company’s maximum risk of loss in these transactions
15 defined as the amount invested i notes 1ssued by the VIE and
the notional amount of any risk of loss absorbed by the
Company through a separate instrument 1ssued by the VIE The
denvative instrument held by the Company may generate a
recewvable from the VIE (for example, where the Company
purchases credit protecuon from the VIE in connection with the
VIE’s 1ssuance of a credit-hnked note), which 1s collateralized
by the assets owned by the VIE These derivative instruments
are not considered variable interests and any associated
recetvables are not included in the calculation of maximum
exposure to the VIE
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20 DERIVATIVES ACTIVITIES

In the ordinary course of business, Cittbank enters into various
types of derivative transactions These denvative transactions
mclude

o Futures and forward contracts, which are commitments to
buy or sell at a future date a financial instrument,
commodity or currency at a contracted price and may be
settled 1n cash or through delivery

*  Swap contracts, which are commitments to settle in cash at
a future date or dates that may range from a few daysto a
number of years, based on differentials between specified
financial indices, as apphied to a notienal amount

s Opnion contracts, which give the purchaser, for a premium,
the right, but not the obligation, to buy or sell within a
specified time a financial instrument, commodity or
currency at a contracted price that may also be settled in
cash, based on differentials between specified indices or
prices

Ciubank enters into these derivative contracts relating 1o
interest rate, foreign currency. commodity, and other
market/credit risks for the following reasons

s Trading Purposes—Customer Needs Citibank offers its
customers dertvatives 1in connection with their risk-
management actions to transfer, modify or reduce their
interest rate, foreign exchange and other market/credit risks
or for their own trading purposes As part of this process,
Citibank considers the customers’ suitabtlity for the risk
involved and the business purpose for the transaction
Ciubank also manages 1ts denvative risk positions through
offsetung trade activities, controls focused on price
venficauon, and daily reporting of posittons to senior
managets

»  Trading Purposes-—Own Account Ciibank trades
denvatives for 1ts own account and as an active market
maker Trading limits and price venfication controls are
key aspects of this activity

s Hedging—Cittbank uses denvatives 1n connection with its
risk-management activities to hedge certain risks or
reposition the risk profile of the Company For example,
Citibank 1ssues fixed-rate long-term debt and then enters
nto a receive-fixed, pay-vanable-rate inlerest rate swap
with the same tenor and niotional amount to convert the
interest payments (o a net variable-rate basis Thus strategy
1s the most common form of an interest rate hedge, as 1t
minimizes interest cost in certain yield curve environments
Derivatives are also used to manage risks inherent in
spectfic groups of on-balance-sheet assets and habilites,
including AFS secunities and deposit habiliues, as well as
other interest-sensitive assets and habhiies In addition,
foreign-exchange contracts are used to hedge non-U S -
dellar-denominated debt, foreign-currency-denominated
available-for-sale securities and net investment exposures
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Denivatives may expose Citibank to market, credit or
liquidity nisks tn excess of the amounts recorded on the
Consolidated Balance Sheet Market nisk on a denvative product
1s the exposure created by potenuial fluctuations 1n interest rates,
foreign-exchange rates and other factors and is a funcuon of the
type of product, the volume of transactions, the tenor and terms
of the agreement, and the underlying volaulity Credit nisk 1s the
exposure to loss 1n the event of nonperformance by the other
party to the transacuon where the value of any collateral held is
not adequate to cover such losses The recogmition tn earnings of
unreahized gains on these transactions 1s subject to
management’s assessment as to collectability Liquidity nisk (s
the potential exposure that arises when the size of the derivative
position may not be able to be rapidly adjusted 1n perieds of
high volatility and financial stress at a reasonable cost

Information pertaining to the volume of denvative activity
1s provided in the tables below The notional amounts, for both
long and short denivative positions, of Citibank’s derivative
instruments as of December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010
are presented 1n the table below
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Derivative Notionals

Hedging instruments under

ASC 815 (SFAS 133) ) . QOther derivative instruments
. Trading derivatives Management hedges @
December 31, December 31, , December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,

In mmilizons of dotlars 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
Interest rate contracts

Swaps § 42,745 $ 36,347 | $31,370,523  $31,032,762 $111,941 $106,441

Futures and forwards — — 3,235,225 3,863,952 43,964 46,140

Written options — —_— 3,631,118 3,209,724 16,733 8,673

Purchased options - e 3,719,357 3,112,174 7,070 18,030
Total interest rate contract notionals § 42,745 $ 36,347 | $41,9%6,223 $41.218612 $179,708 §179,284
Foreign exchange contracts

Swaps $ 1214 $  951| § 1,348,177 § 1,239,563 s 518 s 378

Futures and forwards 49,323 65,666 3,340,122 2,915,410 2,718 2,016

Wnitten options 141 569 601,342 632,100 190 50

Purchased options 31,597 13,530 § 593,948 554,479 53 174
Total foreign exchange contract notionals § 82275 $ 80,716 . § 5,883,589 § 5,341,552 § 3479 $ 26138
Equity contracts

Swaps S — 3 — i 5 88,065 % 59543 5 —_ $ -

Futures and forwards — —_ 4,691 5,237 — —_

Written options — —_ 109,411 66,993 — _

Purchased options — — 90,580 63,166 — —
Total equity contract notionals $ —_ $ — 1 § 292747 $ 194939 S — $ —
Commodity and other contracts

Swaps 5 —_ 5 —1 8 28,059 § 14,319 3 — b _

Futures and forwards — — 31,489 21,780 — —

Written options — — 105,794 23,018 — —

Purchased options — — 131,116 25,645 — —
Total commodity and other contract notignals $ — b — | 8 296458 § 84,762 $ — 3 —
Credit derivatives

Protection sold b — $ — 1| $ 1,439,748 5 1,218,768 § — $ —

Protection purchased 4,253 4,928 1,509,181 1,277,618 21,914 28,526
Total credit derivatives S 4,253 § 4928 5 2,948,929 $ 2,496,386 $ 21,914 $ 28,526
Total derivative notionals $129,273 $121,991 | $51,377,946 $49,336,251 $205,101 $210,428

(1) Denvatives in hedge accounting relationships accounted for under ASC 815 (SFAS 133} are recorded in etther Other assets/Other liabilities or Trading account
assets/Trading account ltabiliies on the Consolidated Balance Sheet

(2) Management hedges represent denvative nstruments used in certain economic hedging relationships that are :dentified for management purposes, but for which
hedge accounting 1s not applied These derivatives are recorded in either Other assets/Other liabilities or Trading account assels/Trading account liabilinies on the
Consolidated Balance Sheet

{3} Credit derivatives are arrangements designed to allow one party (protection buyer) to transfer the credit risk of a “reference asset” to another party (protection
seller) These arrangements allow & protection seller to assume the credit nsk associated with the reference asset without directly purchasing that asset The
Company has entered into credut derivative pesitions for purposes such as risk management, yield enhancement, reduction of eredit concentrations and
diversification of ovenal] nisk
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Derivative Mark-to-Market (MTM) Recervables/Payables

Dervatives classified in Trading Denvatives classified in Other

account assets/habilities (V@ assets/habilities ¥

In millions of dollars at December 31 201! Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilihies
Dervative instruments designated as ASC 815 (SFAS 133) hedges
Interest rate contracts L) 41 $ 3135 $ 2 $1,509
Foreign exchange contracts 2,139 261 342 186
Total denvative instruments designated as

ASC 815 (SFAS 133) hedges $ 2,180 $ 339 § 34 $1,695
Other derivative instruments
Interest rate contracts § 823,448 § 811,710 $ 188 s 182
Foreign exchange contracts 103,802 101,451 2 1
Equity contracts 13,167 15,005 — —_
Commuodity and other contracts 5,809 6,063 — —
Credit derivatives ¥ 89,443 84,318 430 126
Total other dernivative instruments §1,035,669 $1,018,547 $ 620 $ 279
Total derivatives $1,037,849 $1,021,943 5964 $1974
Cash collateral paid/recerved 59,288 55,344 307 556
Less Netung agreements and market value adjustments ¥ (1,025,453) (1,020,899 — —
Net receivables/payables § 71,684 § 56,388 $1,271 $2,530

(1) The trading denvatives fair values are presented in Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(2) Denvative mark-to-market receivables/payables related to management hedges are recorded in exther Other assets/Other lrabilities or Trading account
assets/Trading account liabilines

(3) The ¢redu denivatives trading assets are compaosed of 378,071 mullion related to protection purchased and $11,372 millien related to protecuon sold as of
December 31, 2011 The credit derivatives trading liabilities are composed of $11,938 mulhion related to protection purchased and $72,380 mallion related to
protection sold as of December 31, 2011

(4) Represents the netuing of derivative receivable and payable balances for the same counterparty under enforceable netting agreements

Denvatives classified in Trading Derivatives classified in Other
account assets/abilities @ assets/liabilities

In nuihions of doliars at December 31 2010 Assets Liabilities Assels Liabilities
Denivative instruments designated as ASC 815 (SFAS 133) hedges
Interest rate contracts 3 — £ — $ 118 $2,048
Foreign exchange contracts 237 633 646 1,052
Tetal derivative instruments designated as

ASC 815 (SFAS 133) hedges § 237 $ 633 § 764 $3,100
Other denvative instruments
Interest rate contracts $£509,792 $507,377 $2,449 $2.463
Foreign exchange contracts 95,153 91,919 3 518
Equity contracts 8,308 10,637 — —_
Commodity and other contracts 4,838 5,342 — —
Credit denvatives @ 64,014 57,250 28 337
Total other denvative instruments $682,105 $672,525 $2,540 $3,318
Total derivatives $682,342 $673,158 $3,304 56,418
Cash collateral paid/recerved 49,127 44,032 12 598
Less Netting agreements and market value adjusiments {674,018) (669,822) — —
Net recervables/payables $ 57451 $ 47.368 $3,316 $7,016

(1) The trading denvatives fair values are presented in Note 11 to the Consclidated Financaal Statements

(2) Denvative mark-to-market recervables/payables related to management hedges are recorded 1n euther Qther assets/Other liabifities or Trading account
assets/Trading account habthires

(3)  The credt derivatives trading assets are composed of $41,493 milkion retated to protecuion purchased and $22,521 million related to protection sold as of
December 31, 2010 The credit dervatives trading habilinies are composed of $22,453 milhion related to protection purchased and $34,797 million related to
protection sold as of December 3, 2010

(4) Represents the netting of denvative recervable and payable balances for the same counterparty under enforceable netting agreements

72
CITIBANK N A 2010-2011 FINANCIALS




All derivatives are reported on the balance sheet at fair
value In additton, where apphcable, all such contracts covered
by master netting agreements are reported net Gross positive
fair values are netted with gross negative fair values by
counterparty pursuant to a valid master netting agreement In
addiuion, payables and receivables 1n respect of cash collateral
received from or paid to a given counterparty are included in
this netting However, non-cash collateral 1s not included

The amount of payables in respect of cash collateral
received that was netted with unrealized gains from derivatives
was $36 billion and $24 billion as of December 31, 2011 and
December 31, 2010, respectively The amount of receivables in
respect of cash collateral paid that was netted with unrealized
losses from dertvatives was $43 billion as of December 31, 2011
and $37 bilhon as of December 31, 2010

The amounts recognized 1n Principal transactions n the
Consolidated Statement of Income for the years ended
December 31, 2011 and 2010 related to derivatives not
designated 1n a qualifying hedging relationship as well as the
underlying non-derivative istruments are included 1n the table
below Citibank presents this disclosure by business
classification, showing derivative gains and losses related to its
trading activities together with gains and losses related to non-
derivative instruments within the same trading portfolios, as this
represents the way these portfolios are risk managed

Year ended December 31,

In mullions of dollars 201 2010
Interest rate contracts $3,603 $3,096
Foreign exchange 1,871 1,667
Equity contracts 118 153
Commodity and other (20) (267)
Credit denivatives 205 166
Total Citibank ! $5,777 $4,815

(1} Also see Note 6 to the Consohidated Financral Staternents

The amounts recognized in Other revenue 1n the
Consolidated Statement of Income related to derivatives not
designated n a qualifying hedging relationship for the years
ended December 3i, 2011 and 2010 are shown below The table
below does not include the offsetting gains/losses on the hedged
items, which amounts are also recorded in Other revenue

Gains (losses) included in Other revenue
Year ended December 31,

In milhons of doltars 2011 2010
Interest rate contracts $739 $ 444
Foreign exchange 51 32
Credit derivatives 115 (502)
Total Citibank 5905 $ (26)

Accounting for Derivative Hedging
Cittbank accounts for its hedging actuivities in accordance with
ASC 815, Dervatives and Hedging {formerly SFAS 133) Asa
general rule, hedge accounting 1s permitted where the Company
1s exposed to a particular risk, such as interest-rate or foretgn-
exchange risk, that causes changes n the fair value of an asset
or hability or varniability 1n the expected future cash flows of an
existing asset, hability or a forecasted transaction that may
affect eamings

Derivative contracts hedging the risks associated with the
changes in fair value are referred to as fair value hedges, while
contracts hedging the risks affecting the expected future cash
flows are called cash flow hedges Hedges that utilize
dervatives or debt instruments to manage the foreign exchange
nsk associated with equity ivestments tn non-U S -dollar-
functional-currency foreign subsidiaries (net investmentin a
foreign operation) are called net investment hedges

If certain hedging critena specified in ASC 815 are met,
mncluding testing for hedge effectiveness, special hedge
accounting may be applied The hedge effectiveness assessment
methodologtes for similar hedges are performed in a similar
manner and are used consistently throughout the hedging
relationships For fair value hedges, the changes in value of the
hedging derivative, as well as the changes in value of the related
hedged item due to the risk being hedged, are reflected in
current earnings For cash flow hedges and net investment
hedges, the changes 1n value of the hedging derivative are
reflected in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss} in
Cinbank s stockholder’s equity, to the extent the hedge 1s
effective Hedge ineffectiveness, 1n either case, 1s reflected 1n
current earnings
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For asset/liabihity management hedging, the fixed-rate long-
term debt would be recorded at amortized cost under current
U S GAAP However, by electing to use ASC 815 (SFAS 133)
fair value hedge accounting, the carrying value of the debt 1s
adjusted for changes 1n the benchmark interest rate, with any
such changes in value recorded in current earnings The related
interest-rate swap 15 also recorded on the balance sheet at fair
value, with any changes in fair value reflected in earnings Thus,
any neffectiveness resulting from the hedging relationship 1s
recorded 1n current earmings Alternatively, a management
hedge, which does not meet the ASC 815 hedging critena,
would involve recording only the derivanve at fair value on the
balance sheet, with 1ts associated changes in fair value recorded
in earnings The debt would continue to be carried at amortized
cost and, therefore, current earnings would be impacted only by
the interest rate shifis and other factors that cause the change n
the swap’s value and may change the underlying yield of the
debt This type of hedge 15 undertaken when hedging
requirements cannot be achieved or management decides not to
apply ASC 815 hedge accounting Another alternative for the
Company would be to elect to carry the debt at fair value under
the fair value option Once the wrevocable election 15 made upon
1ssuance of the debt, the full change i farr value of the debt
would be reported 1n earnings The related interest rate swap,
with changes in fair value, would also be reflected in earnings,
and provides a natural offset to the debt’s fair value change To
the extent the two offsets are not exactly equal, the difference
would be reflected 1n current earnings

Key aspects of achieving ASC 815 hedge accounting are
documentation of hedging strategy and hedge effectiveness at
the hedge tnception and substantiating hedge effectiveness on an
ongoing basis A derivative must be highly effective in
accomphishing the hedge objective of offsetting erther changes
in the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item for the nsk
being hedged Any ineffectiveness in the hedge relationship is
recognized 1n current earnings The assessment of effectiveness
excludes changes 1n the value of the hedged item that are
unrelated to the nisks being hedged Simularly, the assessment of
effectiveness may exclude changes in the fair value of a
derivative related to time value that, 1f excluded, are recogmzed
1N current earnings
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Fair Value Hedges

Hedging of benchmark interest rate risk
Citibank hedges exposure to changes 1n the fair value of
outstanding fixed-rate 1ssued debt and certificates of deposit
The fixed cash flows from those financing transactions are
converted to benchmark variable-rate cash flows by entering
into recerve-fixed, pay-vanable interest rate swaps Some of
these fair value hedge relationships use dollar-offset rauo
analysis to determine whether the hedging relationships are
highly effective at inception and on an ongoing basis, while
others use regression

Citibank also hedges exposure to changes in the fair value
of fixed-rate assets, including available-for-sale debt securities
and loans The hedging instruments used are receive-variable,
pay-fixed interest rate swaps Some of these fair value hedging
relationships use dollar-offset ratio analysis to determine
whether the hedging relationships are highly effective at
inception and on an engoing basis, while others use regression
analysis

Hedging of foreign exchange risk

Cilibank hedges the change :n fair value attributable to foreign-
exchange rate movements in available-for-sale securities that are
denominated 1n currencies other than the functional currency of
the entity holding the securities, which may be within or outside
the U § The hedging instrument employed 1s a forward foreign-
exchange contract In this type of hedge, the change in fair value
of the hedged available-for-sale security aitributable to the
portion of foreign exchange risk hedged 1s reported 1n earnings
and not Accumulated ather comprehensive income—a process
that serves to offset substantially the change in fatr value of the
forward contract that 1s also reflected 1n earmings Cittbank
considers the premium associated with forward centracts
(differential between spot and contractual forward rates) as the
cost of hedging, this 1s excluded from the assessment of hedge
effectiveness and reflected directly in earmings The dollar-offset
method 15 used to assess hedge effectiveness Since that
assessment 15 based on changes in fair value attributable to
changes n spot rates on both the available-for-sale securities
and the forward contracts for the portion of the relationship
hedged, the amount of hedge meffectiveness 1s not significant
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The following table summanizes the gains (losses) on the Company’s fair value hedges for the years ended December 31, 2011 and

2010

Garns (losses) on fair value hedges ¥
Year ended December 31,

In millions of dollars 2011 2010
Gain {loss) on derivatives in designated and qualifying fair value hedges

Interest rate contracts $(1,625) $(1,090)
Foreign exchange contracts (354) 921
Total pain (loss) on denvatives in designated and quahifying fair value hedges $(1,979) 5 (169
Gam (loss) on the hedged item in designated and quahifyrng fair value hedges

Interest rate hedges $ 1,434 $ 1,062
Foreign exchange hedges 339 {643)
Total gain (loss) on the hedged item in designated and qualifying fair value hedges $ 1,773 5 419
Hedge ineffectiveness recogmzed in earmungs on designated and qualifying fair value hedges

Interest rate hedges $ (200) § (59
Foreign exchange hedges 4 36
Total hedge ineffectiveness recogmized in earmings on designated and qualifying fair value hedges $ (196) F 2Y)
Net gain (loss) excluded from assessment of the effectiveness of fair value hedges

Interest rate contracts $ 9 3 31
Foreign exchange contracts (19} 242
Total net gain (loss) excluded from assessment of the effectiveness of fair value hedges 5 (10 3 273

(1) Amounts are included in Other revenue on the Consolidated Statement of Income The accrued interest income on fair value hedges 1s recorded in Ner tnzerest

revenue and ts excluded from this table

Cash Flow Hedges

Hedging of benchmark nterest rate risk

Citibank hedges variable cash flows resulting from floating-rate
habihities and rollover (re-1ssuance) of short-term habilities
Variable cash flows from those ltabilities are converted to fixed-
rate cash flows by entering into receive-variable, pay-fixed
interest rate swaps and receive-variable, pay-fixed forward-
starung interest rate swaps These cash-flow hedging
relationships use either regression analysis or dollar-offset ratio
analysis 10 assess whether the hedging relationships are highly
effective at inception and on an ongomng basts When certain
interest rates do not qualify as a benchmark interest rate,
Citibank designates the nisk being hedged as the risk of overall
changes in the hedged cash flows Since efforts are made to
maich the terms of the derivatives to those of the hedged
forecasted cash flows as closely as possible, the amount of
hedge neffectiveness 1s not sigmificant
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Hedgng of foreign exchange risk

Ciubank locks 1n the functional currency equivalent cash flows
of long-term debt and short-term borrowings that are
denominated 1n a currency other than the functional currency of
the 1ssuing entity Depending on the risk management
objectives, these types of hedges are designated as either cash
flow hedges of only foreign exchange risk or cash flow hedges
of both foreign exchange and interest rate nisk, and the hedging
instruments used are foreign exchange cross-currency swaps and
forward contracts These cash flow hedge relationships use
dollar-offset ratio analysis to determine whether the hedging
relationships are highly effective at inception and on an ongoing
basis

Hedging total return
Cinbank generally manages the risk associated with highly
leveraged financing 1t has entered into by seeking to sell a
majority of its exposures to the market prior to er shortly afier
funding The portion of the highly leveraged financing that 1s
retained by Citibank 1s generally hedged with a total return
swap

The amount of hedge ineffectiveness on the cash flow
hedges recognized i earnings for the years ended December 31,
2011 and 2010 1s not sigmficant
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The pretax change in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) from cash flow hedges 1s presented below for the years ended

December 31, 2011 and 2010

Year ended December 31,

In muilions of dollars 2011 2010
Effective portien of cash flow hedges included in AOCI

Interest rate contracts $(1,652) $ (676)
Foreign exchange contracts 24 3%
Total effective portion of cash flow hedges included in AQCI $(1,676) $ (715
Effective portion of cash flow hedges reclassified from AQC]I to earmings

Interest rale contracts $(1,164) £(1,415)
Foreign exchange contracts (104) (164)
Total effective portion of cash flow hedges reclassified from AQCI to earmings 0 $(1,268) $(1,579)

(1) Included primarily in Qther revente and Net interest revenue on the Consolidated Income Statement

For cash flow hedges, any changes in the fair value of the
end-user derivative remaimng in Accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) on the Consolidated Balance
Sheet will be included 1n earnings of future periods to offset
the variability of the hedged cash flows when such cash flows
affect earnings The net loss associated with cash flow hedges
expected to be reclassified from Accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) within 12 months of December
31, 2011 1s approximately $816 million The maximum length
of ime over which forecasted cash flows are hedged 15 10
years

The after-tax impact of cash flow hedges on AOCI 15
shown in Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statement

Net Investment Hedges
Consistent with ASC 830-20, Foreign Currency Matters—
Foreign Currency Transactions (formerly SFAS 52, Foreign
Currency Translation), ASC 815 allows hedging of the
foreign currency nisk of a net investment in a foreign
operation Citibank uses foreign currency forwards, options,
swaps and foretgn-currency-denominated debt instruments to
manage the foreign exchange risk associated with Citibank’s
equtty investments 1n several non-U S dollar functional
currency foreign subsicdiaries Citibank records the change in
the carrying amount of these investments in the Foreign
currency translation adyustment account within Accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss) Sumultaneously, the
effective portion of the hedge of this exposure 15 also recorded
in the Foreign currency (ransiation adjustment account and
the ineffective poruon, if any, 1s immediately recorded in
earnings

For derivatives used i net investment hedges, Citibank
follows the forward-rate method from FASB Dernivative
[mplementation Group Issue H8 (now ASC 815-35-35-16
through 35-26), “Foreign Currency Hedges Measuring the
Amount of Ineffectiveness in a Net Investment Hedge ™
According to that methad, all changes in fair value, including
changes related to the forward-rate component of the foreign
currency forward contracts and the ime value of foreign
currency optiens, are recorded 1n the Foreign currency
translation adpustment account within Accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss)
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For foreign-currency-denominated debt instruments that
are designated as hedges of net investments, the translation
gamn or loss that 15 recorded in the Foreign currency
translation adiustment account 1s based on the spot exchange
rate between the functional currency of the respective
subsidiary and the U § dollar, which is the functional
currency of Cittbank To the extent the notional amount of the
hedging instrument exactly matches the hedged net investment
and the underlying exchange rate of the derivative hedging
instrument relates to the exchange rate between the functional
currency of the net investment and Citibank’s functional
currency (or, in the case of a non-derivative debt instrument,
such instrument 1s denominated 1n the functional currency of
the net investment), no ineffectiveness 1s recorded 1n eamnings

The pretax gain (loss) recorded in the Foreign currency
transiation adjustment account within Accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss), related to the effective portion
of the net investment hedges, 1s 3587 million and $(1,068)
million for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively

Credit Dersvatives

A credit derivative 1s a bilateral contract between a buyer and
a seller under which the seller agrees to provide protection to
the buyer against the credit nisk of a particular entity
(“reference entity” or “reference credu”) Credit dernivatives
generally require that the seller of credit protection make
payments to the buyer upon the occurrence of predefined
credit events (commonly referred to as “settlement triggers”)
These settlement triggers are defined by the form of the
derivative and the reference credit and are generally limited to
the market standard of failure to pay on indebtedness and
bankruptcy of the reference credit and, in a more limited range
of transactions, debt restructuring Credit derivative
transactions referring to emerging market reference credits
will also typically include additional settlement triggers to
cover the acceleration of indebtedness and the risk of
repudiation or a payment moratorium In certain transactions,
protection may be provided on a portfolio of referenced credits
or assel-backed secunties The seller of such protection may
not be required to make payment until a specified amount of
losses has occurred with respect 1o the portfolio and/or may
only be required to pay for losses up to a specified amount
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The Company makes markets 1n and trades a range of
credhit denivatives, both on behalf of clients as well as for 1ts
own account Through these contracts, the Company either
purchases or writes protection on either a single name or a
portfolio of reference credits The Company uses credit
dernivatives to help mitigate credit risk in 1ts Corporate and
Consumer loan portfolios and other cash positions, to take
proprictary trading positions, and to facilitate client
transactions

The range of credit derivatives sold includes credit default
swaps, total return swaps, credit options and credit-linked
notes

A credit default swap 1s a contract 1n which, for a fee, a
protection seller agrees to reimburse a protection buyer for any
losses that occur due to a credit event on a reference enuity If
there 1s no credit default event or settlement trigger, as defined
by the specific derivative contract, then the protection seller
makes no payments to the protection buyer and receives only
the contractually specified fee However, if a credit event
occurs as defined in the specific dervative contract sold, the
protection seller will be required to make a payment to the
protection buyer

A total return swap transfers the total economic
performance of a reference asset, which includes all associated
cash flows, as well as capital appreciation or depreciation The
protection buyer receives a floating rate of interest and any
depreciation on the reference asset from the protection seller
and, 1n return, the protection seller receives the cash flows
associated with the reference asset plus any appreciation
Thus, according to the total return swap agreement, the
protection seller will be obligated to make a payment any time
the floating interest rate payment and any depreciation of the
reference asset exceed the cash flows associated with the
underlying asset A total return swap may terminate upon a
default of the reference asset subject to the provisions of the
related total return swap agreement between the protection
seller and the protection buyer

A credit option 1s a credit derivative that allows investors
to trade or hedge changes 1n the credit quality of the reference
asset For example, in a credit spread option, the option writer
assumes the obligation to purchase or sell the reference asset
at a specified “strike” spread level The option purchaser buys
the right to sell the reference asset to, or purchase 1t from, the
option writer at the strike spread level The payments on credit
spread options depend either on a particular credit spread or
the price of the underlying credit-sensitive asset The options
usually terminate 1f the underlying assets default

A credit-linked note 15 a form of credit denivative
structured as a debt secunty with an embedded credit default
swap The purchaser of the note writes credit protection to the
1ssuer, and recerves a return which will be negatively affected
by crednt events on the underlying reference credit If the
reference entity defaults, the purchaser of the credit-linked
note may assume the long position in the debt security and any
future cash flows from 1t, but will lose the amount paid to the
issuer of the credit-linked note Thus the maximum amount of
the exposure 15 the carrying amount of the credit-linked note
As of December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the amount
of credit-linked notes held by the Company in trading
inventory was immaterial
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The following tables summarize the key characteristics of
the Company’s credit derivative portfolio as protection seller
as of December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010

Maximum potential
amount of

In mithons of dollars as of
future payments

December 31 2011 0

By instrument

Credit default swaps and options $1,435371
Total return swaps and other 4,377
Total by instrument $1,439,748
By rating

[nvestment grade $ 601,723
Non-investment grade @ 838,025
Total by rating $1,439,748
By matunty

Within | year $ 263,139
From 1 to 5 years 989,514
Afler 5 years 187,095
Total by maturity $1,439,748

(1} At December 31, 2011, the fair value amounis payable under credit
derivatives sold was $72,380 mullion and were recorded in Tradimg
account liabilities  In addition, fair value amounts receivable under
credit derivatrves sold was $11,372 mullion and were recorded n
Trading account assets

(2) Alse includes credit derivatives sold that are not rated

Maximum potential
amount of

In melirons of dollars as of
future payments

December 31 2010 m

By instrument

Credt default swaps and options $1,214,763
Total return swaps and other 4,005
Total by instrument $1,218,768
By rating

Investment grade 3 517,070
Non-nvestment grade ‘? 701,698
Total by rating $1,218,768
By maturity

Within | year £ 145,030
From 1 to0 5 years 863,341
After 5 years 210,397
Total by maturity $1,218,768

(1) At December 31, 2010, the fair value amounts payable under credit
derivatives sold was $34,797 million and were recerded 1n Tradmg
account frabilites In addition, fair value amounts recervable under
credit derrvateves sold were $22, 521 and were recorded in Trading
accoun! assets

(2) Also included credit denvatives sold that are not rated
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Ciubank evaluates the payment/performance risk of the
credit derivatives for which 1t stands as a protection seller
based on the credit rating assigned to the underlying
referenced credit Where external ratings by nationatly
recogmzed statistical rating organizations (such as Moody’s
and S&P) are used, investment grade ratings are considered to
be Baa/BBB or above, while anything below is considered
non-tnvestment grade The Citibank internal ratings are in line
with the related external credit rating system On certain
underlying reference credits, mainly related to over-the-
counter credit derivatives, ratings are not available, and these
are ncluded m the not-rated category Credit denvauves
written on an underlying non-investment grade reference
credit represent greater payment risk to the Company The
non-mvestment grade category in the table above primarily
includes credit derivatives where the underlying referenced
entity has been downgraded subsequent to the inception of the
derivauve

The maximum potential amouni of future payments under
credit derivative contracts presented 1n the table above 1s
based on the nouonal value of the denvatives The Company
believes that the maximum potential amount of future
paymenits for credit protection sold 15 not representative of the
actuat loss exposure based on historical experience This
amount has not been reduced by the Company’s rights to the
underlying assets and the related cash flows In accordance
with most credit derivative contracts, should a credit event (or
settlement trigger) occur, the Company 1s usually hable for the
difference between the protection sold and the recourse 1t
holds n the vaiue of the underlying assets Thus, i1f the
reference entity defaulis, Citt will generally have a nght o
collect on the underlying reference credit and any related cash
flows, while being hable for the full notional amount of credit
protection soid to the buyer Furthermore, this maximum
potential amount of future payments for credit protection sold
has not been reduced for any cash collateral paid to a given
counterparty as such payments would be calculated after
netting all derivative exposures, including any credit
denivatives with that counterparty 1n accordance with a related
master neting agreement Due to such netting processes,
determimng the amount of collateral that corresponds to credit
denvative exposures alone 1s not possitble The Company
actively monitors open credit risk exposures, and manages this
exposure by using a variety of strategies including purchased
credit derivatives, cash collateral or direct holdings of the
referenced assets This risk mitigation activity 1s not captured
in the table above
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Credit-Risk-Related Contingent Features tn Derivatives
Certain derivative instruments contain provisions that require
the Company to either post additional collateral or
immediately settle any outstanding liability balances upon the
occurrence of a specified credit-risk-related event These
events, which are defined by the existing derivative contracts,
are prnimarily downgrades in the credit ratings of the Company
and 1ts affihates The fair value (excluding CVA) of all
derivative instruments with credit-risk-related contingent
features that are in a hability position at December 31, 2011
and December 31, 201015 $21 billion and $19 billion,
respecuvely The Company has posted $18 bilhion and $16
brllion as collateral for this exposure in the normal course of
business as of December 31,2011 and December 31, 2010,
respectively Each downgrade would trigger additional
collateral requirements for the Company and its affiliates In
the event that each legal entity was downgraded a smngle notch
as of December 31, 2011, the Company would be required to
post additional collateral of $2 4 billion
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21 CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK

Concentrations of credst risk exist when changes 1n economic,
industry or geographic factors similarly affect groups of
counterparties whose aggregate credit exposure 15 material in
relation to Citibank’s total credit exposure Although
Cruibank’s portfolio of financial tnstruments 1s broadly
diversified along industry, product, and geographic lines,
material transactions are completed with other financial
insttutions, particularly n the securittes trading, derivatives,
and foreign exchange businesses

In connection with the Company’'s efforts to maintain a
diversified portfolio, the Company himits 1ts exposure to any
one geographic region, country or individual creditor and
monitors this exposure on a continuous basis At
December 31, 2011, Citibank’s most significant concentration
of credit sk was with the U S government and 1ts agencies,
as well as foreign governments The Company’s exposure,
which primarily results from trading assets and investments
1ssued by the U S government and its agencies, and foreign
governments amounted to $205 billion and $231 billion at
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively
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22 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

ASC 820-10 (formerly SFAS 157) defines fair value,
establishes a consistent framework for measuring fair value
and expands disclosure requirements about fair value
measurements Fair value 1s defined as the price that would be
recetved to sell an asset or paid to transfer a hability i an
orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date

Among other things, the standard requires the Company
1o maximize the use of observable inputs and mimmize the use
of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value In addition,
1t precludes the use of block discounts when measuring the
fair value of instruments traded in an active market, and
requires recognition of trade-date gans related to certain
derivative transactions whose fair values have been
determined using unobservable market inputs

Under ASC 820-10, the probability of default of a
counterparty is factored into the valuation of derivative
positrons and includes the impact of Citibank’s own credit nsk
on derwvatives and other ltabilities measured at fair value

Fair Value Hierarchy

ASC 820-10, Farr Value Measurement, specifies a hierarchy
of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those
valuation techniques are observable or unobservable
Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from
independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect the
Company’s market assumptions These two types of inputs
have created the following fair value hierarchy

*  Level 1 Quoted prices for tdentrcal instruments in active
markets

= Level 2 Quoted prices for sinular instruments 1n active
markets, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments
in markets that are not active, and model-denived
valuauons in which all significant tnputs and significant
value drivers are observable 1n active markets

+  Level 3 Valuations derived from valuation techmques n
which one or more significant inputs or significant value
drivers are unobservable

This hierarchy requtres the use of observable market data
when avallable The Company considers relevant and
observable market prices 1n its valuations where possible The
frequency of transactions, the size of the bid-ask spread and
the amount of adjustment necessary when comparing suniiar
transactions are all factors in determining the hquidity of
markets and the relevance of observed prices 1n those markets

The Company’s policy with respect to transfers between
levels of the fair value hierarchy 1s to recogmze transfers into
and out of each level as of the end of the reporting period
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Determmation of Fair Value
For assets and habtlities carried at fair value, the Company
measures such value using the procedures set out below,
irespective of whether these assets and liabilities are carried
at fair value as a result of an election or whether they were
previously carned at fair value

When available, the Company generally uses quoted
market prices to determine fair value and classifies such items
as Level | In some cases where a market price 1s available,
the Company will make use of acceptable practical expedients
{such as matrix pricing) to calculate fair value, in which case
the items are classified as Level 2

[f quoted market prices are not available, fair value 1s
based upon internally developed valuation techniques that use,
where possible, current market-based or independently
sourced market parameters, such as interest rates, currency
rates, option volatilities, etc ltems valued using such
internally generated valuation techniques are classified
according to the lowest level input or value dnver that1s
significant to the valuation, Thus, an item may be classified 1n
Level 3 even though there may be some significant inputs that
are readily observable

Where available, the Company may also make use of
quoted prices for recent trading activity in positions with the
same or similar characteristics to that being valued The
frequency and size of transactions and the amount of the bid-
ask spread are among the factors considered in determining
the liquidity of markets and the relevance of observed prices
from those markets Ifrelevant and observable prices are
available, those valuations would be classified as Level 2 If
prices are not available, other valuation techniques would be
used and the item would be classified as Level 3

Fair value esttmates from internal valuation techniques
are venified, where possible, to prices obtained from
independent vendors or brokers Vendors and brokers’
valuations may be based on a vanety of inputs ranging from
observed prices to proprietary valuation models

The following section describes the valuation
methodologies used by the Company to measure various
financial instruments at fair value, including an indication of
the level in the fair value hierarchy in which each tnstrument
1s generally classified Where appropniate, the description
includes details of the valuation models, the key inputs to
those models and any significant assumptions

Securities purchased under agreements to resell and
securities sold under agreements to repurchase

No quoted prices exist for such instruments and so fair value 1s
deterrined using a discounted cash-flow techmque Cash
flows are estimated based on the terms of the contract, taking
into account any embedded dernivative or other features
Expected cash flows are discounted using market rates
appropriate to the maturity of the instrument as well as the
nature and amount of collateral taken or received Generally,
when such instruments are held at fair value, they are
classified within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy as the
inputs used 1n the valuation are readily observable

Trading account assets and habilittes—trading securities
and trading loans
When available, the Company uses quoted market prices to
determine the fair value of trading secunties, such items are
classified as Level | of the fair value hierarchy Examples
include some government securities and exchange-traded
equity securities

For bonds and secondary market loans traded over the
counter, the Company generally determines fair value utilizing
internal valuation techniques Fair value estimates from
internal valuation techmiques are verified, where possible, to
prices obtained from independent vendors Vendors compile
prices from various sources and may apply matrix prnicing for
similar bonds or loans where no price 15 observable If
available, the Company may also use quoted prices for recent
trading activity of assets with similar characteristics to the
bond or loan being valued Trading securities and loans priced
using such methods are generally classified as Level 2
However, when less hqudity exasts for a secunity or loan, a
quoted price 1s stale or prices from independent sources vary,
a loan or security 1s generally classified as Level 3

Where the Company’s principal market for a portfolio of
loans 1s the securitization market, the Company uses the
securitization price to determine the fair value of the portfolio
The securitization price 15 determined from the assumed
proceeds of a hypothetical securitization in the current market,
adjusted for transformation costs (i e, direci costs other than
transaction costs) and securiization uncertainties such as
market conditions and hquidity As a result of the severe
reduction in the level of activity 1n certain secunitization
markets since the second half of 2007, observable
securitization prices for certain directly comparable portfolios
of loans have not been readily avatlable Therefore, such
portfolios of loans are generally classified as Level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy However, for other loan securitization
markets, such as commercial real estate loans, pricing
verification of the hypothetical securitizations has been
possible, since these markets have remaned active
Accordingly, these loan portfolios are classified as Level 2 1n
the fair value hierarchy

Trading account assets and habilities—derivatives
Exchange-traded derivatives are generally fair valued using
quoted market (1 & , exchange) prices and so are classified as
Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy

The majority of derivatives entered 1nto by the Company
are executed over the counter and so are valued using internal
valuation techniques as no quoted market prices exist for such
instruments The valuation techniques and inputs depend on
the type of derivative and the nature of the underlying
instrument The principal techniques used to value these
instruments are discounted cash flows, Black-Scholes and
Monte Carlo simulation The fair values of derivative
contracts reflect cash the Company has paid or received (for
example, option premiums pard and received)

The key mputs depend upon the type of derivative and the
nature of the underlying instrument and include interest rate
yield curves, foreign-exchange rates, the spot price of the
underlying volatility and correlation The item 1s placed in
enther Level 2 or Level 3 depending on the observability of the
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significant inputs to the model Correlation and items with
longer tenors are generally less observable

In the fourth quarter of 2011, the Company began
incorporating overmight indexed swap (“018”) curves as fair
value measurement inputs for the valuation of certain
collateralized interest-rate related derivatives The OIS curves
reflect the interest rates paid on cash collateral provided
against the fair value of these derivatives The Company
believes using relevant OIS curves as tnputs to determine fair
value measurements provides a more representative reflection
of the fair value of these collateralized interest-rate related
derivatives Previously, the Company used the relevant
benchmark curve for the currency of the denivative (e g, the
London Interbank Offered Rate for U § dollar derivatives) as
the discount rate for these collateralized interest-rate related
dervatives The Company recognized a pretax gain of
approximately $193 million upon the change 1n thss farr value
measurement input For further information on denivative
instruments and hedging activities, see Note 20 to the
Consohidated Financial Statements

Subprime-related direct exposures in CDOs
The valuanen of high-grade and mezzanine asset-backed
security {(ABS) CDO positions uses trader prices based on the
underlying assets of each high-grade and mezzanine ABS
CDO The high-grade and mezzanine positions are now
largely hedged through the ABX and bond short positions,
which are trader priced Thus results in closer symmetry in the
way these long and short positions are valued by the
Company Citibank uses trader marks to value this portion of
the portfolio and will do so as long as it remains largely
hedged

For most of the lending and structuring direct subprime
exposures, fair value 1s determined utilizing observable
transactions where available, other market data for similar
assets 1n markets that are not active and other internal
valuation techmques

Investments

The investments category includes available-for-sale debt and
marketable equity securities, whose fair value 1s determined
using the same procedures described for trading securities
above or, In some cases. using vendor prices as the pnmary
sgurce

Short-term borrowings and long-term debt
Where fair value accounting has been eiected, the fair value of
non-structured liabilities 15 determined by discounting
expected cash flows using the appropriate discount rate for the
applicable maturity Such instruments are generally classified
as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy as all inputs are readily
observable

The Company determines the fair value of structured
habilines (where performance 1s linked to structured interest
rates, inflation or currency risks) and hybrid financial
instruments (performance linked to nsks other than interest
rates, inflation or currency risks) using the appropnate
derivative valuation methodology (described above) given the
nature of the embedded nisk profile Such instruments are
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classified as Level 2 or Level 3 depending on the observabihty
of sigmificant inputs to the model

Market valuation adustments
Liquidity adjustments are apphed to items n Level 2 and
Level 3 of the fair value higrarchy to ensure that the fair value
reflects the price at which the entiure position could be
hquidated 1n an orderly manner The hquidity reserve 1s based
on the hid-offer spread for an instrument, adjusted to take into
account the size of the position consistent with what Ciubank
beheves a market participant would consider

Counterparty credit-risk adjustments are applied to
derrvatives, such as over-the-counter derivauves, where the
base valuation uses market parameters based on the LIBOR
interest rate curves Not all counterparties have the same credit
risk as that implied by the relevant LIBOR curve, so 1t 1s
necessary 1o consider the market view of the credit rnisk of a
counterparty 1n order to estmate the fair value of such an
Item

Bilateral or “own” credit-risk adjustments are appled to
reflect the Company's own credit nsk when valuing
derivatives and hiabilities measured at fair value Counterparty
and own credit adjustments consider the expected future cash
flows between Citibank and its counterparties under the terms
of the instrument and the effect of credit risk on the valuation
of those cash flows, rather than a point-in-time assessment of
the current recognized net asset or lrability Furthermore, the
credit-risk adjustments take into account the effect of credit-
risk mitgants, such as pledged collateral and any legal nght of
offset (to the extent such offset exists) with a counterparty
through arrangements such as netting agreements

Commercial real estate exposure
Citibank reports a number of different exposures linked to
commercial real estate at fair value with changes in fair value
reported in earnings, including securtties and loans

Similar to the valuation methodologies used for other
trading securities and trading loans, the Company generally
determines the fair value of securities and loans linked to
commercial real estate utilizing internal valuation techniques
Fair value estimates from internal valuation techniques are
venfied, where possible, to prices obtained from independent
vendors Vendors compile prices from various sources Where
available, the Company may also make use of quoted prices
for recent trading activity 1n securittes or loans with the same
or stmilar characteristics to those being valued Securities and
loans linked to commercial real estate valued using these
methodologies are generally classified as Level 3 as a result of
the reduced hiquidity currently 1n the market for such
exposures
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Items Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

The following tables present for each of the fair value
hierarchy levels the Company’s assets and habilities that are
measured at fawr value on a recurring basis at December 31,
2011 and 2010 The Company’s hedging of positions that have

been classified tn the Level 3 category 1s not limuted to other
financial instruments that have been classified as Level 3, but
also instruments that have been classified as Level 1 or Level
2 of the fair value hierarchy The effects of these hedges are

presented gross in the following table

Gross Net

In rullions of dolilars at December 31 2011 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 inventory Netting balance
Assets
Trading securities
Trading mortgage-backed securitres
U S government-sponsored agency guaranteed § — 5 3,456 $ 366 8§ 3822 5§ — 5 3822
Prime —_ —_ 12 12 —— 12
Alt-A —_ — —_ — — —_
Subprime — — — — — -_—
Non-U § residential — — 16 16 — 16
Commercial — — o — — —
Total trading mortgage-backed securities § — § 3,456 $ 394 § 3850 § — 5 3135
U S Treasury and federal agency securities
US Treasury $1,691 $162 — 5 1,853 — § 1,853
Agency obligations — — — — — —
Total US Treasury and federal agency securities §1,691  § 162 b — 3 1,853 § — § 1853
State and mumcipal —_ % 1,249 $ 43 $ 1,292 § — § 1292
Foreign government 17,556 18,433 153 36,142 —_ 36,142
Corporate — 16,531 1,940 18,471 —_— 18,471
Equity securities 9,962 180 2 10,144 — 10,144
Asset-backed secunties - 43 4 47 —_— 47
Other debt secunties — 12,271 2,208 14,479 — 14,479
Total trading securities $29,209 § 52325 $§4744 § 86278 § — § 86,278
Trading account derivatives
[nterest rate contracts hY 67 § 822,063 $ 1,359 § 823,489
Foreign exchange contracts — 105,439 502 105,941
Equity contracts 8 12,142 1,017 13,167
Commaodity contracts — 4,825 984 5,809
Credit denivatives — 80,7117 8,726 89,443
Total gross trading account derivatives 5 75 §1,025,186 $12,583 31,037,849
Gross cash collateral paid §$59,288
Netting agreements and market value adjustments $(1,025,453)
Total trading account derivatives $ 75 31,025,186 $12,588 81,097,137  §$(1,025453) § 71,684
Investments
Mortgage-backed secunties
US government-sponsored agency guaranteed § — & 43,069 § 666 $43,735 § — §$ 43,735
Prime — 4 2 6 —_ 6
Alt-A —_— —_ —_— —_ —_— —_
Subprime — — — — — —
Non-U § residential — 4,659 —_— 4,659 -_— 4,659
Commercial — — — — — —
Total investment mortgage-backed securities $ — § 47,732 5 668 §48.400 § — _§ 48,400
U S Treasury and federal agency securities
US Treasury $11,620 § 17,012 5 — §$28,632 § -— § 28,632
Agency obligations —_ 21912 75 21,987 — 21,987
Total US Treasury and federal agency securities $11,620 § 38,924 § 75 $50,619 § — % 50,619
State and municipal g — § 1353 € 33 $138758 ¢ —  $ 13875
Foreign government 26,211 42,438 196 69,045 —_ 69,045
Corporate — 4,547 805 5,352 —_ 5,352
Equity secunities 3,515 4 — 3,519 —_— 3,519
Asset-backed securities —_— 5,867 3,868 9,735 _ 9,735
Other debt secunties — 539 120 659 — 659
Non-marketable equity securities — — 50 50 — 50
Total investments $41,346 8§ 153,590 S 6,318 $201,254 § —  85201,254
Loans ! s — s 588 $ 4568 5 515 § — § 5156
Mortgage servicing rights — — 2.569 2,569 —_ 2.569
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Gross Net

In millions of dollars at December 31 2011 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 imventory Netting " balance
Nontrading denvatives and other financial assets measured

on a recurning basis, gross $§ — 5 6989 $187 § 7,176
Gross cash collateral paid 307
Netting agreements and market value adjustments $ —
Nontrading derivatives and other financial assets measured

on a recurring basis S — § 6,989 § 187 § 7483 8§ — § 7483
Total assets $70,630 §1,238,678 $30,974  $1,399,877  $(1,025453} $374,424
Total as a percentage of gross assets 53% 92 4% 23% 100 0%
Liabilities
Interest-beanng deposits 5 — 8 896 g 431 s 1,327 § — § 1,327
Trading account liabilities
Secunties sold, not yet purchased 8,370 149 34 8,553 — 8,553
Trading account denivatives
Interest rate contracts 36 813,515 1,294 814,845
Foreign exchange contracts — 101,200 512 101,712
Equity contracts 118 12,744 2,143 15,005
Commodity contracts — 5,105 958 6,063
Credit derivatives — 77,064 7,254 84,318
Total trading account derivatives $ 154 51,009,628 $12,161  $1,021,943
Gross cash collateral received 55,344
Netting sgreements and market value adjustments $(1,020,899)
Total trading account derivatives $ 154 $1,009,628 $£12,161 81,077,287  §(1,020,899) $56,388
Short-term borrowings — 89 3 92 — 92
Long-term debt — 1,439 1,706 3,145 — 3,145
Nontrading derivatives and other financial habilities

measured on a recurring basis, gross — 5§ 19M $3 51,974
Gross cash collateral recerved 556
Netting agreements and market value adjustments 3 —
Nontrading derivatives and other financial habihities

measured on a recurring basis § -—_ 5 1,971 s 3 8 2,530 § — $ 2,530
Total habilities § 8,524 31,014,172 $14,338 51,092,934  $(1,020899) $72,035
Total as a percentage of gross habilities 08% 97 8% 1 4% 100 0%
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Gross Net
In millions of dollars at December 31 2010 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 inventory  Netting " balance
Assets
Trading securities
Trading mortgage-backed secunities
U S government-sponsored agency guaranteed 5 — 5 2451 $ 577 % 3028 % — § 3,028
Prime -— 82 64 146 — 146
Alt-A — — 27 27 — 27
Subprime — 14 3 17 -— 17
Non-U § residential — 42 —_ 42 — 42
Commercial — 84 57 141 —_ 141
Total trading mortgage-backed secunities $ — § 24673 $ 728 ¢ 3,401 § — $ 3,401
U S Treasury and federal agency securities
U S Treasury § 7415 s 92 $ — $ 7507 § — 3 7507
Agency obligations — 60 72 132 —_ 132
Total US Treasury and federal agency securities § 7415 $ 152 5 72 5§ 7639 § — $ 7.639
State and mumapal $ — $ 1,185 5 — 3 1,185 § — £ 1,185
Foreign government 17,483 16,612 23 34,118 —_ 34,118
Corporate — 19,416 829 20,245 —_ 20,245
Equity securities 8,994 1,350 2 10,346 — 10,346
Asset-backed securities — 708 42 750 — 750
Other debt securities — 12,923 1,301 14,224 —_ 14,224
Total trading securifies $33,802 § 55019 $2957 § 91908 $ — $91908
Trading account derivatives
Interest rate contracts $ 157 $507,625 $ 2010 § 509,792
Foreign exchange contracts —— 94,637 753 95,390
Equity contracts —_ 6,894 1,414 8,308
Commodity contracls — 3,985 853 4,838
Credit denvatives — 49 840 14,174 54,014
Total gross tracding account derivatives $ 157 $662,981 $19,204 § 682,342
Gross cash collateral paid 49,127
Netting agreements and market value adjustments $(674,018)
Total trading account derivatives $ 157 $662,981 $19,204 § 731,469 $(674,018) $ 57,451
Investments
Mortgage-backed securities
U S government-sponsored agency guaranteed 5§ - § 22,868 $§ 22 % 2289 § — $ 22,890
Prime — 1,472 16 1,488 —_ 1,488
Alt-A — _ 1 1 —_ 1
Non-U § residential — 316 — 316 — 316
Commercial — 46 32 78 — 78
Total investment mortgage-hacked securities 5§ — $ 24702 § 71§ 24773 § — $ 24773
US Treasury and federal agency secunities
US Treasury $13,279 $ 32,74 3 — § 46,053 5§ — % 46,053
Agency obligations — 35,697 17 35,714 — 35714
Total US Treasury and federal agency securities $13,279 $ 68,471 $ 17 & 81,767 §$ — % 81,767
State and municipal 5§ — $ 12,429 § 40 $ 12469 § —  $ 12469
Foreign government 39,763 41,036 330 81,129 — 81,129
Corporate — 13,305 358 10,663 — 10,663
Equity securities 935 117 6 1,058 - 1,058
Asset-backed securities — 2,933 4,694 7,627 —_— 7,627
Other debt securities — 596 727 1,323 — 1,323
Non-marketable equity securities — 39 150 189 — 189
Total investments $53,977 $160,628 36393 § 220998 § — $220,998
Loans ¥ 5§ — $1,159 $ 3050 $ 4209 $ — $ 4209
Mortgage servicing nights — — 4,534 4,534 - 4,554
Nontrading derivatives and other financial assets
measured on a recurring basis, gross ) — $ 10,495 $§ 30 % 10,525
Gross cash collateral pard 12
Netting agreements and market value adjustments 3 -
Nontrading denivatives and other financial assets
measured on a recurrnng basis $§ — $ 10,495 3 30 § 10,537 3% —  $ 10,537
Total assets $88,026 $890,282 $36,228 $1,063,675 $(674,018) $389,657
Total as a percentage of gross assets 8 7% 87 8% 35% 100%
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Gross Net

In muitions of dollars at December 31, 2010 Level 1 Level 2 Level}  inventory Netting‘"  balance
Liabilities
Interest-bearing deposits 3 — $ 987 § 277§ 1264 3§ — § 1,264
Trading account habilities

Securities sold, not yet purchased 7,988 230 7 8,225 — 8,225
Trading account derivatives

Interest rate contracts 167 505,568 1,642 507,377

Foreign exchange contracts 1 91,916 635 92,552

Equity contracts 82 8518 2,037 10,637

Commodity contracts 3 4,301 1,038 5,342

Credit derivatives —_ 47,103 10,147 57,250
Total gross trading account derivatives § 253 $657.406 $15499  $673,158
Gross cash collateral received 44,032
Netting agreements and market value adjustments $(669,822)
Total trading account derivatives $ 253 $657.406 $15,499 $717,190  $(669,822)  $47,368
Short-term borrowings — 17 — 117 —_ 117
Long-term debt — 2,255 2,343 4,598 — 4,598
Nontrading derivatives and other financial habilitres

measured on a recurcing basis, gross $ ] $ 6,398 $§ 19 % 6418
Gross cash collateral recerved 598
Netting agreements and market value adjustments $ —
Nontrading dertvatives and other financial habathtes

measured on a recurring basis ) 1 $ 6398 3 19 § 7016 § —_ $ 7016
Total habilities $8242 $667,393 $18,145  §$738,410 $(669,822) $68,588
Total as a percentage of total labilities® 1 2% 96 2% 2 6% 100%

(1) Represents netuing of (1) the amounts due under securities purchased under agreements to resell and the amounts owed under secunittes sold under agreements to
repurchase, and (n) derivative exposures covered by a qualifying master netiing agreement, cash collateral, and the market value adjustment

(2) There 1s no allowance for loan losses recorded for loans reported at fair value

(3} Percentage s calculated based on total assets and habilines measured at fair value on a recurming basis excluding collateral paid/received on dervatives
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Changes in Level 3 Fair Value Category

The following tables present the changes 1n the Level 3 fair
value category for the years ended December 31, 2011 and
2010 The Company class:fies financial instruments in Level 3
of the fair value hterarchy when there 1s reliance on at least
one significant unobservable input to the valuation model In
addition to these unobservable inputs, the valuation models for
Level 3 financial instruments typically also rely on a number
of inputs that are readily observable either directly or
indirectly Thus, the gains and losses presented below include
changes 1n the fair value related to both observable and

unobservable inputs

Net reahzed/unrealized
gains (losses) included in

The Company often hedges positions with offserting
posttions that are classified 1n a different level For example,
the gains and losses for assets and ltabilities 1o the Level 3
category presented 1n the tables below do not reflect the effect
of offsetting losses and gains on hedging instruments that have
been classified by the Company in the Level 1 and Level 2
categories In addition, the Company hedges items classified
i the Level 3 category with instruments also classified in
Level 3 of the farr value hierarchy The effects of these hedges
are presented gross in the following tables

Transfers Unrealized
m andior gams
Dec 31, Princpal out of Dec 31, {losses)
In millrons of dollars 2010 tramsactions Other " Level3  Purchases Issuances Sales  Settlements 2011 still held®
Assets
Trading securities
Trading mortgage-backed
securiiies
U S governmeni-sponscred
agency guaranteed $577 $(39) 5— $— 5— $107 $(81) $(198) $366 $(48)
Prime 64 — — {33 937 — {956) — 12 12
Alt-A 27 1) —_ — 1,392 — (1,378) — —_ —_
Subprime 3 1 — (n 3 — (6) — —_ —
Non-U § residential — (1) — 17 — — — — 16 (5)
Commercial 57 1 —_ (45) 3 — (16) — — —_
Total trading mortgage-
backed securities §$728 $(79) $— $(62) $2,.335 5107 $(2,437) $(198) $394 S(d1)
U S Treasury and federal
agency securities
US Treasury 5— 5— — — $— 5— §— — $— 5—
Agency obhigations 72 9 — {45) — — (36) — — —
Total US Treasury and
federal agency securibies §72 $9 $— $(45) $— 5— $(36) $— 5— —
State and municipal §— $— 5— $14 $30 §— 5(1) $— $43 $—
Foreign government 23 _— — 2n 349 —_— 90) (108) 153 —
Corporate 829 (29} — 1,846 519 —_ (481) (744) 1,940 (14)
Equity securities 2 (4} _ 4 _ — _ — 2 —
Asset-backed secunties 42 18 — ) 248 —_— {303) — 4 2)
Other debt securifies 1301 (90) — 506 1,558 — {658) {406) 2,208 14
Total trading securities $2,997 $(175) §— 32241 $5,036 $107 §(4,006)  $(1,456) §4,744 $(43)
Derivatives, net™
Interest rate contracts 368 (76) —_ (384) 20 — —_ 137 65 (108)
Foreign exchange contracts 118 21 — (128) 11 _ 3) (29) 10y 39)
Equity contracts {623) (179) - (140) 2 — {6) (180) (1,126) (624)
Commodity contracts {185) 258 — 123 — — (103) (67) 26 (29)
Credst denvatives 4,027 1,042 — (5% 7 — —_ {3,599) 1,472 581
Total derivatives, net ™ §3,705 51,066 S—  $(534) 540 §— §(112)  $(3,738) $427 $(219)
Investments
Mortgage-backed securities
U S government-sponsored
agency guaranteed $22 §— SN $382 $270 $~- 57 $— 5666 $1
Prime 16 — —_ (5) —_ — (N (2) 2 —
Alt-A 1 — () — —_ — — — — —
Commercial 32 — —_ (32) — —_ — _ —_ —_
Total investment mortgage-
backed debt securities 5§71 §— $(2) §345 $270 §— $(14) $(2) $668 $1
U S Treasury and federal
agency securities $17 §— 5— $60 5— — 5(2) $— 375 55—
State and municipal 40 — 3) 4 296 _ (1) —_ 336 (2)
Foreign government 330 — 14 (43) 349 _ (16) (238) 396 6
Corporate 358 —_ (130) 200 715 — (32) (306) 805 (80)
Equity secunties 6 —_ 3) 3) — —_— — — —_ —
Asset-backed securities 4,654 — — 4 79 — (8) {901) 3,868 —
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Net reahized/unrealized
gains {losses) included 1n

Transfers Unrealized
in and/or gamns
Dec 31, Prncipal out of Dec 31, (losses)
In millions of doliars 2010  transactions Other %7  Level 3 Purchases Issuances  Sales  Settl ts 2011 still held™
Other debt securnties 727 — 26 122 35 — {189) (501) 120 (2)
Non-marketabte equnty
securities 150 — 1 (151) 50 —_ — — 50 —
Total investments 36,393 55— $(97) $538 $1,794 $—  $(362) $(1,948) 56,318 $(77)
Loans $3,050 $—  $(308) $391 $591 §$1,661  $(102) $(715) $4,568 $(265)
Mortgage servieing rights 4,554 —  (1,465) — —_ 408  3(212) (716) 2,569 (1,465)
Other financial assets
measured on a recurring
basis 30 — 142 14 57 554 (58) (552) 187 111
Liabihties
Interest-bearing deposits $277 $— §$45 $(112) $— $324 S $(13) $431 3(35)
Trading account habihties
Secunties sold, not yet
purchased 7 (7N —_ 18 — — 23 21 4 (1}
Short-term borrowings _ -_— _ 2 _ 3 —_ 2) 3 —_—
Long-term debt 2,343 24) 266 25 a— 95 —_ (515) 1,706 215
Other financial habthties
measured on a
recurring basts 19 — (19 7 1 13 (1) {55) 3 (3)
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Net realized/unrealized Transfers Purchases, Unrealized
gans (losses) included in_1n and/or  1ssuances gams
Dec 31, Principal out of and Dec 31, (losses)
In nullions of doflars 2009 transactions Other ™ Level 3 settlements 2010 still hetd ®
Assets
Trading securities
Trading mortgage-backed securifies
U S government-sponsored agency
guaranteed $ 1,022 $ (107) § — § 25 3 (363) $ 577 5 @&
Prime 46 10 — 134 (126) 64 3)
Alt-A 69 44 — —_ (86) 27 1
Subprime 7,105 1,863 —_ (24) (8,941) 3 —
Non-U S residential —_ 23 —_ 844 {867 — —_
Commercial 544 9 o 58 (554) 57 i
Total trading mortgage-backed securities $ 8786 $1,842 § — 51,037 $(10,937) $ 728 $ (82)
U S Treasury and federal agencies securities
U S Treasury 5 — s — 8 — §$ — 3 - 5 — 5 —
Agency obligations — 2 —— 52 18 72 (24)
Total US Treasury and federal
agencies securities §F — § 2 § — § 52 5 18 5§ 12 $ (24
State and municipal 5 - s — 5§ — s — s — 5} - 5§ —
Foreign government 52 5 — 43 N 23 1
Corporate 1,039 (28) — 96) (86) 829 48
Equity securities 66 1 —_ —_ (65) 2 —_
Asset-backed securities 33 34) — 1,003 (960) 42 (288)
Other debt securities 13,160 44 — 302 (12,205) 1,301 8
Total trading secunihies 23,136 $1,332 $ — 52341 $(24,312) $2,997 $ (3371
Denrvatives, net ©
Interest rate contracts 5§ (34 3 (460) $ — § 734 $ 128 $ 368 $ 467
Foreign exchange contracts (152) 370 — (14) {46} 118 178
Equity contracts 20 (7 — (493) (73) (623) (261)
Commeodity contracts (1213 49 — 69 (182) (185) 262
Credit Denvalives 880 665 — 2,095 387 4,027 (335)
Total dervatives, net $ 553 § 547 § —  $2.391 § 24 $3,705 § 311
Investments
Mortgage-backed securities
U S government-sponsored agency
guaranteed b 2 5§ — 5 8 5 — $ 12 $ 22 s —
Prime 480 — 79 (522) (21) 16 —
Alt-A 10 — 13 40 (62) 1 —
Commercial 30 — — 2 — 32 —
Total iInvestment mortgage-backed
debt securities $ 522 § — $ 100 $(480) $ (@D § 71 s —
U S Treasury and federal agencies secunities $ 21 § — 5 2D $ — $ 17 £ 17 i) m
State and municipal 216 - 8 40 (224) 40 n
Foreign government 246 — 27 1 36 330 1
Corporate 487 — 41 (55) (115) 358 (6)
Equity securities ] _— —_ 5 —_ 6 —_
Asset-backed securities 6,399 —_ (334) (74) (1,297) 4,694 -
Other debt secunties 560 —_ (12) (13) 1592 727 25
Non-marketable equity securities 158 —_ 34 (10) (32) 150 —
Total investments $ 8,610 § — $ (157 8§ (586) § (1,474) $6,393 3§ 18
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Net realized/unrealized Transfers Purchases, Unrealized
__gamns (losses) included in__ 1n and/or  1ssuances gains
Dec 3, Principal out of and Dec 31, {losses)

In milfions of dollars 2009 transactions  Other!'’ ™  Level 3 settlements 2010 stall held™
Loans $ 206 s — 3 (67 $ 693 £ 2318 $3,050 $ (332
Mortgage servicing nghts 6,530 —_ (1,146) _ (830) 4,554 (1,148)
Other financial assets measured on a

recurring basis 196 — 77 {3) {240) 30 77
Liahilihes
Interest-beaning deposits $ 28 § — § 12 $ “n $ 302 $ 277 $ (6D
Trading account habilities

Secunities seld, not yet purchased — — — 7 — 7 —
Short-term borrowings _— 1) — amn 113 — —
Long-term debt 416 (154) 459 4310 1,802 2,343 450
Other financial habilities measured on a

recurring basis 13 — (52} —_— (46) 19 {20}
(1) Changes n fair value for avarlable-for-sale investments (debt securities) are recorded in AQOC!, while gains and losses from sales are recorded 1n Realized gains

(losses} from sales of mvestments on the Consolidated Statement of Income
(2) Unrealized gains (losses) on MSRs are recorded 1n Other revenue on the Consolidated Statement of Income
(3) Represents the amount of total gains or losses for the penod, mcluded in eamings (and AOCI for changes in fair value for available-for-sale investments),
atrbutable to the change 1n fair value relating to assets and Liabihities classified as Level 3 that are still held at December 31, 2011 and 2010

(4) Total Level 3 derivative assets and hiabiiities have been netted in these tables for presentation purposes only
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The significant changes from December 31, 2010 to
December 31, 2011 in Level 3 assets and liabilities are due to

* A net increase in Trading securities of $1 7 billion that
included

— The reclassification of $2 8 billion of secunities from
Invesiments held-to-matunty to Trading account
assets ‘These reclassifications have been included in
purchases in the Level 3 roll-forward table above
The Level 3 assets reclassified, and subsequently
sold, included $2 3 billion of trading mortgage-
backed securines {of which $1 4 billion were Alt-A
and $0 9 billion were prime), $0 3 billion of
corporate debt securities and $0 2 billion of asset-
backed securities

~— Transfers of $2 2 billion from Level 2 to Level 3, the
majonty of which related 10 transfers of corporate
debt secunties of $1 8 billion due primanly 10 less
price transparency for these securities

— Purchases and sales of $1 6 billion and $0 7 billion,
respectively, of Other debt securities which consist
primarily of loans for which the fair value option has
been elected

+ A net decrease in credit derivatives of $2 6 billion The
net decrease comprised gains of $1 0 billion recorded n
Principal transactions, which included gawns of $0 6
tillion on total return swaps referencing returns on
corporate loans, offset by losses on certain of the
referenced loans which are classified as Level 2
Settlements of $3 6 billion included $1 7 billion related o
the settlement of certain contracts under which the
Company had purchased credit protection on commercial
mortgage-backed securities from a single counterparty
Settlements also included $1 4 billion relating Lo the
unwinding of contracts under which the Company had
purchased credit protection from an affihated company
referencing interest rate derivative exposures

* A netincrease in Loans of $1 5 billion, including transfers
from Level 2 to Level 3 of $0 4 biliion, due to a lack of
observable prices Issuances of $1 7 billion included new
margin loans advanced by the Company

* A net decrease 1n Morigage servicing rights of $2 0
bilhon included losses of $1 5 bullton, due pnimanly to a
reduction in interest rates

The significant changes from December 31, 2009 10
December 31, 2010 1n Level 3 assets and habilities are due to

+ A net decrease 1n Trading securities of $20 1 Willion which
included

— A net decrease of $8 1 billion 1n trading mortgage-
backed securities, which was driven mamly by a net
decrease 1n subprime securities of $7 1 biltion,
comprising $1 9 bilhon of gains recognized in
Principal transactions and liquidations of $8 9 billion,

— Transfers to Level 3 of non-U § residential trading
mortgage-backed securities and Asset-backed
securiiies of $0 8 bilhon and $1 0 bilhon,

respectively, related primanily to the reclassification
of certain securities to Trading under the fair value
option upon adoption of ASU 2010-11 on July 1,
2010, as described 1n Note 2 10 the Consolidated
Financial Statements (for purposes of the Level 3
roll-forward table above, Level 3 investments that
were reclassified 1o Trading upon adopuion of ASU
2010-11 have been classified as transfers to Level 3
Trading securities), and

— Net settlements of non-U S residential morigage-
backed securities and Asset-backed securities of $0 9
billion and $1 0 billion, respectively, related mamly
to sales of securities transferred to Trading upon
adoption of ASU 2010-11 as discussed above

— A decrease of $11 9 billion 1n Other debt trading
securities, due pnmanly to the impact of the
consolidation of the credit card securitization trusts by
the Company upon adoption of SFAS 166/167 on
January 1, 2010 Upon consolidation of the trusts, the
Company recorded the underlying credit card
receivables on 1ts Consolidated Balance Sheet as
Loans accounted for at amortized cost Al January 1,
2010, the Company’s investments in the trusts and
other inter-company balances were ehminated At
January 1, 2010, the Company’s mvestment in these
newly consolidated VIEs, which 15 eliminated for
accounting purposes, included certificates 1ssued by
these trusts of $11 1 billion that were classified as
Level 3 at December 31, 2009 The impact of the
elimination of these certificates has been reflected as
net setilements tn the Level 3 roll-forward table above

*  The net increase 1n Loans of $2 8 billion 1s due largely to
the Company's consolidation of certain VIEs upon the
adoption of SFAS 167 on January 1, 2010, for which the
fair value option was elected The impact from
consohdation of these VIEs on Level 3 loans has been
reflected as purchases in the Level 3 roll-forward above

*  The decrease 1n Morigage servicing rights of $2 0 billion
1s due primarily to losses of $1 1 billion, due to a
reductton in interest rates

+  The increase in Long-term debt of $1 9 billion 1s due
largely to the Company's consolidation of certain VIEs
upon the adoption of SFAS 167 on January t, 2010, for
which the fair value option was elected The impact from
consolidation of these VIEs on long-term debt classified
as Level 3 loans has been reflected as net 1ssuances 1n the
Level 3 roll-forward above

Transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the Fawr Value
Hierarchy

The Company did not have any significant transfers of assets
or liabilities between Levels 1 and 2 of the fair value hierarchy
during 2011

[tems Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis
Certain assets and habilities are measured at fair value ona
nonrecurring basis and therefore are not included in the tables
above These include assets measured at cost that have been
written down to fair value during the periods as a result of an
impairment In addition, these assets include loans held-for-
sale and other real estate owned that are measured at the lower
of cost or market (LOCOM)
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The following tables present the carrying amounts of all
assets that were still held as of December 31, 2011 and
December 31, 2010, and for which a nonrecurring fair value
measurement was recorded during the twelve months then
ended

In miflions of doflars Fair value Level 2 Level 3
December 31, 2011
Loans held-for-sale $2,462 $1,587 $ 875
Other real estate owned 159 81 78
Loans " 3,145 2,657 488
Total assets at fair value on a

nonrecurring basis $5,766 $4,325 $1,441

(1} Represents loans held for investment whose cammying amount 1s based on
the fair value of the underlying collaterai, including primardy real-estate

secured loans
In milhons of dollars Fair value  Level 2 Level 3
December 31, 2010 P $2,813 $788 $2,025

(1) Excludes loans held for investment whose camrying amount 1s based on
the fair value of underlying collateral

The fair value of loans-held-for-sale 15 determined where
possible using quoted secondary-market prices 1f no such
quoted price exists, the fair value of a loan 1s determined using
quoted prices for a sumilar asset or assets, adjusted for the
specific attributes of that loan Fair value for the other real
estate owned 1s based on appraisals For loans whose carrying
amount 1s based on the fair value of the underlying collateral,
the fair values depend on the type of collateral Fair value of
the collateral 1s typically estimated based on quoted market
prices if available, appraisals or other internal valuation
techniques
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Nonrecurring Farr Value Changes

The following table presents total nonrecurring fair value
measurements for the penod, included 1n earnings, attnbutable
to the change in fair value relating 10 assets that are stli held
at December 31, 2011 and 2010

In millions of doliars December 31, 2011
Loans held-for-sale $(135)
Other rea] estate owned (70}
Loans © (750)
Total noarecurring fair value gains/losses $(955)

(1} Represents loans hetd for investment whose carrying amount 15 based on
the fair value of the underlytng collateral, including pnmanily real-estate

loans
In milfions of doliars December 31, 2010
Total nonrecurring fair value gainsflosses " $(51)

(1) Excludes loans held for investment whose cammying amount 1s based on
the fawr value of underlymmg collateral
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23. FAIR VALUE ELECTIONS

The Company may elect to report most financial instruments
and certain other items at fair value on an-instrument-by- -
instrument basis with changes in fair value repotted 1n
earnings The election 1s made upon the acquisition of an
eligible financial asset, financial liability or firm commitment
or when certain specified reconsideration events occur The
fair value election may not be revoked once an election Is
made The changes in fair value are recorded in current
earmings Addittonal discussion regarding the applicable areas
m which fair value elections have been made 15 presented in
Note 22 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

All servicing rights are recogmzed minally at fair value
The Company has elected fair value accounting for its
mortgage servicing rights See Note 2 and Note 19 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussions
regarding the accounting and reporting of MSRs

The following table presents, as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, the fair value of those positions selected for fair value accounting, as
well as the changes 1n fair value gains and losses for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, for Citibank

Changes in fair value gains
(losses) for the years ended

Fair value at December 31, December 31,

In millions of dollars 2011 2010 2011 2010
Assets
Trading account assets $14,174 $14,257 $(1,777) $ 613
Investments —-— 40 — —
Loans

Certain corporate loans'” 3,830 2,464 100 218)

Certain consumer loans'™” 1,326 1,745 (281) 193
Total loans $ 5,156 3 4,209 § (181) $ (25
Other assets

MSRs $ 2,569 $ 4,554 $(1,465) $(1,146)

Certain mortgage loans (HFS) 6,212 7,223 172 9
Total other assets $ 8,781 $11,777 $(1,293) (1,137
Total assets 528,111 $30,283 $(3,251) $ (549)
Laabilities
Interest-beanng deposits 5 1,327 $ 12064 $ 116 § 23
Trading account liabilities 22 43 11 (35)
Short-term borrowings 92 17 2) 7
Long-term debt 3,145 4,598 524 666
Total habihties $ 4,586 5 6,022 S 649 § 661

(1) Inctudes mortgage loans held by mortgage loan secuninzation VIEs consolidated upon the adoption of §FAS 167 on January 1, 2010
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Own Debt Valuation Adjustment

Own debt valuation adjustments are recognized on the
Company’s debt liabilines for which the fair value option has
been elected using the Company’s credit spreads observed in
the bond market The fair value of debt habilities for which
the fair value option 1s elected (other than non-recourse and
sumilar habilities) 1s impacted by the narrowing or wideming of
the Company’s credit spreads The estumated change in the
fair value of these debt habilities due to such changes in the
Company’s own credit nsk (or instrument-specific credit risk)
was a gain of $78 mullion and a loss of $199 million for the
years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively
Changes in fair value resulting from changes 1n instrument-
specific credit risk were estimated by incorporatung the
Company’s current credit spreads observable in the bond
market into the relevant valuation technique used to value
each hiability as described above

The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities

Selected letters of credit and revolving loans hedged by crediut
default swaps or participation notes

The Company has elected the fair value option for certain
letters of credit that are hedged with derivative instruments or
participation notes Citibank elected the fair value option for
these transactions because the nisk 1s managed on a fair value
basis and mitigates accounting mismatches

The notional amount of these unfunded letters of credit was
$0 6 billion and $1 1 billton as of December 31, 2011 and
2010, respectively The amount funded was insignificant with
no amounts 90 days or more past due or on non-accrual status
at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively

These 1tems have been classified in Trading account assets
or Trading account labuities on the Consolidated Balance
Sheet Changes in fair value of these items are classified in
Princtpal transactions 1n the Company’s Consolidated
Statement of Income

Certain loans and other credit products

Citibank has elected the fair value option for certain originated
and purchased loans, including certain unfunded loan
products, such as guarantees and letters of credit, executed by
Ciubank’s trading businesses Nene of these credu products 1s
a highly leveraged financing commitment Significant groups
of transactions include loans and unfunded loan products that
are expected to be either sold or securitized in the near term,
or transactions where the economic risks are hedged with
dervative instruments, such as purchased credit default swaps
or total return swaps where the Company pays the total return
on the underlying loans to a third party Citibank has elected
the fair value option to mitigate accounting mismatches in
cases where hedge accounting 1s complex and to achieve
operational simplifications Fair value was not elected for
most lending transactions across the Company, including
where management objectives would not be met

The following table provides information about certain credit products carried at fair value at December 31, 2011 and 2010,

respectively

December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010

Trading Trading
In millions of dollars assets Loans assets Loans
Carrymg amount reported on the Consolidated Balance Sheet $14,145 $3,706 $14209  $1,720
Aggregate unpaid principal batance 1n excess of fair value 540 (21) 166 (86)
Balance of non-accrual loans or loans more than 90 days past due 134 — 221 —
Aggregate unpaid principal balance 1n excess of fair value for non-accrual
loans or loans more than 90 days past due 43 — 57 —

In addition to the amounts reported above, $648 million and
$621 million of unfunded loan commitments related to certain
credit products selected for fair value accounting were
outstanding as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively

Changes in fair value of funded and unfunded credn
products are classified in Principal transactions in the
Company’s Consolidated Statement of Income Related
interest revenue 15 measured based on the contractual interest
rates and reported as [nterest revenue on Trading account
assets or loan interest depending on the balance sheet
classifications of the credit products The changes n fair value
for the vears ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 due to
instrument-specific credit risk totaled to a gamn of $54 million
and a loss of $5 million, respecuvely
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Certain morigage loans (HFS)

Ciubank has elected the fair value option for certain purchased
and originated prime fixed-rate and conforming adjustable-
rate first mortgage loans HFS These loans are intended for
sale or securitization and are hedged with denivative
instruments The Company has elected the fair value option to
mitigate accounting mismatches in cases where hedge
accounting 1s complex and to achieve operational
simplifications

The following table provides information about certain mortgage loans HFS carmed at fair value at December 31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively

in millrons of dollars December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
Carrymng amount reported on the Consolidated Balance Sheet 86,212 $7,223
Apggregate fair value 1n excess of unpaid princtpal batance 274 81
Balance of non-accrual loans or loans more than 90 days past due — 1
Apgregate unpaid principal balance in excess of fair value for non-accrual loans or loans
more than 90 days past due — 1

The changes 1n fair values of these mortgage loans are Level 2 Otherwise, the mortgage loans of a VIE are classified
reported in Other revenue 1n the Company’s Consolidated as Level 3
Statement of Income The changes in fair value for the years With respect to the consolidated mortgage VIEs for which
ended December 31, 2011 and 20190 due to instrument-specific the fair value option was elected, the mortgage loans are
credit risk resukted in a $0 1 mithon loss and a $1 million loss, classified as Loans on Cibank’s Consolidated Balance Sheet
respectively Related interest income continues to be The changes in fair value of the loans are reported as Other
measured based on the contractual interest rates and reported revenue n the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Income
as such in the Consolidated Statement of Income Related interest revenue 1s measured based on the contractual

nterest rates and reported as /nterest revenue in the

Certain consolrdated VIEs Company’s Consolidated Statement of Income Information
The Company has elected the fair value option for all quahfied about these mortgage loans 1s included in the table below
assets and habilities of certain VIEs that were consolhidated The change in fair value of these loans due to mstrument-
upon the adoption of SFAS 167 on January 1, 2010, including specific credit nisk was a loss of $274 million and a gan of
certain private-label mortgage securitizations and mutual fund $189 milhion for the years ended December 31, 2011 and
deferred sales commussions VIEs The Company elected the 2010, respectively
fair value option for these VIEs as the Company believes this The debt 1ssued by these consohidated VIEs 1s classified
method better reflects the economic nisks, since substantially as long-term debt on Citibank’s Consolidated Balance Sheet
all of the Company’s retained nterests 1n these entities are The changes 1n fair value for the majonty of these habihities
carried at fair value are reported in Other revenue 1n the Company’s Consobdated

With respect to the consolidated mortgage VIEs, the Statement of Income Related interest expense 1s measured
Company determined the fair value for the mortgage loans and based on the contractual interest rates and reported as such in
long-term debt unlizing internal valuation techmiques The the Consolidated Statement of Income The aggregate unpaid
fair value of the long-term debt measured using internal principal balance of long-term debt of these consohdated VIEs
valuation techmques 1s venfied, where possible, to prices exceeded the aggregate fair value by $838 million and $787
obtained from independent vendors Vendors compile prices million as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively

from various sources and may apply matrix pricing for similar
securities when no price 1s observable Secunty pricing
associated with long-term debt that 1s valued using observable
inputs 1s classified as Level 2 and non-venfied debt that 1s
valued using one or more significant observable imputs 15
classified as Level 3 The fair value of mortgage loans of each
VIE 1s derived from the security pricing When substantially
all of the long-term debt of a VIE 1s valued using Level 2
inputs, the corresponding mortgage loans are classified as
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The following table provides information about Corporate and Consumer loans of consolidated VIEs carried at fair value at
December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010

December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010

In nuthons of dollars Corporate loans Consumer loans Corporate loans Consumer loans
Carrymng amount reported on the Consolidated Balance Sheet S118 $1,292 $290 81,718
Aggregate unpaid principal balance n excess of far value 247 436 227 527
Balance of non-accrual loans or loans more than 90 days past due — 86 - 133
Aggregate unpaid principal balance 1n excess of fair value for non-

accrual loans or loans more than 90 days past due — 120 — 136
Certain structured liabiltties Certain non-structured habdities
The Company has elected the fair value option for certain The Company has elected the fair value option for certain non-
structured habilities whose performance 1s linked to interest structured liabihiies wath fixed and floating interest rates {non-
rates, inflation, currency, equuty, referenced credit or structured labilities) The Company has elected the fair value
commaodity risks (structured habilities) The Company elected option where the interest-rate nisk of such habilities 1s
the fair value option because these exposures are considered to economically hedged with denivative contracts or the proceeds
be trading-related positions and, therefore, are managed on a are used to purchase financial assets that will also be
fair value basis These positions will continue to be classified accounted for at fair value through eamings The election has
as debt, deposits or derivatives (Trading account lrabilities) on been made to mitigate accounting mismatches and to achieve
the Company’s Conseolidated Balance Sheet according to their operational simplhifications These positions are reported n
legal form Short-term borrowings and Long-term debt on the Company’s

The change in fair value for these structured Liabilities 1s Consohidated Balance Sheet The change in fair value for these

reported in Principal transactions in the Company’s non-structured habilities 1s reported in Principal transactions
Consolidated Statement of Income Changes in fair value for in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Income
structured debt with embedded equity, referenced credut or Related interest expense continues 10 be measured based
commaodity underlyings includes an economic component for on the contractual interest rates and reported as such in the
accrued interest For structured debt that contains embedded Consolidated Statement of Income

interest rate, inflation or currency risks, related interest
expense 15 measured based on the contracted interest rates and
reported as such 1n the Consolidated Statement of [ncome

The following table provides information about long-term debt, excluding the debt 1ssued by the consolidated V1Es, cammed at fair
value at December 31, 2011 and 2010

In nulhons of dollars December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
Carrying amount reported ¢n the Consolidated Balance Sheet 51,803 $2,728
Aggregate unpaid principal balance in excess of fair value 91 20

The following table provides information about short-term borrowings carried at fair value at December 31, 2011 and 2010

In mithons of dollars December 31,2011  December 31, 2010

Carrying amount reported on the Consohidated Balance Sheet 5§92 $117

Agpregate unpaid principal balance in excess of fair value (18} (20)
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24 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Estimated Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The table below presents the carrying value and fair value of
Citibank’s financial instruments The disclosure excludes
leases, affiliate investments, pension and benefit obligations
and insurance policy claim reserves In addition, contract-
holder fund amounts exclude certain insurance contracts Also
as required, the disclosure excludes the effect of taxes, any
premium or discount that could result from offering for sale at
one time the entire holdings of a particular instrument, excess
fair value associated with deposits with no fixed maturity and
other expenses that would be incurred 1in a market transaction
In addition, the table excludes the values of non-financial
assets and habilhities, as well as a wide range of franchise,
relationship and intangible values (but includes MSRs), which
are integral to a full assessment of Citibank’s financial
position and the value of 1ts net assets

The fair value represents management’s best estimates
based on a range of methodologies and assumptions The
carrying value of short-term financial instruments not
accounted for at fair value, as well as recervables and payables
arising 1n the ordinary course of business, approximates fair
value because of the relatively short period of ime between
their ongmation and expected realization Quoted market
prices are used when available for investments and for both
trading and end-user derivatives, as well as for habilities, such
as long-term debt, with quoted prices For loans not accounted
for at fair value, cash flows are discounted at quoted
secondary market rates or estimated market rates 1f available
Otherwise, sales of comparable loan portfolios or current
market origination rates for loans with similar terms and risk
charactenstics are used Expected credit losses are exther
embedded 1n the estimated future cash flows or incorporated
as an adjustment to the discount rate used The value of
collateral 1s also considered For liabihities such as long-term
debt not accounted for at fair value and without quoted market
prices, market borrowing rates of interest are used to discount
contractual cash flows
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2011 2010
In bithons of dollars Carrying Estmated Carrying Esumated
at year end value farvalue value  fair value
Assets
Investments $2153  S$2147  $2535  $2543

Federal funds sold and
securittes borrowed or
purchased under

agreements to resell 747 747 433 433
Trading account assets 158 ¢ 1580 149 4 149 4
Loans ' 5550 5469 5322 5161
Other financial assets 2128 212§ 218 0 2177

2011 2010
In billions of dollars Carrying Eshmated Carrying Estimated
at year end value fairvalue value fair value
Liabihties
Deposits $8797 $8787  $8439 38421
Federal funds purchased and

securities loaned or sold

under agreements to

repurchase and short-term

borrowings 621 621 530 530
Trading account habilities 649 649 556 556
Long-term debt 786 798 172 1170
Other financial habilines @ 221 221 209 209

(1) The carrying value of loans 15 net of the Allowance for loan fosses of
$24 7 tilion for 2011 and $33 O billton for 2010 In addiiion, the
carmying values exclude $2 0 bilion and $2 0 tallion of lease finance
receivables in 2011 and 2010, respectively

(2} Includes cash and due from banks, deposits with banks, MSRs, and other
financial instruments included 1n Other assets on the Consolidated
Balance Sheet, for all of which the camrytng value 15 a reasonable
estimate of fair value

(3) Includes acceptance ouistanding and other financial imstruments
included n Gther habihires on the Consolidated Balance Sheet, for ail
of which the carrying value 15 a reasonable estimate of fair value

Fair values vary from period to period based on changes
in a wide range of factors, including interest rates, credit
quality, and market perceptions of value and as existing assets
and habilities run off and new transactions are entered into

The estimated fair values of loans reflect changes in crednt
status since the loans were made, changes 1n interest rates 1n
the case of fixed-rate loans, and premium values at origination
of certamn loans The carrying values (reduced by the
Allowance for loan {osses) exceeded the estmated fair values
of Citibank’s loans, 1n aggregate, by $8 1 bullion and $16 1
iilien tn 2011 and 2010, respectively At December 31, 2011,
the carrying values, net of allowances, exceeded the estimated
values by $6 1 billion and $2 0 bilhon for Consumer loans and
Corporate loans, respectively

The estimated fair values of the Company’s Corporate
unfunded lending commitments at December 31, 2011 and
2010 were liabilities of $4 7 billion and $5 1 bithon,
respectively The Company does not estimate the fair values
of Consumer unfunded lending commitments, which are
generally cancellable by providing notice to the borrower
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25 PLEDGED ASSETS, COLLATERAL,
COMMITMENTS AND GUARANTEES

Pledged Assets

In connection with the Company’s financing and trading
activities, the Company has pledged assets to collateralize its
obligations under repurchase agreements, securities financing
agreements, secured habilites of consolidated VIEs and other
borrowings At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the approximate
carrying values of the significant components of pledged
assets recognized on the Company’s balance sheet include

In mulhions of doilars 2011 2010
Investment securities $125,764 $146,722
Loans 218,563 251,052
Trading account assets 2,4%6 7,645
Taotal $346,823 $405,419
Collateral

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the approximate market
value of collateral received by the Company that may be sold
or repledged by the Company, excluding the impact of
allowable netung, was $923 mulion and $643 million,
respecuively This collateral was received 1n connection with
resale agreements, securities borrowings and loans

At December 31,2011 and 2010, a substantial portion of
the collateral received by the Company had been sold or
repledged in connection with repurchase agreements,
securities sold, not yet purchased, securities borrowings and
loans, pledges to clearing organ:izations, segregation
requirements under securities laws and regulations and bank
loans

In addition, at December 31, 2011 and 2010, the
Company had pledged $340 illion and $399 billion,
respectively, of collateral that may not be sold or repledged by
the secured parties

Lease Commitments

Rental expense (principally for offices and computer
equipment) was $1 0 billion and $1 1 bilhion for the years
ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively

Future minimum annual rentals under noncancelable

leases, net of sublease income, are as follows

In mullions of dollars

2012 $ 758
2013 689
2014 617
2015 547
2016 443
Thereafler 1,143
Total 54,197
Guarantees

The Company provides a varety of guarantees and
indemnifications to Citibank customers to enhance their credit
standing and enable them to complete a wide varety of
business transactions For certain contracts meeting the
definition of a guarantee, the guarantor must recognize, at
inception, a hability for the fair value of the obligation
undertaken in 1ssuing the guarantee

In addition, the guarantor must disclose the maximum
potential amount of future payments the guarantor could be
required to make under the guarantee, 1f there were a total

default by the guaranteed parties The determinauon of the

maximum potential future payments 1s based on the notional
amount of the guarantees without consideration of possible
recoveries under recourse provisions or from collateral held or
pledged Such amounts bear no relationship to the anticipated
losses, 1f any, on these guarantees The following tables
present information about the Company’s guarantees at
December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively

Maximum potential amount of future payments

In biflions of dollars at December 31 Expire within  Expire after Total amount Carrying value
except carrying value in millions 1 year 1 year outstanding {in_millions)
2011
Financial standby letters of credit § 245 $ 78.0 51025 § 4175
Performance guarantees 75 43 118 439
Denvative instruments considered to be guarantees 98 92 190 1,8462
Loans sold with recourse _ 03 03 400
Secunies lending indemmfications 821 — 821 —
Credit card merchant processing " 640 — 640 —
Custody indemnifications and other —_ 280 280 307
Total $1879 51198 $307 7 82,3783

(1) The carrying values of guarantees of secunties lending indemnifications and credit card merchant processing are not matenal, as the Company has determined that
the amount and probability of potential liabihities anising from these guarantees are not significant
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Maximum potential amount of future payments

Expire wathin Expire after  Total amount Carrying value

In billions of dollars at December 31, except carrying value m muillions 1 year 1 year outstanding (in milftons)
2010

Financial standby letters of credit $254 5 656 $90 § 2259
Performance guarantees 85 45 130 358
Derivative instruments considered to be guarantees 63 58 121 1,0472
Loans seld with recourse — 01 01 69 4
Securities lending indemnufications @ 629 — 629 —
Credit card merchant processing 595 - 59 5 —
Custody indemnifications and other — 282 282 253 8
Total 31626 $104 2 $266 8 $1,632 1

(1) The cammying values of guarantees of securities lending indemnifications and credit card merchant processing are not matenal, as the Company has determined
that the amount and probabihity of potential habihties anising from these guarantees are not significant

Financial standby letters of credit

Citibank issues standby letters of credit which substitute its
own credtt for that of the borrower 1f a letter of credit 15
drawn down, the borrower 1s obligated to repay Citibank
Standby letters of credit protect a third party from defaults on
contractual obhgations Financial standby letters of credit
include guarantees of payment of insurance premiums and
retnsurance risks that support industnal revenue bond
underwriung and settlement of payment obligations to clearing
houses, and also support options and purchases of secunties or
are n lieu of escrow deposit accounts Financial standbys also
backstop loans, credit facilities, promissory notes and trade
acceptances

Performance guarantees

Performance guarantees and letters of credit are 1ssued to
guarantee a customer’s tender bid on a, for example,
construction or systems-installation project or to guarantee
completion of such projects in accordance with contract terms
They are also 1ssued to support a customer’s obligation to
supply specified products, commodities, or maintenance or
warranty services 1o a third party

Dervative instruments considered to be guarantees
Derivatives are financial instruments whose cash flows are
based on a notional amount and an underlying instrument,
where there 18 little or no initial investment, and whose terms
require or permait net settlement Derivatives may be used fora
vanety of reasons, icluding rsk management, or to enhance
returns Financial institutions often act as intermed:anies for
their clients, helping chents reduce ther nisks However,
derivatives may also be used to take a nsk position

The derivative instruments considered to be guarantees,
which are presented in the tables above, include only those
nstruments that require Citibank to make payments to the
counterparty based on changes in an underlying instrument that
15 related to an asset, a hability, or an equity security held by the
guaranteed party More specifically, derivative instruments
considered to be guarantees include certain over-the-counter
written put options where the counterparty 1s not a bank, hedge
fund or broker-dealer (such counterparties are considered to be
dealers 1n these markets, and may therefore not hold the
underlying instruments) However, credit derivatives sold by
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the Company are excluded from this presentation, as they are
disclosed separately in Note 20 In addition, non-credst
derivative contracts that are cash settled and for which the
Company 15 unable to assert that it 1s probable the
counterparty held the underlying instrument at the inception of
the contract also are excluded from the disclosure above

In mstances where the Company s maximum potential
future payment 1s unhmited, the notional amount of the
contract 1s disclosed

Loans sold with recourse
Loans sold with recourse represent the Company’s obligations
to reimburse the buyers for loan losses under certain
circumstances Recourse refers to the clause n a sales
agreement under which a lender will fully reimburse the
buyer/investor for any losses resulting from the purchased
loans This may be accomplished by the seller’s taking back
any loans that become delinquent

En addition to the amounts shown 1n the table above, the
repurchase reserve for Consumer mortgages representations
and warranties was $1,188 million and $969 miilion at
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, and these amounts
are included in Orher liabiiities on the Consolidated Balance
Sheet

The repurchase reserve estimation process 1s subject to
numerous estimates and judgments The assumptions used to
calculate the repurchase reserve contam a level of uncertainty
and risk that, 1f different from actual results, could have a
material impact on the reserve amounts The key assumptions
are

*  loan documentation requests,

+  repurchase claims as a percentage of loan documentation
requests,

+  claims appeal success rate, and

«  estimated loss per repurchase or make-whole

For example, Citibank estimates that 1f there were a
simultaneous 10% adverse change in each of the significant
assumptions, the repurchase reserve would increase by
approximately $620 million as of December 31, 2011 This
potential change 1s hypothetical and intended to indicate the
sensitivity of the repurchase reserve to changes tn the key
assumptions Actual changes in the key assumptions may not
occur at the same time or to the same degree (1 e, an adverse
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change 1n one assumption may be offset by an improvement in
another) Citibank does not believe 1t has sufficient
information to estimate a range of reasonably possible loss (as
defined under ASC 450) relating to its Consumer
representations and warranties

Securities lending indemnifications

Owners of securities frequently lend those securtties for a fee
to other parties who may sell them short or deliver them to
another party to satisfy some other obligation Banks may
administer such securities lending programs for their chients
Securities lending indemnifications are tssued by the bank to
guarantee that a securities lending customer will be made
whole in the event that the security borrower does not return
the security subject to the lending agreement and collateral
held 1s insufficient to cover the market value of the security

Credit card merchant processing
Credni card merchant processing guarantees represent the
Company’s indirect obligations in connection with the
processing of private label and bank card transactions on
behalf of merchants

Citibank’s primary credit card business 1s the 1ssuance of
credit cards to individuals In addition, the Company (a)
provides transaction processing services to various merchants
with respect to 1ts private-label cards and (b) has potential
hiability for bank card transaction processing services The
nature of the hability in either case arises as a result of a
billing dispute between a merchant and a cardholder that 1s
ulumately resolved in the cardholder’s favor The merchant is
liable to refund the amount to the cardholder In general, if the
credit card processing company 15 unable to collect this
amount from the merchant, the credit card processing
company bears the loss for the amount of the credit or refund
paid to the cardholder

With regard to (a) above, the Company continues to have
the primary contingent liability with respect to 1ts portfolio of
private-tabel merchants The risk of loss 1s mitigated as the
cash flows between the Company and the merchant are settled
on a net basis and the Company has the night to offset any
payments with cash flows otherwise due to the merchant To
further nutigate this sk the Company may delay settlement,
require a merchant to make an escrow deposit, include event
triggers to provide the Company with more financial and
operational control in the event of the financial deterioration
of the merchant, or require various credit enhancements
(including letters of credit and bank guarantees} In the
unlikely event that a private-label merchant 1s unable to
dehver products, services or a refund to nts private-label
cardholders, the Company 1s contingently lhiable 1o credit or
refund cardholders

With regard 1o (b) above, the Company has a potential
hiability for bank card transactions where Citi provides the
transaction processing services as well as those where a third
party provides the services and Citibank acts as a secondary
guarantor, should that processor fail to perform

The Company’s maximum potenti2l contingent lLiability
related to both bank card and private-label merchant
processing services 1s estumated to be the total volume of
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credit card transactions that meet the requirements to be vahd
charge back transactions at any given time At December 31,
2011 and December 31, 2010, this maximum potential
exposure was estimated to be $64 bilhon and $60 billion,
respectively

However, the Company believes that the maximum
exposure 1s not representative of the actual potential loss
exposure based on the Company’s historical experience This
contingent hability 15 unlikely to anse, as most products and
services are delivered when purchased and amounts are
refunded when items are returned to merchants The Company
assesses the probability and amount of its contingent Liabthity
related to merchant processing based on the financial strength
of the pnmary guarantor, the extent and nature of unresolved
charge-backs and 1ts historical loss expertence At December
31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the estimated losses
imcurred and the carrying amounts of the Company’s
contingent obligations related to merchant processing
activities were immaterial

Other guarantees and indemnifications

Credit Card Protection Programs

The Company, through its credit card business, provides
various cardholder protecuion programs on several of its card
products, including programs that provide insurance coverage
for rental cars, coverage for certain losses associated with
purchased products, price protection for certain purchases and
protection for lost luggage These guarantees are not included
in the table, since the total cutstanding amount of the
guarantees and the Company’s maximum exposure to loss
cannot be quantified The protection 1s mited to certain types
of purchases and certain types of losses and 1t 15 not possible
to quantify the purchases that would qualify for these benefits
at any given time The Company assesses the probability and
amount of 1ts potential hability related to these programs
based on the extent and nature of 1ts historical loss experience
At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the actual and estimated
losses incurred and the carrying value of the Company’s
obligations related to these programs were immaterial

Other Representation and Warranty Indemnification

In the normal course of business, the Company provides
standard representations and warranties (o counterparties

1n contracts in connection with numerous transactions

and also provides indemnifications, including
indemnifications that protect the counterparties to the
contracts 1n the event that additional taxes are owed due either
to a change in the tax law or an adverse interpretation of the
tax law Counterparties to these transactions provide the
Company with comparable indemnifications While such
representations, warranties and indemnifications are essential
components of many contractual relationships, they do not
represent the underlying business purpose for the transactions
The indemmification clauses are often standard contractual
terms related to the Company’s own performance under the
terms of a contract and are entered 1nto tn the normal course of
business based on an assessment that the risk of foss ts remote
Often these clauses are intended to ensure that terms of a
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contract are met at inception No compensation 1s recerved for
these standard representations and warranties, and 1t 1s not
possible to determine their fair value because they rarely, if
ever, result in a payment In many cases, there are no stated or
notional amounts included in the indemnification clauses and
the contingencies potentially triggering the obligauon to
indemnify have not occurred and are not expected to occur
These indemnifications are not included in the tables above

Value-Transfer Networks

The Company 1s a member of, or shareholder in, hundreds of
value-transfer networks (VTNs) (payment clearing and
settlement systems as well as securities exchanges) around the
world As a conditton of membership, many of these VTNs
require that members stand ready to pay a pro rata share of the
losses incurred by the orgamization due to another member’s
default on 1ts obligations The Company’s potential
obligations may be hmited to its purchased subordinated
classes in the VTNs, contnbutions to the VTN’s funds, or, in
himited cases, the obligation may be unlimited The maximum
exposure cannot be cstimated as this would require an
assessment of future claims that have not yet occurred We
believe the risk of loss 1s remote given historical experience
with the VTNs Accordingly, the Company’s participation 1n
VTNs 1s not reported 1n the Company’s guarantees tables
above and there are no amounts reflected on the Consolidated
Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2011 or December 31, 2010
for potential obligations that could arise from the Company’s
involvement with VTN associations

Carrying Value—Guarantees and Indemnifications

At December 31, 2011 and December 31, 20190, the total
carrying amounts of the liabihities related to the guarantees and
indemmfications inctuded 1n the guarantees table above
amounted to approximately $2,378 million and $1,632
mt:lhon, respectively The carrying value of derivative
instruments 1s inciuded 1n exther Trading frabilities or Other
labihittes, depending upon whether the derivative was entered
into for trading or non-trading purposes The carrying value of
financial and performance guarantees 1s included in Other
habihittes For loans sold with recourse, the carrying value of
the liability 1s included in Other habifitres In addition, at
December 31, 201t and December 31, 2010, Other lrabilities
on the Consolidated Balance Sheet include an allowance for
credit losses of $1,052 million and $943 million, respectively,
relaung to letters of credit and unfunded lending
commitments

Collateral

Cash collateral available to the Company to reimburse losses
realized under these guarantees and indemnifications
amounted to $34 bilhon and $34 billion at December 31, 2011
and December 31, 2010, respectively Securities and other
marketable assets available as collateral amounted to 356
billion and $34 billion, respectively, the majority of which
collateral 1s for reimbursing losses realized under securities
lending indemnifications Additionally, letters of credit in
favor of the Company held as collateral amounted to §1 5
billion and $1 9 ulhion at December 31, 2011 and

December 31, 2010, respectively Other property may also be
available to the Company to cover losses under certain
guarantees and indemnifications, however, the value of such
property has not been determined

Performance risk
Citibank evaluates the performance risk of its guarantees based
on the assigned referenced counterparty internal or external
ratings Where external ratings are used, investment-grade
ratings are considered to be Baz/BBB and above, while
anything below 1s considered non-investment grade The
Citibank internal ratings are 1n {ine with the related external
rating system On certain underlying referenced credits or
entities, ratings are not available Such referenced credits are
included 1n the nor rated category The maximum potential
amount of the future payments related to guarantees and credit
derivatives sold 1s determined to be the notional amount of these
contracts, which 1s the par amount of the assets guaranteed
Presented 1n the tables below are the maximum potential
amounts of future payments classified based upon internal and
external credit ratings as of December 31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively As previously mentioned, the determination of
the maximum potential future payments 1s based on the
notional amount of the guarantees without consideration of
possible recoveries under recourse provisions or from
collateral held or pledged Such amounts bear no relationship
to the anticipated losses, 1f any, on these guarantees
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Maximum potential amount of future payments

Investment Non-investment Not

In billions of dollars as of December 31 2011 grade grade rated Total

Financial standby letters of credn 35 785 $160 $§ 80 51025
Performance guarantees 69 32 17 11.8
Derivative instruments deemed to be guarantees — — 190 190
Loans sold with recourse — —_— 03 03
Securittes lending indemmfications — — 821 82.1
Credit card merchant processing - — 640 64 0
Custody indemnifications and other 21840 —_ — 28 0
Total 5113 4 5192 51751 $307 7

Maximum potential amount of future payments

Investment Non-investment Not
In bithons of dollars as of December 31 2010 grade grade rated Total
Financial standby letters of credit $56 6 $113 $ 231 $£910
Performance guarantees 67 33 30 130
Derivative instruments deemed to be guarantees —_— —_ 1211 121
Loans sold with recourse — — 01 01
Secunties lending indemmfications —_ — 629 629
Credit card merchant processing — —_ 595 595
Custody indemnifications and cther 282 — —_— 28 2
Tatal $915 $146 $160 7 $266 8

102

CITIBANK, N A 2009-2010 FINANCIALS



Credit Commitments and Lines of Credit

The table below summarizes Citibank’s credit commutments as of December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010

December 31, December 31,

In nufirons of dollars 2011 2010

Commercial and similar letters of crednt $8,670 $8.,826
One- to four-family residential mortgages 3,504 2,980
Revolving open-end loans secured by one- to four-family restdential properties 19,147 20,71
Commercial real estate, construction and land development 1,821 2,076
Credit card Lines 621,904 105,442
Commercial and other consumer loan commitments 214,465 194,093
Total $869,511 $334,128

The majority of unused commitments are contingent upon
customers’ maintaining specific credit standards Commerc:al
commitments generally have floating interest rates and fixed
expiration dates and may require payment of fees Such fees
(net of certain direct costs} are deferred and, upon exercise of
the commitment, amortized over the hife of the loan or, 1f
exercise 15 deemed remote, amortized over the commitment
period

Commercial and similar letters of credit

A commercial letter of credit 15 an instrument by which
Citibank substitutes its credit for that of a customer to enable
the customer to finance the purchase of goods or to incur other
commitments Citibank 1ssues a letter on behalf of its client to
a supplier and agrees to pay the supplier upon presentation of
documentary evidence that the supplier has performed in
accordance with the terms of the letter of credit When a letter
of credit 1s drawn, the customer 1s then required to reimburse
Ciubank

One- to four-family residential morigages

A one- to four-famuly residential mortgage commitment 1s a
written confirmation from Citibank to a seller of a property
that the bank will advance the specified sums enabling the
buyer to complete the purchase

Revolving open-end loans secured by one- to four-family
restdential properties

Revolving open-end loans secured by one- to four-family
residential properties are essentially home equity lmes of
credit A home equity line of credit 1s a lean secured by a
primary residence or second home to the extent of the excess
of fair market value over the debt outstanding for the first
mortgage

Commercial real estate, construction and land development
Commercial real estate, constructton and land development
include unused portions of commitments to extend credit for
the purpose of financing commercial and multifamily
residential properties as well as land development projects
Both secured-by-real-estate and unsecured commitments are
mcluded n this line, as well as undistributed loan proceeds,
where there 1s an obhigation to advance for construcuon
progress payments However, this line only includes those
extensions of credit that, once funded, will be classified as
Total loans, net on the Consohdated Balance Sheet
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Credit card hines

Cinbank provides credit to customers by 1ssuing credit cards
The credit card lines are unconditionally cancellable by the
1ssuer

Commercial and other consumer loan commitments
Commerctal and other consumer lcan commitments include
overdrafl and hiquidity facilities, as well as commercial
commitments to make or purchase loans, to purchase third-
party receivables, to provide note 1ssuance or revolving
underwriting facilities and to vest in the form of equity
Amounts include $59 bilhon and $70 hitlion with an onginal
maturity of less than one year at December 31, 2011 and
December 31, 2010, respectively

In additton, included in this line item are highly leveraged
financing commitments, which are agreements that provide
funding to a borrower with higher levels of debt (measured by
the ratio of debt capital to equity capital of the borrower) than
1s generally considered normal for other companies This type
of financing 1s commonly employed 1n corporate acquisitions,
management buy-outs and similar transactions
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26 REGIONAL DETAILS

The following 15 a geographic disinbution of Citibank’s operations on a legal vehicle basis  The accounting policies of these regions
are the same as those disclosed in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Provision
Revenues, Operating for credit losses and Citibank Assets
net of interest expense expenses for benefits and claims Net income at year end
In midlions of dollars except
assets in billions 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

North Amenca'” $26,214 $33,119  S$15612 $13,873 §7,182 $18,082 § 3,276 $1,146 $ 361 § 337
EMEA® 10,675 11,530 7,276 6,723 960 1,802 1,626 2,039 is8 388
Latin America 6,284 5,096 3,543 3,000 918 581 1,300 1,287 156 143
Asia 13,680 13,017 7,306 6,885 751 736 4,307 3,952 414 407
Total 556,853 $62,762  $33,737 $30,481 59,811 $21,201 $10,509 $8,424 §1,289  §1,275

(1} North America includes the Umited States, Canada and Puerto Rico
(2) Europe, Middle East and Africa
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27 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Citicorp, a direct, wholly owned subsidiary of Ciuigroup, owns
100% of the outstanding common stock of the Company
Pursuant to various intercompany agreements, a number of
significant transactions are carried out between the Company
and Citigroup and/or their affiliates Management believes that
the terms under which these transactions and services are
provided are no less favorable to the Company than those that
could be obtained from unaffiliated third parties

Detailed below ts a summary of the Company’s
transactions with other Citigroup affiliates which are included
in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Income and
Balance Sheet at December 31, 20f1 and 2010 These
amounts exclude intercompany balances that ehminate 1n
consolidation

INCOME STATEMENT ITEMS

Year ended December 31

in milhons of dotlars 2011 2010
Revenues

Netanterest revenue (expense} § (1,021) § (631
Comrmusstons and fees $ 236 $ 330
Principal transactions {1,029) (848)
Other revenue (expense) 621 (951
Total non-interest revenue (172) $(1.469)
Total revenues, net of interest expense $ (1,193) $(2,100)
Operating expenses

Compensation and benefits § (354) $ (710)
Prenuses and equipment 130 63
Other operating'” 2,386 2,810
Total operating expenses $ 2,162 $2,163

{1) Includes charges from parent company for shared services
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BALANCE SHEET ITEMS

December 31,
In millions of dollars 2011 2010
Assets
Cash and due from banks § 212 $ 36
Deposits with banks 492 345
Federal funds sold and secunties purchased under agreements to resell 24,483 7,202
Trading account assets 19,899 12,428
Loans, net of unearned income 10,105 5,562
Interest and fees recervable 67 69
QOther assets 8,526 10,281
Total assets §63,784 $35,943
Liabilities
Non-interest-beanng deposits nU S offices 5 9,987 § 8,734
Interest-bearing deposits n U S offices 954 965
Non-interest-bearing deposits in offices outside the U § 1,941 2,147
Interest-bearing deposits i offices outside the U § 39,721 33,624
Total deposits $52,603 $45.470
Trading account liabilities 20,385 10,024
Purchased funds and other borrowings 6,334 6,086
Accrued taxes and other expenses —_ 206
Subordinated notes and other long-term debt 2,037 4,145
Other labihihes 7,037 11,912
Total habilhities $88,396 $77,843

Stock-based Compensation

As discussed 1n Note 7, the Company participates in various
Cinigroup stock-based compensation programs under which
Citigroup stock or stock options are granted to certain of the
Company’'s employees The Company has no stock-based
compensation programs 1n which its own stock 1s granted The
Company pays Citigroup diwrectly for participation in certain of
1ts stock-based compensation programs, but receives a capital
contribution for those awards related to participation tn the
employee incentrve stock option program

Retirement Benefits

As discussed 1n Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial
Statments, the Company participates in several non-
contributory defined benefit pension plans and a defined
contribution plan sponsored by Citigroup covering certain
ehgible employees

Cittbank Tax-sharing Agreement

As discussed 1n Note 9, the Company 1s included in the
Citigroup consolidated federal tax return and 1s a party to a
tax-sharing agreement with Citigroup Under such agreement,
the Company is entitled to a tax benefit for is losses and
credits that are recogmized 1n Citigroup's Consolidated
Financial Statements Settlements between the Company and
Ciugroup of current taxes occur throughout the year The
Company also files 1ts consolidated and combined state
income tax returns with Cingroup and/or other of 15
substdiaries

Other Intercompany Agreements

Citigroup and 1ts subsidiaries engage 1n other transactions and
servicing activities with the Company, including cash
management, data processing, telecommunications, payroll
processing, and administration, facilities procurement,
underwriting and others

Section 23A of the Federal Reserve Act

Citibank can lend to Citigroup and Citigroup’s nonbank
subsicharies 1n accordance with Section 23 A of the Federal
Reserve Act As of December 31, 2011, the amount available
for lending was approximately $20 4 bulion, provided the
funds are appropriately collateralized
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28 CONTINGENCIES

Overview
In addition to the matters described below, in the ordinary
course of business, Citibank, 1ts parent entity Citigroup, and
therr affiliates and subsidiaries, as well as their respective
current and former officers, directors and employees (for
purposes of this section, sometumes collectively referred to as
Citigroup and Related Parties), routinely are named as
defendants in, or as parties to, various legal actions and
proceedings Certain of these actions and proceedings assert
claims or seek rehief 1n connection with alleged violations of
consumer protection, securitics, banking, antifraud, antitrust,
anti-money laundering, employment and other statutory and
common laws Certain of these actua!l or threatened legal
actions and proceedings include claims for substanual or
indeterminate compensatory or pumtive damages, or for
iyunctive relief, and 1n some 1nstances seek recovery on a
class-wide basis

In the ordinary course of business, Citigroup and Related
Parties also are subject to governmental and regulatory
examinations, information-gathering requests, investigations
and proceedings (both formal and informal), certain of which
may result in adverse judgments, settlements, fines, penalties,
injunctions or other relief  In addition, Citigroup 1s a bank
holding company, Citibank 1s a bank, and certain affiliates and
subsidiaries of Citibank are banks, registered broker-dealers,
futures commission merchants, investment advisers or other
regulated entities and, 1n those capacities, are subject to
regulation by vartous U § , state and foreign securities,
banking, commodity futures and other regulators In
connection with formal and informal inquiries by these
regulators, Citigroup and Related Parties receive numerous
requests, subpoenas and orders seeking documents, testimony
and other information 1n connection with various aspects of
their regulated actrvities

Because of the global scope of Citigroup’s operations,
and 1ts presence in countries around the world, Citigroup and
Related Parties are subject to litigation, and governmental and
regulatory examinations, information-gathering requests,
invesugatons and proceedings (both formal and informal), in
multiple jurisdictions with legal and regulatory regimes that
may differ substantially, and present substantially different
risks, from those Citigroup and Related Parties are subject to
in the United States In some instances Citigroup and Related
Parties may be involved in proceedings involving the same
subject matter 1n multiple yjunsdictions, which may result in
overlapping, cumulative or inconsistent outcomes

Ciugroup and Citibank seek to resolve all litigation and
regulatory matters in the manner management believes 15 1n
the best interests of Citigroup and its shareholders and
Citibank and 1ts depositors, and contest liability, allegations of
wrongdoing and, where applicable, the amount of damages or
scope of any penalties or other relief sought as appropnate in
each pending matter

In accordance with ASC 450 (formerly SFAS 5),
Ciugroup establishes accruals for litigation and regulatory
matiers when 1t 1s probable that a loss has been incurred and
the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated Once
established, accruals are adjusted from time to time, as
approprnate, 1n light of additional information In view of the
inherent unpredictability of litigation and regulatory matters,
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particularly where the damages sought are substantal or
indeterminate, the investigations or proceedings are in the
early stages, or the matters involve novel legal theories or a
large number of parties, Citigroup cannot predict the iming or
ultimate resolution of hitigation and regulatory matters, and the
actual costs of resolving hitigauion and regulatory matters may
be substantially higher or lower than the amounts accrued for
those matters

Subject to the foregoing, 1t 1s the opinion of Citigroup’s
management, based on current knowledge and afier taking into ‘
account its current legal accruals, that the eventual outcome of
all matters described 1n this Note would not be hikely to have a ‘
matenal adverse effect on the consolidated financial condition
of Citibank Nonetheless, given the substantial or
indeterminate amounts sought in certain of these matters, and ‘
the inherent unpredictability of such matters, an adverse ‘
outcome 1n certain of these matters could, from time to time,
have a material adverse effect on Citibank’s consolidated
resulis of operations or cash flows in particular quarterly or
annual periods

Citibank or 1ts subsicharies are named as defendants or
otherwise directly involved in certatn, but not all, of the
matters disclosed below In addition, certain of the matters
below relate principally to banking activity, while other
matters relate principally to broker-dealer or other Citigroup
activities 1n which Citibank or 1ts subsidiaries had no direct
involvement For a discussion of Citigroup’s matenal legal
and regulatory proceedings, of which the below matters are a
part, see Citigroup’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2011, filed with the U § Securities and
Exchange Commission on February 24, 2012

Credit Crisis-Related Litigation and Other Matters
Citigroup and Related Parties have been named as defendants
in numerous legal actions and other proceedings asserting
claims for damages and related rehef for losses arising from
the global financial cred:t crisis that began 1n 2007 Such
matters tnclude, among other types of proceedings, claims
asserted by (1) individual investors and purported classes of
investors 1n Citigroup’s common and preferred stock and debt,
alleging viclations of the federal securities laws and state
securities and fraud laws, (1) participants and purported
classes of participants in Citigroup’s retirement plans, alleging
violations of the Employee Retirement Income Secunity Act
(ERISA), (n) counterparties to transactions adversely affected
by developments in the credit and mortgage markets, (1v)
individual investors and purported classes of investors in
securities and other investments underwritien, 1ssued or
marketed by Citigroup, including collateralized debt
obligations (CDOs), mortgage-backed secunities (MBS),
auction-rate secunties {ARS), investment funds, and other
structured or leveraged instruments, that have suffered losses
as a result of the credit cnsis, and (v} individual borrowers
asserting claims related to their loans These matters have
been filed in state and federal courts across the country, as
well as in arbitrations before the Financial Industry Regulatory
Authonty (FINRA) and other arbitration associations

In addition to these hitigations and arbitrations, Citigroup |
continues to cooperate fully 1n response to subpoenas and
requests for information from the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC), FINRA, state attorneys general, the
Department of Justice and subdivisions thereof, bank

CITIBANK N A 2010-2011 FINANCIALS



regulators, and other government agencies and authorities, in
connection with various formal and informal (and, 1n many
mstances, industry-wide) inquiries concerning Citigroup’s
mortgage-related conduct and business activities, as well as
other business activities affected by the credit crisis These
business activities include, but are not himited to, Citigroup’s
sponsorship, packaging, 1ssuance, marketing, servicing and
underwriting of MBS and CDOs and its origination, sale ot
other transfer, servicing, and foreclosure of residential
mortgages, including its comphance with the Servicemembers
Civil Relief Act (SCRA)

Morigage-Related Littgation and Other Matters
Beginning in November 2007, Citigroup and Related Parties
have been named as defendants in numerous legal actions and
other proceedings brought by Citigroup sharcholders,
investors, counterparties, regulators and others concerning
Citigroup’s activities relating to mortgages, including
Citigroup’s involvement with CDOs, MBS and structured
mvestment vehicles, Citigroup’s underwriting activity for
morigage lenders, and Citigroup’s more general mortgage-
and credit-related activities

Regulatory Actions  On February 9, 2012, Citigroup
announced that CitiMortgage, along with other major
mortgage servicers, had reached an agreement in principle
with the United States and with the Attorneys General for 49
states (Oklahoma did not participate) and the Distnict of
Columbia to settle a number of related investigations into
residential loan servicing and origination practices (the
National Mortgage Settlement) The agreement 15 subject to
the satisfaction of certain conditions, including final court
approval

Under the National Mortgage Settlement, Ciugroup and
Related Parties commits to make payments and provide
financial relief to homeowners in three categories (1) cash
payments payable to the states and federal agencies n the
aggregate amount of $415 million, a portion of which will be
used by the states for payments to homeowners affected by
foreclosure practices, (2} customer rehief in the form of loan
modifications for delinquent borrowers, including principal
reductions, to be completed over three years, with a total value
of $1,411 million, and (3) refinancing concessions to enable
current borrowers whose properttes are worth less than the
value of their loans to reduce their interest rates, to be
completed over three years, with a total value of $378 mullion
The total amount of the financial consideration to be paid by
Citigroup and Related Parties 15 $2 2 billion As of December
31, 2011, Ciigroup had fully provided for the cash payments
called for under the National Mortgage Settlement (see Note
29 to the Consohdated Financial Statements) Citigroup
expects that 1ts loan loss reserves as of December 31, 2011
will be sufficient to cover the customer relief payments to
delinquent borrowers The impact of the refinancing
concessions will be recognized over a period of years in the
form of lower nterest income What impact, 1f any, the
National Mortgage Settlement will have on the behavior of
borrowers 1n general, however, whether or not their loans are
within the scope of the settlement, 15 uncertain and difficult to
predict

The National Mortgage Settlement also provides for
mortgage servicing standards in addition to those previously
agreed in Consent Orders dated Apnil 13, 2011 with the
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Federal Reserve Board and the Office of Comptroller of the
Currency While Citigroup expects to incur additional
operating expenses 1n implementing these standards, 1t does
not currently expect that the impact of these expenses will be
material

Ciugroup 18 receiving legal releases in connection with
the National Mortgage Settlement These releases will address
a broad range of, but not all, potenuial claims related to
mortgage servicing and ongmation Citigroup will not receive
releases related to secunitizations or whole loan sales, nor will
it recerve releases from crimnal, tax, environmental, and
certain other categories of liability

In conjunction with the National Mortgage Settlement,
Citigroup and Related Parties also entered into a settlement
with the United States Attorney’s Office for the Southern
District of New York of a * qui tam” action This action
alleged that, as a participant 1n the Direct Endorsement Lender
program, CibMortgage had certified to the United States
Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) and
the Federal Housing Admintstration (FHA) that certain loans
were eligible for FHA insurance when 1n fact they were not
The settlement releases Citigroup from claims arising out of
1ts acts or omssions relating to the origination, underwriting,
or endorsement of all FHA-insured loans prior to the effective
date of the settlement Under the settlement, Citigroup wall
pay the United States $158 3 mullion, for which Citigroup had
fully provided as of December 31, 2011 (see Note 29 to the
Consohdated Financ:al Statements) CitiMortgage will
continue (o participate m the Direct Endorsement Lender
program Additional information relating to this action 1s
publicly avatlable 1n court filings under the docket number 11
Civ 5423 (S DN Y ) (Marrero, J )

Federal and state regulators have served subpoenas or
otherwise requested information concerning a vanety of
aspects of Citigroup’s mortgage onigination and mortgage
servicing practices, including with respect to ancillary
insurance products or practices The subjects of such inquines
have included, among other things, Citigroup’s compliance
with the SCRA and analogous state statutes Many, but not all,
of these inquirtes are within the scope of the claims released 1n
the National Mortgage Settlement I[n some instances,
Cingroup 1s also a defendant in purported class actions, “qui
tam” actions, or other actions addressing the same or similar
subject matters, including the SCRA Such actions by private
htigants or counties and municipalities are not released n the
National Mortgage Settlement

Federal and state regulators, including the SEC, also have
served subpoenas or otherwise requested information related
to Citigroup's 1ssuing, sponsoring, or underwriting of MBS
These inquiries include a subpoena from the Civil Division of
the Department of Justice that Citigroup received on January
27,2012

ERISA Actions Beginming in November 2007, numerous
putative class actions were filed 1n the United States District
Court for the Southern District of New York by current or
former Citigroup employees asserting claims under ERISA
against Citigroup and Related Parties alleged to have served as
ERISA plan fiduciaries On August 31, 2009, the district court
granted defendants’ motion to dismuss the consolidated class
action complaint, captioned IN RE CITIGROUP ERISA
LITIGATION Plaintuffs appealed the dismissal and, on
October 19, 2011, the United States Court of Appeals for the
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Second Circuit affirmed the district court’s order dismussing
the case Addittonal information relating to this action 1s
publicly avaitable 1n court filings under the docket number 07
Civ 9760 (SDN Y ) (Stemn, J ) and 09-3804 (2d Cir )

Beginning on October 28, 2011, several putative class
actions were filed in the United States Distrnict Court for the
Southern Dustrict of New York by current or former Citigroup
employees asserting claims under ERISA against Citigroup
and Related Parties alleged to have served as ERISA plan
fiduciaries from 2008 to 2009 Additional information relating
to these actions 1s publicly available 1n court filings under the
docket numbers 11 Civ 7672, 7943, 8982, 8990 and 8959
(SDNY) (Koeltl, )

Morigage-Backed Securtties and CDO [nvestor Actions
and Repurchase Clarms Beginning in July 2010, several
investors, including Cambridge Place Investment
Management, The Charles Schwab Corporation, the Federal
Home Loan Bank of Chicago, the Federal Home Loan Bank of
Boston, Allstate Insurance Company and affiliated entiues,
Unton Central Life Insurance Co and affihated entities, the
Federal Housing Finance Agency, the Western & Southern
Life Insurance Company and affiliated entities, Moneygram
Payment Systems, Inc , and Loreley Financing (Jersey) No 3
Ltd and affiliated entities, have filed lawsuits against
Citigroup and Related Parties alleging actionable
misstatements or omissions i connection with the 1ssuance
and underwniting of MBS and CDOs These actions are m
early stages As a general matter, plaintiffs in these actions are
seeking rescission of their investments or other damages
Addimional information relating to these actions 1s publicly
available in court filings under the doecket numbers 10-2741-
BLS1 (Mass Super Ct)(Launat, J ), 11-0555-BLSI (Mass
Super Ct ) (Launat, ] ), CGC-10-501610 (Cal Super Ct)
(Kramer, J ), 10 CH 45033 (Il Super Ct) (Allen, J ),
LC091499 (Cal Super Ct) (Mohr, 1), 11 Civ 10952 (D
Mass ) (O'Toole, J ), 11 Civ 1927 (SD N Y ) (Sullivan, J ),
1t Civ 2890 (SD N Y ) (Damels, J), 11 Civ 6188
(SDNY)(Cote,J), 11 Civ 6196 (SDN Y )(Cote, J ), 11
Civ 6916 (SDNY){(Cote,J ), 11 Civ 7010 (SDN Y )
(Cote, J ), A 1105042 (Ohio Ct Common Pleas) (Myers, J ),
No 27-CB-11-21348 (Minn Dist Ct )} (Howard, J) and
650212/12 (NY Sup Ct) Other purchasers of MBS or
CDOs sold or underwnitten by Citigroup affiliates have
threatened to file lawsuits asserting similar claims, some of
which Citigroup has agreed to toll pending further discussions
with these investors

In addition, various parties to MBS securitizations, among
others, have asserted that certain Ciigroup affiliates breached
representations and warranties made 1n connection with
mortgage loans placed into securitization trusts Citigroup also
has experienced an increase in the level of inquiries relating to
these securitizations, particularly requests for loan files from
trustees of securitization trusts and others Begmning 1n
December 2011, Citigroup recerved letters from the law firm
Gibbs & Bruns LLP, which purports to represent a group of
investment advisers and others which allegedly hold 25% or
more of the voting rights 1n 70 MBS trusts 1ssued and/or
underwnitten by Citigroup affiliates with an aggregate
outstanding balance 1n excess of $24 billon The letters allege
that certain mortgages 1n these trusts were sold or deposited
into the trusts based on misrepresentations by the mortgage
originators, sellers and/or depositors, that Citigroup
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improperly serviced mortgage loans in those trusts, and that
Citgroup affiliates have repurchase obligations The letter
further threatens to instruct trustees of the trusts to assert
claims against Ciigroup based on these allegations Citigroup
15 also a trustee of securitization trusts for MBS issued by
unaffiltated 1ssuers that have received similar letters from
Gibbs & Bruns, LLP

Given the continued and increased focus on mortgage-
related matters, as well as the increasing level of hitigation and
regulatory activity relating to mortgage loans and morigage-
backed securities, the level of inquiries and assertions
respecting securitizations may further increase These
inquiries and assertions could lead to actual claims for
breaches of representations and warranties, or to litigation
relating to such breaches or other matters

Counterparty and Investor Actions
Citigroup and Related Parties have been named as defendants in
actions brought in various state and federal courts, as well as in
arbitrauons, by counterparties and investors that claim to have
suffered losses as a result of the credit crisis

In August 2011, two Saud: nationals and related eniities
commenced a FINRA arbutration against Crugroup Global
Markets, Inc (CGMI) alleging $380 milhion in losses resulting
from certain options trades referencing a portfolio of hedge
funds and certain credit faciities collateralized by a private
equity portfolio CGMI did not serve as the counterparty or
credit facility provider 1n these transactions In September
2011, CGMI commenced an action 1n the United States
District Court for the Southern District of New York seeking
to enjoin the arbitration Simultaneously with that filing, the
Citigroup entities that served as the counterparty or credit
facility provider 10 the transactions commenced actions in
London and Switzerland for declaratory judgments of no
hability

Lehman Structured Notes Matters
Like many other financial institutions, Citigroup, through
certain of its affiliates and subsidianes, distributed structured
notes (Notes) 1ssued and guaranteed by Lehman entities to
retail customers 1n varous countnes outside the United States,
principally in Europe and Asia After the relevant Lehman
entities filed for bankruptcy protection in September 2008,
certain regulators in Europe and Asia commenced
investigations into the conduct of financial institutions
involved in such distribution, including Citigroup entities
Some of those regulatory investigations have resulted in
adverse findings against Citigroup entities Some purchasers
of the Notes have filed civil actions or otherwise complained
about the sales process Citigroup has resolved the vast
majonty of such actions or complaints either on an individual
basis or through settlement offers, made without admission of
lLiabihty, to all ehgible purchasers of Notes distributed by
Citigroup 1n certain countries

In Belgium, criminal charges were brought aganst a
Citigroup subsidiary (CBB} and three current or former
employees On December 1, 2010, the court acquitted all
defendants of fraud and anti-money laundering charges but
convicted all defendants under the Prospectus Act, and
convicted CBB under Fair Trade Practices legislauon CBB
was fined 165,000 Euro and was ordered to compensate 63
non-settling claimants for the par value of their Notes (2 4
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million Euro in the aggregate), net of any recovery they
recerve 1n the Lehman bankruptcies Both CBB and the Public
Prosecutor have appealed the judgment The appellate court
has indicated that it will render 1ts decision on April 2, 2012

Lehman Brothers Bankruptcy Proceedings

On March 18, 2011, Citigroup and Related Parties were
named as defendants in an adversary proceeding captioned
LEHMAN BROTHERS INC v CITIBANK,NA ,ET AL In
the complaint, which asserts claims under federal bankruptcy
and state law, the Securities [nvestor Protection Act Trustee
alleges that a $1 billion cash deposit Lehman Brothers [nc
(LBI) placed with Citibank prior to the commencement of
liquidation proceedings should be returned to the bankruptcy
estate, that Citibank's setoff against the $1 billion deposit to
satisfy its claims against LBI should be set aside, and that
approximately $342 million in additional deposits by LBI
currently held by Cibank and 1ts affihates should be returned
to the estate Citigroup has moved to dismiss the adversary
complaint Additional infermation relating to this adversary
proceeding 1s publicly available in court filings under the
docket number 11-01681 (Bankr SDNY ) (Peck, J)
Addiional information relating to the LBI liqudaton
proceeding, captioned IN RE LEHMAN BROTHERS [NC , 15
pubhicly available in court filings under the docket number 08-
01420 (Bankr SDNY ){Peck, J)

On February 8, 2012, Citigroup and Related Parties were
named as defendants in an adversary proceeding captioned
LEHMAN BROTHERS HOLDINGS INC v CITIBANK,

N A, ET AL The proceeding principally concerns proofs of
claim Ciigroup entities have filed against Lehman Brothers
Holdings Inc (LBHI) and its affiliates, in which Citigroup
entities have claimed they are owed more than $2 6 billion
under derivatives contracts, loan documents, and clearing
agreements, among other arrangements Citigroup has further
asserted a night to offset approximately $2 3 bifhon of these
claims against $2 billion deposited by LBHI with Citibank,

N A in June 2008, as well as certain other LBHI deposits and
other payables owed by the Ciugroup entities

The complaint asserts claims under state and federal law
to recover the $2 billion deposit and obtain a declaration that 1t
may not be used to offsel any Citigroup entities’ claims, to
avoid a $500 mullion transfer and an amendment to a
guarantee in favor of Citigroup, and for other rehef The
complaint also raises objections to proofs of claim filed by
Citigroup entities against LBHI and 1ts affibates The claim
objections seek to reduce or avoid approximately $2 billion 1n
claims relating to terminated derivatives contracts and to
disallow all claims against LBHI to the extent they seek to
recover agamst the disputed deposit or guarantee Additional
information relaung to this adversary proceeding 1s publicly
avatlable 1n court filings under the docket number 12-01044
(Bankr SDNY ) (Peck,))

Additional information relating to the Chapter 1
bankrupicy proceedings of LBHI and its subsidianes,
captioned IN RE LEHMAN BROTHERS HOLDINGS INC,
1s publicly avatlable in court filings under the docket number
08-13555(Bankr SDN Y ) (Peck,J)

On September 15, 2008, LBHI subsidiary Lehman
Brothers International (Europe) (LBIE) entered admimstration
under English law Since that ime, Citigroup and Related
Parties have held as custodians approximately $2 bilhon of
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propnictary assets and cash of LBIE During the course of
LBIE's admimstration, Citigroup and Related Parties asserted
a contractual nght to retain the proprietary assets and cash as
security for amounts owed to Citigroup and Related Parties by
LBIE and 1ts affiliates (including LBHI and LBI), a night that
the administrators for LBIE disputed On June 28, 2011,
Cingroup and Related Parties entered into a settlement
agreement with LBIE reselving the parties’ disputes with
respect to the LBIE proprietary assets and cash held by
Ciugroup and Related Parties as custodians Under the terms
of the settlement, Citigroup and Related Parties have
undertaken the return of LBIE’s proprietary assets and cash
and released all claims 1n respect of those assets and cash in
exchange for releases, the payment of fees and preservation of
certain claims asserted by Citigroup and Related Parties 1n
LBIE’s insolvency proceeding in England The settlement
does not affect the deposits, claims or setoff nghts at 1ssue in
the disputes with LBI and LBHI described above Additional
information relating to the admimistration of LBIE 15 available
al www pwc co uk/eng/issues/lehman_updates html

Terra Firma Linganion

In December 2009, plaint:ffs, general partners of two related
private equity funds, filed a complaint in New York state
court, subsequently removed to the Southern Disinct of New
York, aganst certain Citigroup affiliates Plaintiffs allege that
during the May 2007 auction of the music company EMI,
Citigroup, as advisor to EMI and as a potential lender to
plaintiffs’ acquisition vehicle Maltby, fraudulently or
neghgently orally misrepresented the intentions of another
potennial bidder regarding the auction Plainuffs alleged that,
but for the oral misrepresentations, Maltby would not have
acquired EMI for approximately 4 2 billion Briush pounds
Plaintiffs further alleged that, following the acquisition of
EMI, certawn Citigroup entities tortously mterfered with
plant: ffs’ business relationship with EMI Plaintiffs sought
billions of dollars 1n damages On September 15, 2010, the
district court 1ssued an order granting 1n part and denying in
part Citigroup’s motion for summary judgment Plantiffs’
claims for negligent misrepresentation and tortious
nterference were dismissed On October 18, 2010, ajury nal
commenced on plaintiffs’ remaining claims for fraudulent
misrepresentation and fraudulent concealment The court
dismissed the fraudulent concealment claim before sending the
case to the jury On November 4, 2010, the jury retumed a
verdict on the fraudulent misrepresentation claim 1n favor of
Cuigroup Judgment dismissing the complaint was entered on
December 9, 2010 Plaintiffs have appealed the judgment as to
the negligent misrepresentation claim, the fraudulent
concealment claim and the fraudulent misrepresentation claim
Additional information relating to this action 1s publicly
available in court filings under the docket numbers 09 Civ
10459 (SD N Y ) (Rakoff, ] yand £1-0126 (2d Cir),

Interbank Offered Rates-Related Litigation and Other
Matters

Government agencies in the U S, including the Department of
Justice, the Commodity Futures Trading Commission and the
Secunities and Exchange Commuission, as well as agencies in
other junsdictions, including the European Commission, the

U K Financial Services Authority, the Japanese Financial
Services Agency (JFSA}, the Canadian Competition Bureau

CITIBANK N A 2010-2011 FINANCIALS




and the Swiss Competition Commuission, are conducting
investigations or making inquiries regarding submissions
made by panel banks to bodies that publish various interbank
offered rates As members of a number of such panels,
Cingroup subsidiaries have received requests for information
and documents Citigroup 1s cooperating with the
investigations and inquiries and 1s responding to the requests

On December 16, 2011, the JFSA took administrative
action against Citigroup Global Markets Japan Inc (CGMJ)
for, among other things, certain communications made by two
CGM] traders about the Euroyen Tokyo interbank offered rate
(TIBOR) and the yen London interbank offered rate (LIBOR)
The JFSA 1ssued a business imprevement order and suspended
CGMI's trading i derivatives related to yen LIBOR and
Euroyen and yen TIBOR from January 10 to January 23,
2012 On the same day, the JFSA also took admimstrauve
action against Citibank Japan Ltd (CJL) for conduct ansing
out of CJL's retai1l business and also noted that the
communications made by the CGMJ traders to employees of
CIL about Euroyen TIBOR had not been properly reported to
CJIL’s management team The inquines by government
agencies 1nto various interbank offered rates are ongoing

Additionally, beginming 1n Apnl 2011, a number of
purported class actions and other private civil suits were filed
In various courts against banks that served on the LIBOR
panel and their affiliates, including certain Citigroup
subsidianies The actions, which assert various federal and
state law claims relating to the setting of LIBOR, have been
consolidated 1nto a multidistrict litigation proceeding before
Judge Buchwald in the Southern District of New York
Additional information relating to these actions 1s publicly
available in court filings under docket number 1 11-md-2262
(SDNY )(Buchwald, J )

KIKOs
Several local banks in Korea, including a Citigroup subsidiary
(CKI), entered into foreign exchange derivative transactions
with small and medium-size export businesses (SMEs) to
enable the SMEs to hedge therr currency nsk The denvatives
had *knock-in, knock-out” features Following the devaluation
of the Korean won in 2008, many of these SMEs incurred
significant losses on the dervative transactions and filed civil
lawsuits against the banks, including CKI The claims
generally allege that the products were not suitable and that
the nisk disclosure was inadequate As of December 31, 2011,
there were 83 civil lawsuits filed by SMEs agamnst CK1 To
date, 79 decisions have been rendered at the district court
level, and CKI has prevailed in 63 of those decistons In the
other 16 decisions, plaintiffs were awarded only a portion of
the damages sought The damage awards total in the aggregate
approximately $19 5 million CKI 1s appealing the 16 adverse
decisions A significant number of plaintiffs that had decisions
rendered against them are also filing appeals, including
plamntiffs that were awarded less than all of the damages they
sought In the single plainuff’s appeal that has been decided,
the decision was in CKI’s favor

Korean prosecutors undertook a criminal investigation of
local banks, including CKl, based on allegations of fraud in
the sale of these products In July 2011 prosecutors decided
not to proceed with indictments That decision has been
affirmed on appeal
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Tribune Company Bankruptcy

Certain Citigroup affiliates have been named as defendants in
adversary proceedings related to the Chapter 11 cases of
Trbune Company (Tribune) pending 1n the United States
Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware The
complaints, which anse out of the approximate $11 bilhion
leveraged buyout (LBO) of Tribune 1n 2007, were stayed by
court order pending a confirmation hearing on competing
plans of reorgamization On Qctober 31, 201 1, the bankruptcy
court denied confirmation of both the competing plans A third
amended plan of reorgamization was then proposed, and
confirmation proceedings are expected to take place in 2012
Additional information relating to these actions 15 publicly
available in court filings under the lead docket number 08-
13141 (Bankr D Del) (Carey, J) Certain Citigroup affiliates
also have been named as defendants 1n acttons brought by
Tribune creditors alleging state law constructive fraudulent
conveyance claims relating to the Tribune LBO These actions
have been stayed pending confirmation of a plan of
reorganization Additional information relating to these
actions 15 publicly available 1n court filings under the docket
number |1 MD 02296 (SD N Y ) (Holwell, I )

Interchange Fees Litigation
Beginming 1n 2005, several putative class actions were filed
aganst Citigroup and Related Parties, together with Visa,
MasterCard and other banks and their affibates, 1n various
federal district courts These actions were consolidated with
other related cases in the Eastern District of New York and
captioned IN RE PAYMENT CARD INTERCHANGE FEE
AND MERCHANT DISCOUNT ANTITRUST
LITIGATION The plaintiffs in the consolidated class act:on
are merchants that accept Visa- and MasterCard-branded
payment cards, as well as membership associations that claim
to represent certain groups of merchants The pending
complaint alleges, among other things, that defendants have
engaged 1n conspiracies to set the price of interchange and
merchant discount fees on credit and debit card transactions n
violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act The complaint also
alleges additional Sherman Act and Califormia law violations,
including alleged unlawful maintenance of monopoly power
and alleged unlawful contracts in restraint of trade pertaining
to various Visa and MasterCard rules governing merchant
conduct (including rules allegedly affecting merchants’ ability,
at the point of sale, to surcharge payment card transactions or
steer customers to particular payment cards) 1n addition,
supplemental complaints filed against defendants 1n the class
action allege that Visa’s and MasterCard’s respective initial
public offerings were anticompetitive and violated Section 7
of the Clayton Act, and that MasterCard’s iminal public
offering constituted a fraudulent conveyance

Plamntiffs seek injunctive relief as well as joint and several
hability for treble their damages, including all interchange fees
paid to all Visa and MasterCard members with respect to Visa
and MasterCard transactions 1n the U S since at least January
1, 2004 Certain publicly available documents estimate that
Visa- and MasterCard-branded cards generated approximately
$40 billion in interchange fees industry wide 1n 2009
Defendants dispute that the manner in which interchange and
merchant discount fees are set, or the rules governing
merchant conduct, are anticompetitive Fact and expert
discovery has closed Defendants’ motions to dismiss the
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pending class action complaint and the supplemental
complaints are pending Also pending are plaintiffs’ motion to
certify nationwide classes consisting of all U S merchants that
accept Visa- and MasterCard-branded payment cards and
maotions by both plaintiffs and defendants for summary
Judgment The parties have been engaged in mediation for
several years, including recent settlement conferences held at
the direction of the court Additional information relating to
these consolidated actions 1s publicly available in court filings
under the docket number MDL 05-1720(EDN Y )

{Gleeson, J )

Parmalat Litigation and Related Matters

On July 29, 2004, Dr Ennco Bond, the Extraordinary
Commussioner appointed under Itahan law to oversee the
administration of various Parmalat companies, filed a
complaint tn New Jersey state court against Citgroup and
Related Parties alleging, among other things, that the
defendants “facilitated” a number of frauds by Parmalat
insiders On October 20, 2008, following tnal, a jury rendered
a verdict 1n Citigroup’s favor on Parmalat’s claims and in
favor of Crtibank on three counterclaims The court entered
Judgment for Citibank on the counterclaims in the amount of
$431 milhion, which 15 accruing interest On December 22,
2011, the intermedate appellate court unammously affirmed
the judgment On January 23, 2012, Bondi petitioned the New
Jersey Supreme Court to review the decisions of the lower
courts Additional information concerning this matter 1s
publicly available 1n court filings under docket number
A-2654-08T2 (NJ Sup Ct)

In addion, prosecutors 1n Parma and Milan, [taly, have
commenced criminal proceedings against certain current and
former Citigroup employees (along with numerous other
investment banks and certain of their current and former
employees, as well as former Parmalat officers and
accountants) In the event of an adverse judgment against the
individuals 1n questton, 1t 15 posstble that the authonties could
seek administranve remedies against Citigroup On April 18,
2011, the Milan cnminal court acquitted the sale Citigroup
defendant of market-rigging charges The Milan prosecutors
have appealed part of that judgment and seek administrative
remedies agamnst Citigroup, which may include disgorgement
of 70 million Euro and a fine of 900,000 Euro Additionally,
Bonds has purported to file a civil complaint against Citigroup
in the context of the Parma criminal proceedings, seeking 14
billion Euro in damages In January 2011, certain Parmalat
mnstitutional investors filed a civil complaint seeking damages
of approximately 130 million Eure against Citigroup and other
financial institutions

Companhia Industrial de Instrumentos de Precasdo
Litigation

A commercial customer, Companhia Industnal de
Instrumentos de Precisde (CIIP), filed a lawsuit against
Citibank, N A, Brazil branch (Cit Brazil), in 1992, alleging
damages ansing from an unsuccessful attempt by Citi Brazil in
1975 10 declare CLIP bankrupt afier CIIP defaulted on a loan
owed 1o Cit1 Brazil The trial court ruled in favor of CIIP and
awarded damages that Citigroup had estimated at more than
$330 mullon after taking into account interest, currency
adjustments, and current exchange rates Citi Brazil lost its
appeal but filed a special appeal to the Superior Tnbunal of
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Justice (STJ), the highest appellate court for federal law n
Brazil The 4th Section of the STJ ruled 3-2 i1n favor of Citi 1n
November 2008 CIIP appealed the decision to the Special
Court of the STJ on procedural grounds In December 2009,
the Special Court of the STJ decided 9-0 in favor of CIIP on
the procedural 1ssue, overturning the 3-2 merits decision
favor of Cit1 Cit1 Brazil filed a motion for clarification with
the Special Court of the STJ, and on May 4, 2011, the Special
Court ruled 5-3 in favor of Citt Brazil This ruling has the
effect of reinstating the 3-2 decision of the 4th Section of the
STI in favor of Cit1 Brazil rendered in November 2008, which
had reversed the adverse judgment of the trial court The only
procedural recourse remaining to CIIP would be to file a
constitutional claim with the Supreme Court of Brazil

Allied Irish Bank Litigation

In 2003, Allied Irish Bank (AIB) filed a complaint in the
Southern District of New York seeking to hold Citibank and
Bank of America, former prime brokers for AIB’s subsidiary
Allfirst Bank (Allfirst), liable for losses incurred by Allfirst as
a result of fraudulent and ficutious forelgn currency trades
entered into by one of Allfirst’s traders AIB seeks
compensatory damages of approximately $500 million, plus
punitive damages, from Citibank and Bank of America
collecuively In 2006, the Court granted in part and denied in
part defendants’ motion to dismiss In 2009, AIB filed an
amended complaint 1n 2011, the parties completed fact
discovery Additional information concerning this matter 1s
publicly available in court filings under docket number

03 Civ 3748 (SDN Y ) (Batts, J)

Settlement Payments

Payments required n settlement agreements described above

have been made or are covered by existing litigation accruals
* [ ] *

Additional matters asserting claims similar to those described

above may be filed in the future

CITIBANK N A 2010-2011 FINANCIALS




29 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Investment in Akbank Impairment Charge
On March 23, 2012, Ciigroup announced that as part of Citi’s
ongoing capital planning efforts and n hight of general
improvement in equity capital markets globally, Citibank
plans to reduce its ownership interest in Akbank T A S
(Akbank) to below 10%, subject to appropriate market
conditions and required approvals Ciubank currently holds a
20% equity interest in Akbank, which 1t purchased 1n January
2007 The current carrying value of the equity method
investment 15 $3 4 bilhion, 1n addition, hedging costs and
translation losses reflected in other comprehensive income
{OCl), a component of equity, total approximately $1 0
billion

As a result of this deciston, 1n the first quarter of 2012
Citibank expects to record an impairment charge related to 1ts
total investment 1n Akbank amounting to approximately $1 1
biilion pre-tax ($0 7 billion after-tax) This impairment charge
1s primarily driven by the recogmition of all respective net
mvestment foreign currency hedging and translation losses
previously reflected in OCI as well as a reduction in carrying
value of the total investment to reflect closing market price as
of March 23, 2012

Sale of Shanghai Pudong Development Bank

On March 18, 2012, Citi announced that 1t has sold 1ts 2 71%
equity stake 1n Shanghai Pudong Development Bank via block
trade to instituttonal investors  Total proceeds from the
transaction are expected to be $668 million at the current
exchange rate, resulting 1n an after-tax gain of approximately
$349 milhion 1n the first quarter of 2012

Agreement in Principle with Certain U S. Federal
Government Agencies and State Attorneys General

On February 9, 2012, Citigroup announced that 1t had reached
an agreement in principle with the United States and state
attorneys general regarding the settlement of a number of
related investigations into residential loan servicing and
origination practices, as well as the resolution of related
mortgage litigation See Note 28 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements
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